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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION  

ITEM 1.    FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

          

 
CENTURYLINK, INC.  

 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  

(UNAUDITED)  

     

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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Three Months Ended  

March 31,   
     2012   2011   

     
(Dollars in millions except per share amounts 

and shares in thousands)    
OPERATING REVENUES    $ 4,610     1,696   
            

OPERATING EXPENSES                
Cost of services and products (exclusive of 

depreciation and amortization)      1,877     626   
Selling, general and administrative      871     237   
Depreciation and amortization      1,208     369   

            

Total operating expenses      3,956     1,232   
            

OPERATING INCOME      654     464   
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)                

Interest expense      (343 )   (128 ) 
Other income      20     3   

            

Total other income (expense)      (323 )   (125 ) 
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE      331     339   

Income tax expense      131     128   
            

NET INCOME    $ 200     211   
    

  

  

  

  

EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE                
BASIC    $ .32     .69   
DILUTED    $ .32     .69   

DIVIDENDS DECLARED PER COMMON 
SHARE    $ .725     .725   

WEIGHTED AVERAGE COMMON SHARES 
OUTSTANDING                
BASIC      618,208     303,832   
DILUTED      620,350     304,479   
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CENTURYLINK, INC.  

 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  

(UNAUDITED)  

     

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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Three Months  

Ended March 31,   
     2012   2011   
     (Dollars in millions)    
NET INCOME    $ 200     211   
            

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME:                
Items related to employee benefit plans:                

Change in net actuarial loss, net of $(3) and $(1) tax      5     2   
Auction rate securities marked to market, net of $(2) and $—

tax      3     —  
Foreign currency translation adjustment and other      4     —  

            

Other comprehensive income      12     2   
            

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME    $ 212     213   
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CENTURYLINK, INC.  

 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  

(UNAUDITED)  

     

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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March 31,  

2012   
December 31,  

2011   

     
(Dollars in millions  

and shares in thousands)    
ASSETS                

CURRENT ASSETS                
Cash and cash equivalents    $ 1,530     128   
Accounts receivable, less allowance of $158 and $145      1,879     1,977   
Deferred income taxes, net      992     1,019   
Other      481     393   

            

Total current assets      4,882     3,517   
NET PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT                

Property, plant and equipment      30,188     29,595   
Accumulated depreciation      (10,893 )   (10,141 ) 

            

Net property, plant and equipment      19,295     19,454   
GOODWILL AND OTHER ASSETS                

Goodwill      21,726     21,726   
Customer relationships, net      7,937     8,239   
Other intangible assets, net      2,161     2,239   
Other      841     873   

            

Total goodwill and other assets      32,665     33,077   
            

TOTAL ASSETS    $ 56,842     56,048   
    

  

  

  

  

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY                

CURRENT LIABILITIES                
Current maturities of long-term debt    $ 2,200     480   
Accounts payable      1,026     1,400   
Accrued expenses and other liabilities                

Salaries and benefits      692     633   
Income and other taxes      425     383   
Interest      416     293   
Other      279     255   

Advance billings and customer deposits      605     573   
            

Total current liabilities      5,643     4,017   
LONG-TERM DEBT      20,667     21,356   
DEFERRED CREDITS AND OTHER LIABILITIES                

Benefit plan obligations, net      4,793     4,855   
Deferred income taxes, net      3,916     3,804   
Other      1,185     1,189   

            

Total deferred credits and other liabilities      9,894     9,848   
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 10)                
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY                

Preferred stock—non-redeemable, $25.00 par value, authorized 2,000 shares, issued 
and outstanding 9 and 9 shares      —    —  

Common stock, $1.00 par value, authorized 800,000 shares, issued and outstanding 
621,276 and 618,514 shares      621     619   

Additional paid-in capital      18,950     18,901   
Accumulated other comprehensive loss      (1,000 )   (1,012 ) 
Retained earnings      2,067     2,319   

            

Total stockholders' equity      20,638     20,827   
    

  
  

  
  

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY    $ 56,842     56,048   
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CENTURYLINK, INC.  

 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

(UNAUDITED)  

     

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  

6  

     
Three Months  

Ended March 31,   
     2012   2011   
     (Dollars in millions)    
OPERATING ACTIVITIES                

Net income    $ 200     211   
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided 

by operating activities:                
Depreciation and amortization      1,208     369   
Deferred income taxes      115     40   
Provision for uncollectible accounts      56     20   
Long-term debt (premium) discount amortization      (28 )   —  
Changes in current assets and current liabilities:                

Accounts receivable      18     25   
Accounts payable      (198 )   (1 ) 
Accrued income and other taxes      80     96   
Other current assets and other current liabilities, net      156     32   

Retirement benefits      (75 )   (110 ) 
Changes in other noncurrent assets and liabilities      47     (15 ) 
Other, net      4     3   

            

Net cash provided by operating activities      1,583     670   
    

  
  

  
  

INVESTING ACTIVITIES                
Payments for property, plant and equipment and capitalized 

software      (678 )   (211 ) 
Other, net      15     3   

            

Net cash used in investing activities      (663 )   (208 ) 
            

FINANCING ACTIVITIES                
Net proceeds from issuance of long-term debt      2,032     —  
Payments of long-term debt      (849 )   (3 ) 
Net payments on credit facility      (277 )   (145 ) 
Dividends paid      (452 )   (222 ) 
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock      35     19   
Repurchase of common stock      (11 )   (15 ) 
Other, net      3     1   

            

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities      481     (365 ) 
            

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents      1     —  
    

  
  

  
  

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents      1,402     97   
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period      128     173   
            

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period    $ 1,530     270   
    

  

  

  

  

Supplemental cash flow information:                
Income taxes paid, net    $ (1 )   (5 ) 
Interest paid (net of capitalized interest of $9 and $3)      (244 )   (70 ) 
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CENTURYLINK, INC.  

 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY  

(UNAUDITED)  

     

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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Three Months Ended  

March 31,   
     2012   2011   
     (Dollars in millions)    
COMMON STOCK (represents dollars and shares)                

Balance at beginning of period    $ 619     305   
Issuance of common stock through dividend reinvestment, 

incentive and benefit plans      2     1   
            

Balance at end of period      621     306   
            

ADDITIONAL PAID -IN CAPITAL                
Balance at beginning of period      18,901     6,181   
Issuance of common stock through dividend reinvestment, 

incentive and benefit plans      33     18   
Shares withheld to satisfy tax withholdings      (11 )   (15 ) 
Share-based compensation and other, net      27     16   

            

Balance at end of period      18,950     6,200   
    

  
  

  
  

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)                
Balance at beginning of period      (1,012 )   (141 ) 
Other comprehensive income      12     2   

    
  
  

  
  

Balance at end of period      (1,000 )   (139 ) 
            

RETAINED EARNINGS                
Balance at beginning of period      2,319     3,302   
Net income      200     211   
Dividends declared      (452 )   (222 ) 

            

Balance at end of period      2,067     3,291   
    

  
  

  
  

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY    $ 20,638     9,658   
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CENTURYLINK, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
(UNAUDITED)  

         Unless the context requires otherwise, references in this report to "CenturyLink," "we," "us" and "our" refer to CenturyLink, Inc. and its 
consolidated subsidiaries, including SAVVIS, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries (referred to as "Savvis") for periods on or after July 15, 2011 
and Qwest Communications International Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries (referred to as "Qwest") for periods on or after April 1, 2011.  

(1)   Basis of Presentation  

        We are an integrated communications company engaged primarily in providing an array of communications services to our residential, 
business, governmental and wholesale customers. Our communications services include local and long-distance, network access, private line 
(including special access), public access, broadband, data, managed hosting (including cloud hosting), colocation, wireless and video services. In 
certain local and regional markets, we also provide local access and fiber transport services to competitive local exchange carriers and security 
monitoring.  

        The accompanying consolidated financial statements include our accounts and the accounts of our subsidiaries over which we exercise 
control. These subsidiaries include Savvis, since we acquired it on July 15, 2011, and Qwest, since we acquired it on April 1, 2011. For more 
information on these acquisitions, see Note 2—Acquisitions. All intercompany amounts and transactions with our consolidated subsidiaries have 
been eliminated.  

        Our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2011, which was derived from our audited financial statements, and our unaudited 
interim consolidated financial statements provided herein have been prepared in accordance with the instructions for Form 10-Q. Certain 
information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America have been condensed or omitted pursuant to rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, or SEC; however, in our opinion, the disclosures made are adequate to make the information presented not misleading. We believe 
that these consolidated financial statements include all normal recurring adjustments necessary to fairly present the results for the interim 
periods. The results of operations for the first three months of the year are not indicative of the results of operations that might be expected for 
the entire year. These consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and the 
notes thereto included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011.  

        To simplify the overall presentation of our financial statements, we report immaterial amounts attributable to noncontrolling interests in 
certain of our subsidiaries as follows: (i) income attributable to noncontrolling interests in other income (expense), (ii) equity attributable to 
noncontrolling interests in additional paid-in capital and (iii) cash flows attributable to noncontrolling interests in other financing activities.  

        During the second quarter of 2011, we changed the definitions we use to classify expenses as cost of services and products and selling, 
general and administrative, and as a result, we reclassified previously reported amounts to conform to the current presentation. These revisions 
resulted in the reclassification of $31 million from selling, general and administrative to cost of services and products for the three months ended 
March 31, 2011. Our current definitions are as follows:  

•  Cost of services and products (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) are expenses incurred in providing products and 
services to our customers. These expenses include: employee-related expenses directly attributable to operating and maintaining 
our network (such as salaries, wages,  

8  
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benefits and professional fees); facilities expenses (which are third-party telecommunications expenses we incur for using other 
carriers' networks to provide services to our customers); rents and utilities expenses; equipment sales expenses (such as data 
integration and modem expenses); costs for universal service funds ("USF") (which are federal and state funds that are established 
to promote the availability of telecommunications services to all consumers at reasonable and affordable rates, among other 
things, and to which we are often required to contribute); and other expenses directly related to our network and hosting 
operations.  

•  Selling, general and administrative expenses are expenses incurred in selling products and services to our customers, corporate 
overhead and other operating expenses. These expenses include: employee-related expenses (such as salaries, wages, internal 
commissions, benefits and professional fees) directly attributable to selling products or services and employee-related expenses 
for administrative functions; marketing and advertising; taxes (such as property and other taxes) and fees; external commissions; 
bad debt expense; and other expenses.  

        These expense classifications may not be comparable to those of other companies.  

        We also have reclassified certain other prior period amounts to conform to the current period presentation, including the categorization of 
our revenues and our segment reporting. For more information on our segments, see Note 9—Segment Information. These changes had no 
impact on total revenues, total operating expenses or net income for any period.  

        Effective January 1, 2012, we changed our rates of capitalized labor as we transitioned certain of Qwest's legacy systems to our historical 
company systems. This transition resulted in an estimated $15 million to $20 million increase in the amount of labor capitalized as an asset 
compared to the amount that would have been capitalized if Qwest had labor related to the same projects with its legacy systems and a 
corresponding estimated $15 million to $20 million decrease in operating expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2012. This change is 
expected to result in an estimated operating expense reduction of approximately $60 million to $80 million for the year ending December 31, 
2012. The reduction in expenses described above, net of tax, increased net income approximately $9 million to $12 million, or $0.01 to $0.02 per 
basic and diluted common share, for the three months ended March 31, 2012 and is expected to increase net income by approximately 
$36 million to $48 million, or $0.06 to $0.08 per basic and diluted common share, for the year ending December 31, 2012.  

        Effective January 1, 2012, we changed our estimates of the economic lives and net salvage value for certain telecommunications equipment. 
These changes resulted in additional depreciation expense of approximately $10 million during the first quarter of 2012 and are expected to 
result in additional depreciation expense of approximately $40 million for the year ending December 31, 2012. This additional depreciation, net 
of tax, reduced net income by approximately $6 million, or $0.01 per basic and diluted common share, for the three months ended March 31, 
2012 and is expected to reduce net income by approximately $24 million, or approximately $0.04 per basic and diluted common share, for the 
year ending December 31, 2012.  

(2)   Acquisitions  

Acquisition of Savvis  

        On July 15, 2011, we acquired all of the outstanding common stock of Savvis, a provider of cloud hosting, managed hosting, colocation and 
network services in domestic and foreign markets. We believe this acquisition enhances our ability to provide information technology services to 
our existing business customers and strengthens our opportunities to attract new business customers in the future. Each share of Savvis common 
stock outstanding immediately prior to the acquisition converted into the right  

9  
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to receive $30 per share in cash and 0.2479 shares of CenturyLink common stock. The aggregate consideration of $2.382 billion was based on:  

•  cash payments of $1.732 billion;  
 

•  the 14.313 million shares of CenturyLink common stock issued to consummate the acquisition;  
 

•  the closing stock price of CenturyLink common stock at July 14, 2011 of $38.54; and  
 

•  the estimated net value of the pre-combination portion of certain share-based compensation awards assumed by CenturyLink of 
$98 million, of which $33 million was paid in cash.  

        Upon completing the acquisition, we also paid $547 million to retire certain pre-existing Savvis debt and accrued interest, and paid related 
transaction expenses totaling $15 million. The cash payments required on or about the closing date were funded using existing cash balances, 
which included the net proceeds from our June 2011 issuance of senior notes with an aggregate principal amount of $2.0 billion.  

        We have recognized the assets and liabilities of Savvis based on our preliminary estimates of their acquisition date fair values. The 
determination of the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed (and the related determination of estimated lives of depreciable 
tangible and identifiable intangible assets) requires significant judgment. As such, we have not completed our valuation analysis and calculations 
in sufficient detail necessary to arrive at the final estimates of the fair value of Savvis' assets acquired and liabilities assumed, along with the 
related allocations to goodwill and intangible assets. The fair values of certain tangible assets, intangible assets, contingent liabilities and residual 
goodwill are the most significant areas not yet finalized and therefore are subject to change. We expect to complete our final fair value 
determinations no later than the second quarter of 2012. Our final fair value determinations may be significantly different than those reflected in 
our consolidated financial statements at March 31, 2012.  

        Based on our preliminary estimate, the aggregate consideration exceeds the aggregate estimated fair value of the assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed by $1.343 billion, which we have recognized as goodwill. This goodwill is attributable to strategic benefits, including 
enhanced financial and operational scale and product and market diversification that we expect to realize. None of the goodwill associated with 
this acquisition is deductible for income tax purposes.  

        The following is our preliminary assignment of the aggregate consideration:  

10  

     July 15, 2011   
     (Dollars in millions)    
Cash, accounts receivable and other current assets    $ 214   
Property, plant and equipment      1,377   
Identifiable intangible assets:          

Customer relationships      739   
Other      51   

Other noncurrent assets      27   
Current liabilities, excluding current maturities of long-

term debt      (129 ) 
Current maturities of long-term debt      (38 ) 
Long-term debt      (840 ) 
Deferred credits and other liabilities      (362 ) 
Goodwill      1,343   
        

Aggregate consideration    $ 2,382   
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        During the first quarter of 2012, we retrospectively adjusted our previously reported preliminary assignment of the aggregate Savvis 
consideration for changes to our original estimates of the fair value of certain customer relationships, capital leases, leasehold improvements and 
deferred tax liabilities at the acquisition date. These changes are the result of additional information obtained since the filing of our Form 10-K 
for the year ended December 31, 2011. Our July 15, 2011, customer relationships decreased $55 million, our property, plant and equipment 
increased $42 million and our deferred credits and other liabilities decreased by $26 million due to these revisions in our estimates. The 
adjustment to intangible assets and property, plant and equipment valuations and the resulting application of depreciation and amortization 
expense did not result in a material change to previously reported depreciation and amortization expense. Goodwill decreased by $14 million as 
an offset to the above mentioned changes.  

Acquisition of Qwest  

        On April 1, 2011, we acquired all of the outstanding common stock of Qwest, a provider of data, Internet, video and voice services 
nationwide and globally. We entered into this acquisition, among other things, to realize certain strategic benefits, including enhanced financial 
and operational scale, market diversification and leveraged combined networks. As of the acquisition date, Qwest served approximately 
9.0 million access lines and approximately 3.0 million broadband subscribers across 14 states. Each share of Qwest common stock outstanding 
immediately prior to the acquisition converted into the right to receive 0.1664 shares of CenturyLink common stock, with cash paid in lieu of 
fractional shares. The aggregate consideration of $12.273 billion was based on:  

•  the 294 million shares of CenturyLink common stock issued to consummate the acquisition;  
 

•  the closing stock price of CenturyLink common stock at March 31, 2011 of $41.55;  
 

•  the estimated net value of the pre-combination portion of share-based compensation awards assumed by CenturyLink of 
$52 million (excluding the value of restricted stock included in the number of issued shares specified above); and  
 

•  cash paid in lieu of the issuance of fractional shares of $5 million.  

        We assumed approximately $12.7 billion of long-term debt in connection with our acquisition of Qwest.  

        In the first quarter of 2012, we completed our valuation of the fair value of Qwest's assets acquired and liabilities assumed, along with the 
related allocations to goodwill and intangible assets. The aggregate consideration exceeded the aggregate estimated fair value of the assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed by $10.123 billion, which we have recognized as goodwill. This goodwill is attributable to strategic benefits, 
including enhanced financial and operational scale, market diversification and leveraged combined networks that we expect to realize. None of 
the goodwill associated with this acquisition is deductible for income tax purposes.  

11  
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        The following is our assignment of the aggregate consideration:  

        During the first quarter 2012, we retrospectively adjusted our previously reported preliminary assignment of the aggregate Qwest 
consideration for changes to our original estimates of the fair value of certain items at the acquisition date. These changes are the result of 
additional information obtained since the filing of our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011. Identifiable intangible assets decreased 
due to a $67 million decrease in our customer relationships valuation. Property, plant and equipment decreased by $25 million primarily from a 
revision to our valuation of our buildings. Deferred credits and other liabilities decreased by $63 million primarily from changes in tax liabilities 
and a revision to one of our lease valuations. Goodwill increased by $17 million as an offset to the above mentioned changes. The depreciation 
and amortization expense impact of the adjustments to intangible assets and property, plant and equipment valuations did not result in a material 
change to previously reported amounts.  

        On the acquisition date, we assumed several of the contingencies of Qwest. For more information on our contingencies, see Note 10—
Commitments and Contingencies.  

References to Acquired Businesses  

        In the discussion that follows, we refer to the business that we operated prior to the Qwest acquisition as "Legacy CenturyLink" and refer to 
the incremental business activities that we now operate as a result of the Savvis acquisition and the Qwest acquisition as "Legacy Savvis" and 
"Legacy Qwest", respectively.  

Combined Pro Forma Operating Results  

        For the three months ended March 31, 2012, CenturyLink's results of operations included operating revenues (net of intercompany 
eliminations) attributable to Qwest and Savvis of $2.7 billion  
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     April 1, 2011   
     (Dollars in millions)    
Cash, accounts receivable and other current assets*    $ 2,121   
Property, plant and equipment      9,529   
Identifiable intangible assets:          

Customer relationships      7,558   
Capitalized software      1,702   
Other      189   

Other noncurrent assets      390   
Current liabilities, excluding current maturities of long-

term debt      (2,426 ) 
Current maturities of long-term debt      (2,422 ) 
Long-term debt      (10,253 ) 
Deferred credits and other liabilities      (4,238 ) 
Goodwill      10,123   
        

Aggregate consideration    $ 12,273   
    

  

  

*  Includes estimated fair value of $1.194 billion for accounts receivable which had gross contractual value of 
$1.274 billion on April 1, 2011. The $80 million difference between the gross contractual value and the estimated 
fair value assigned represents our best estimate as of April 1, 2011 of contractual cash flows that would not be 
collected.  
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and $266 million, respectively. The addition of Qwest and Savvis post-acquisition operations did not contribute significantly to our consolidated 
net income.  

        The following unaudited pro forma financial information for the first quarter of 2011 presents the combined results of CenturyLink as if the 
Qwest and Savvis acquisitions had been consummated as of January 1, 2010.  

        This pro forma information reflects certain adjustments to previously reported historical operating results, consisting of primarily:  

•  decreased operating revenues and expenses due to the elimination of deferred revenues and deferred expenses associated with 
installation activities and capacity leases that were assigned no value at the acquisition date and the elimination of transactions 
among CenturyLink, Qwest and Savvis that are now subject to intercompany elimination;  
 

•  increased amortization expense related to identifiable intangible assets, net of decreased depreciation expense to reflect the fair 
value of property, plant and equipment;  
 

•  decreased recognition of retiree benefit expenses for Qwest due to the elimination of unrecognized actuarial losses;  
 

•  decreased interest expense primarily due to the amortization of an adjustment to reflect the increased fair value of long-term debt 
of Qwest recognized on the acquisition date; and  
 

•  the related income tax effects.  

        The pro forma information does not necessarily reflect the actual results of operations had the Qwest and Savvis acquisitions been 
consummated at January 1, 2010, nor is it necessarily indicative of future operating results. The pro forma information does not adjust for 
integration costs incurred by us, Qwest and Savvis during 2011 (which are further described elsewhere in this report) or integration costs to be 
incurred by us in future periods. In addition, the pro forma information does not give effect to any potential revenue enhancements, cost 
synergies or other operating efficiencies that could result from the acquisitions.  

        For the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2011 we incurred acquisition related expenses, consisting primarily of integration and 
severance related expenses, of $39 million and $35 million, respectively. The total amounts of these expenses are recognized in our costs of 
services and products and selling, general and administrative expenses.  
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Three Months Ended  

March 31,   
     Actual   Pro Forma   
     2012   2011   
     (Dollars in millions)    
Operating revenues    $ 4,610     4,737   
Net income      200     275   
Basic earnings per common share      .32     .45   
Diluted earnings per common share      .32     .44   
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(3)   Goodwill, Customer Relationships and Other Intangible Assets  

        Our goodwill, customer relationships and other intangible assets consisted of the following:  

        Our goodwill was derived from numerous acquisitions where the purchase price exceeded the fair value of the net assets acquired. For more 
information on our recent acquisitions and resulting fair values, see Note 2—Acquisitions. As of March 31, 2012, the net carrying amounts of 
goodwill, customer relationships and other intangible assets included preliminary estimates of $2.074 billion as a result of our acquisition of 
Savvis. We expect to complete the final determination of these estimates and related estimated lives for amortizable intangible assets no later 
than the second quarter of 2012.  

        We attributed our goodwill balances to our segments as follows:  

        In the first quarter of 2012, we announced we were restructuring our operating segments effective April 1, 2012. We believe that changing 
the composition of our segments will result in changes to our attribution of goodwill to our segments. For additional information on the 
announced change in composition of our segments, see Note 9—Segment information.  

        We amortize customer relationships over estimated lives ranging from 10 years to 12.5 years, using either the sum-of-the-years-digits or 
straight-line methods, depending on the type of customer. We amortize capitalized software, which consists primarily of assets obtained from the 
Qwest acquisition, using the straight-line method over estimated lives ranging up to seven years. Approximately $237 million of our capitalized 
software, net, represents costs to develop an integrated billing and customer care system and is being amortized over a 20 year period. We 
amortize tradenames and patent assets predominantly using the sum-of-the-years digits method over an estimated life of four years.  
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March 31,  

2012   
December 31,  

2011   
     (Dollars in millions)    
Goodwill    $ 21,726     21,726   
    

  

  

  

  

Customer relationships, less accumulated 
amortization of $1,639 and $1,337    $ 7,937     8,239   

    

  

  

  

  

Indefinite-life intangible assets      422     418   
Other intangible assets subject to 

amortization                
Capitalized software, less accumulated 

amortization of $553 and $441      1,559     1,622   
Tradenames and patents, less 

accumulated amortization of $90 and 
$73      180     199   

            

Total other intangible assets, net    $ 2,161     2,239   
    

  

  

  

  

     March 31, 2012   
     (Dollars in millions)    
Regional markets    $ 11,799   
Business markets      5,323   
Wholesale markets      3,261   
Savvis operations      1,343   
        

Total goodwill    $ 21,726   
    

  

  



Table of Contents  

        Total amortization expense for intangible assets for the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2011 was $430 million and $54 million, 
respectively. During the three months ended March 31, 2012, our intangible amortization expense included $17 million related to the Savvis 
acquisition and $363 million for the Qwest acquisition.  

(4)   Long-Term Debt and Credit Facilities  

        Long-term debt, including unamortized discounts and premiums, is as follows:  

New Issuances  

        On March 12, 2012, CenturyLink, Inc. issued $650 million aggregate principal amount of 7.65% Senior Notes due 2042 in exchange for net 
proceeds, after deducting underwriting discounts, of approximately $644 million. The notes are unsecured obligations and may be redeemed at 
any time.  
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     Interest Rates   Maturities   
March 31,  

2012   
December 31,  

2011   
               (Dollars in millions)    
CenturyLink, Inc.                          

Senior notes    5.000% - 7.875%     2012 - 2042   $ 6,568     4,518   
Credit facility(1)   2.550% - 4.500%     2017     —    277   

Subsidiaries                          
Qwest                          

Senior notes 
and 
debentures    6.875% - 8.000%     2014 - 2043     5,032     5,832   

Other notes(2)   6.500% - 8.375%     2013 - 2051     5,628     5,628   
Embarq 

Corporation                          
Senior notes    6.738% - 7.995%     2013 - 2036     4,013     4,013   
First mortgage 

bonds    6.875% - 8.770%     2013 - 2025     322     322   
Other    6.750% - 9.000%     2013 - 2019     200     200   

Other subsidiary 
notes                          
First mortgage 

notes    2.000% - 10.000%     2012 - 2018     62     65   
Capital lease and 

other obligations    Various     Various     811     712   
Unamortized 

premiums and 
other, net                231     269   

                      

Total long-term 
debt                22,867     21,836   

Less current 
maturities                (2,200 )   (480 ) 

                      

Long-term debt, 
excluding current 
maturities              $ 20,667     21,356   

              

  

  

  

  

(1)  The information presented here illustrates the interest rate and maturity on our credit facility as amended on April 6, 2012. 
For more information on our amended credit facility, see Note 12—Subsequent Events.  
 

(2)  The $750 million of Qwest Corporation Notes due 2013 are floating rate notes, which rate is re-measured every three 
months. As of the most recent measurement date of March 15, 2012, the rate for these notes was 3.724%, which is not 
included in the range of rates stated above.  
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        On March 12, 2012, CenturyLink, Inc. issued $1.4 billion aggregate principal amount of 5.80% Senior Notes due 2022 in exchange for net 
proceeds, after deducting underwriting discounts, of approximately $1.388 billion. These notes are unsecured obligations and may be redeemed 
at any time.  

Repayments  

        On March 1, 2012, our subsidiary, Qwest Communications International Inc ("QCII"), redeemed $800 million of its 7.50% Notes due 
February 15, 2014, which resulted in an immaterial gain.  

Covenants  

        As of March 31, 2012, we believe we were in compliance with the provisions and covenants of our debt agreements.  

Other  

        See Note 12—Subsequent Events for other recent transactions affecting our long-term debt.  

(5)   Severance and Leased Real Estate  

        Periodically, we have implemented reductions in our workforce and have accrued liabilities for related severance costs. These workforce 
reductions resulted primarily from the progression or completion of our integration plans, increased competitive pressures and reduced workload 
demands due to the loss of access lines.  

        We report severance liabilities within accrued expenses and other liabilities-salaries and benefits in our consolidated balance sheets and 
report severance expenses in cost of services and products and selling, general and administrative expenses in our consolidated statements of 
operations. We have not allocated any severance expense to our regional markets, business markets or wholesale markets segments.  

        In periods prior to our acquisition of Qwest, Qwest had ceased using certain real estate that it was leasing under long-term operating leases. 
As of the April 1, 2011 acquisition date, we recognized liabilities to reflect our estimates of the fair values of the existing lease obligations for 
real estate for which Qwest had ceased using, net of estimated sublease rentals. Our fair value estimates were determined using discounted cash 
flow methods. We recognize expense to reflect accretion of the discounted liabilities and periodically, we adjust the expense when our actual 
experience differs from our initial estimates. We report the current portion of liabilities for ceased-use real estate leases in "accrued expenses and 
other liabilities-other" and report the noncurrent portion in "deferred credits and other liabilities-other" in our consolidated balance sheets. We 
report the related expenses in selling, general and administrative expenses in our consolidated statements of operations.  

        As of March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the current portion of our leased real estate accrual was $30 million and $27 million, 
respectively, and the noncurrent portion was $120 million and $126 million, respectively. The remaining lease terms range from 0.1 years to 
13.8 years, with a weighted average of 9.3 years.  
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        Changes in our accrued liabilities for severance expenses and leased real estate were as follows:  

(6)   Employee Benefits  

        Net periodic pension (benefit) expense included the following components:  

        Net periodic post-retirement expense included the following components:  

        We report net periodic pension benefit and net periodic post-retirement expense in cost of services and products and selling, general and 
administrative expenses on our consolidated statements of operations.  
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     Severance   Real Estate   
     (Dollars in millions)    
Balance at December 31, 2011    $ 37     153   

Accrued to expense      57     1   
Payments, net      (29 )   (4 ) 
Reversals and adjustments      (3 )   —  

    
  
  

  
  

Balance at March 31, 2012    $ 62     150   
    

  

  

  

  

     Pension Plans   

     
Three Months Ended  

March 31,   
     2012   2011   
     (Dollars in millions)    
Service cost    $ 22     8   
Interest cost      156     59   
Expected return on plan assets      (212 )   (73 ) 
Recognition of prior service cost      1     1   
Recognition of actuarial loss      8     4   
            

Net periodic pension benefit    $ (25 )   (1 ) 
    

  

  

  

  

     Post-Retirement Plans   

     
Three Months Ended  

March 31,   
     2012   2011   
     (Dollars in millions)    
Service cost    $ 6     3   
Interest cost      43     8   
Expected return on plan assets      (11 )   (1 ) 
Recognition of prior service cost      —    (1 ) 
            

Net periodic post-retirement expense    $ 38     9   
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(7)   Earnings per Common Share  

        Basic and diluted earnings per common share were calculated as follows:  

        Our calculations of diluted earnings per common share exclude shares of common stock that are issuable upon exercise of stock options 
when the exercise price is greater than the average market price of our common stock during the period. Such potentially issuable shares totaled 
1.3 million and 1.7 million for the three months ended 2012 and 2011, respectively.  
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Three Months Ended  

March 31,   
     2012   2011   

     

(Dollars in millions, except  
per share amounts shares  

in thousands)    
Income (Numerator):                
Net income    $ 200     211   
Earnings applicable to non-vested restricted 

stock      —    (2 ) 
            

Net income applicable to common stock for 
computing basic earnings per common 
share      200     209   

            

Net income as adjusted for purposes of 
computing diluted earnings per common 
share    $ 200     209   

    

  

  

  

  

Shares (Denominator):                
Weighted average number of shares:                
Outstanding during period      619,740     305,384   
Non-vested restricted stock      (2,544 )   (2,009 ) 
Non-vested restricted stock units      1,012     457   

            

Weighted average shares outstanding for 
computing basic earnings per common 
share      618,208     303,832   

Incremental common shares attributable to 
dilutive securities:                

Shares issuable under convertible securities      13     13   
Shares issuable under incentive compensation 

plans      2,129     634   
            

Number of shares as adjusted for purposes of 
computing diluted earnings per common 
share      620,350     304,479   

    

  

  

  

  

Earnings per common share:                
Basic    $ .32     .69   
Diluted    $ .32     .69   
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(8)   Fair Value Disclosure  

        Our financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, investments, accounts payable and long-term debt, 
excluding capital lease obligations. The carrying amounts of our cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable 
approximate their fair values.  

        Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
independent and knowledgeable parties who are willing and able to transact for an asset or liability at the measurement date. We use valuation 
techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when determining fair value and then we 
rank the estimated values based on the reliability of the inputs used.  

        We determined the fair values of our long-term debt, including the current portion, based on quoted market prices where available or, if not 
available, based on discounted future cash flows using current market interest rates.  

        The three input levels in the hierarchy of fair value measurements are defined by the Financial Accounting Standards Board generally as 
follows:  

        The following table presents the carrying amounts and estimated fair values of our investment securities, which are reported in noncurrent 
other assets, and long-term debt, excluding capital lease obligations, as well as the input levels used to determine the fair values:  

        Our investment securities consist of auction rate securities maturing in 2033 and 2035 that are not actively traded in liquid markets. We 
have designated these securities as available for sale and, accordingly, we report them on our balance sheet under our "goodwill and other 
assets—other" line item at fair value on a recurring basis. We estimated the fair value of these securities at March 31, 2012 using a probability-
weighted cash flow model that considers the coupon rate for the securities, probabilities of default and liquidation prior to maturity, and a 
discount rate commensurate with the creditworthiness of the issuer. On January 24, 2012, we sold $17 million of these securities, which resulted 
in an immaterial gain.  

(9)   Segment Information  

        During the three months ended March 31, 2012, our business was organized into the following operating segments:  

•  Regional markets.   Consists generally of providing strategic and legacy products and services to residential consumers, small to 
medium-sized businesses and regional enterprise customers. Our  
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Input Level   Description of Input 
Level 1   Observable inputs such as quoted market prices in active markets. 
Level 2   Inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or 

indirectly observable. 
Level 3   Unobservable inputs in which little or no market data exists. 

          March 31, 2012   December 31, 2011   

     
Input  
Level   

Carrying  
Amount   Fair Value   

Carrying  
Amount   Fair Value   

          (Dollars in millions)    
Assets—Investments 

securities      3   $ 59     59     73     73   
Liabilities—Long-term 

debt excluding capital 
lease obligations      2     22,056     23,093     21,124     22,052   
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strategic products and services offered to these customers include our private line, broadband, Multi-Protocol Label Switching 
("MPLS"), hosting, and video services. Our legacy services offered to these customers include local and long-distance service;  

•  Business markets.   Consists generally of providing strategic and legacy products and services to enterprise and government 
customers. Our strategic products and services offered to these customers include our private line, broadband, MPLS, hosting, and 
video services. Our legacy services offered to these customers include local and long-distance service;  
 

•  Wholesale markets.   Consists generally of providing strategic and legacy products and services to other communications 
providers. Our strategic products and services offered to these customers are mainly private line (including special access) and 
MPLS. Our legacy services offered to these customers include unbundled network elements ("UNEs") which allow our wholesale 
customers the use our network or a combination of our network and their own networks to provide voice and data services to their 
customers, long-distance and switched access services; and  
 

•  Savvis operations.   Currently consists of the entire centrally-managed operations of our Savvis subsidiaries, which provides 
hosting and network services primarily to business customers when provided by Legacy Savvis. Some of these services are the 
same as those provided through our business markets segment.  

        In the first quarter of 2012, we announced we were restructuring our operating segments effective April 1, 2012. We will consolidate our 
operations serving our business and government customers into two organizations. National and international business markets customers, all 
Savvis customers (except as noted below) and federal government customers will be served by the new enterprise markets group which we 
intend on managing in two segments: the network services segment and the data hosting services segment. Large business customers and state 
and local government customers in our local service area will be served by the existing regional markets segment. Wholesale customers currently 
in our Savvis operations segment will be served by the wholesale markets segment after our restructuring.  
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        Segment information is summarized below:  

        We categorize our products and services into the following four categories:  

•  Strategic services , which include primarily private line (including special access), broadband, hosting (including cloud hosting 
and managed hosting), colocation, MPLS (which is a data networking technology that can deliver the quality of service required 
to support real-time voice and video), video (including resold satellite and our facilities-based video services), voice over Internet 
Protocol ("VoIP") and Verizon Wireless services;  
 

•  Legacy services , which include primarily local, long-distance, switched access, public access, integrated services digital network 
("ISDN") (which uses regular telephone lines to support voice, video and data applications), and traditional wide area network 
("WAN") services (which allows a local communications network to link to networks in remote locations);  
 

•  Data integration , which includes the sale of telecommunications equipment located on customers' premises and related 
professional services, such as network management, installation and  
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Three Months Ended  

March 31,   
     2012   2011   
     (Dollars in millions)    
Total segment revenues    $ 4,344     1,565   
Total segment expenses      1,990     582   
            

Total segment income    $ 2,354     983   
    

  

  

  

  

Total margin percentage      54%     63%   

Regional markets:                
Revenues    $ 2,204     1,119   
Expenses      922     433   

            

Income    $ 1,282     686   
    

  

  

  

  

Margin percentage      58%     61%   

Business markets:                
Revenues    $ 917     64   
Expenses      581     28   

            

Income    $ 336     36   
    

  

  

  

  

Margin percentage      37%     56%   

Wholesale markets:                
Revenues    $ 957     382   
Expenses      278     121   

            

Income    $ 679     261   
    

  

  

  

  

Margin percentage      71%     68%   

Savvis operations:                
Revenues    $ 266     —  
Expenses      209     —  

            

Income    $ 57     —  
    

  

  

  

  

Margin percentage      21%     —  
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maintenance of data equipment and building of proprietary fiber-optic broadband networks for our government and business 
customers; and  

•  Other, which consists primarily of USF revenue and surcharges.  

        Our operating revenues for our products and services consisted of the following categories:  

        Other operating revenues include revenues from universal service funds which allow us to recover a portion of our costs under federal and 
state cost recovery mechanisms and certain surcharges to our customers, including billings for our required contributions to several 
USF programs. These surcharge billings to our customers are reflected on a gross basis in our statements of operations (included in both 
operating revenues and expenses) and aggregated approximately $135 million and $30 million for the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 
2011, respectively. We also generate other operating revenues from leasing and subleasing of space in our office buildings, warehouses and other 
properties. We centrally-manage the activities that generate these other operating revenues and consequently these revenues are not included in 
any of our four segments presented above.  

        Our segment revenues include all revenues from our strategic services, legacy services and data integration as described in more detail 
above. We report our segment expenses for regional markets, business markets and wholesale markets as follows:  

•  Direct expenses , which primarily are specific, incremental expenses incurred as a direct result of providing services and products 
to segment customers, along with selling, general and administrative expenses that are directly associated with specific segment 
customers or activities; and  
 

•  Allocated expenses , which are determined by applying activity-based costing and other methodologies to include network 
expenses, facilities expenses and other expenses such as fleet, product management and real estate expenses.  

        During the first quarter of 2012, as we transitioned certain of Qwest's legacy systems to our historical company systems, we have updated 
how we report our direct expenses and have updated our methodology for how we allocate our expenses to our segments. Specifically, we no 
longer include certain fleet expenses for our regional markets segment in direct expenses; they are now allocated expenses in our regional 
markets, business markets and wholesale markets segments. In addition, we now more fully allocate network building rent and power expenses 
to our regional markets, business markets and wholesale markets segments. We have not recast our segment results for prior periods to reflect 
these changes in methodology, as it was deemed impracticable to do so.  

        For Savvis operations, segment expenses incorporate the entire centrally-managed operations of our Savvis subsidiaries as we have yet to 
fully integrate them with our other segments. Consequently, all Savvis operations segment expenses have been categorized as direct expenses. 
We intend to continue  
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Three Months Ended  

March 31,   
     2012   2011   
     (Dollars in millions)    
Strategic services    $ 2,056     539   
Legacy services      2,143     995   
Data integration      145     31   
Other      266     131   
            

Total operating revenues    $ 4,610     1,696   
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to refine our expense methodology and begin allocating expenses to Savvis operations as we continue integrating it among our other segments 
during 2012.  

        We do not assign depreciation and amortization expense to our segments, as the related assets and capital expenditures are centrally-
managed. Other unassigned operating expenses consist primarily of expenses for centrally-managed administrative functions (such as finance, 
information technology, legal and human resources), severance expenses and restructuring expenses. Interest expense is also excluded from 
segment results because we manage our financing on a total company basis and have not allocated assets or debt to specific segments. In 
addition, other income (expense) does not relate to our segment operations and is therefore excluded from our segment results. Our segment 
results do not include any intersegment revenue or expenses. Our chief operating decision maker does not review assets and capital expenditures 
by segment, nor does he include the centrally-managed income and expenses noted above in the calculation of segment income.  

        The following table reconciles segment income to net income:  

(10) Commitments and Contingencies  

        In this section, when we refer to a class action as "putative" it is because a class has been alleged, but not certified in that matter. Until and 
unless a class has been certified by the court, it has not been established that the named plaintiffs represent the class of plaintiffs they purport to 
represent.  

        We have established accrued liabilities for the matters described below where losses are deemed probable and reasonably estimable.  

Litigation Matters Relating to CenturyLink and Embarq  

        In December 2009, subsidiaries of CenturyLink filed two lawsuits against subsidiaries of Sprint Nextel to recover terminating access 
charges for VoIP traffic owed under various interconnection agreements and tariffs which presently approximate $34 million. The lawsuits 
allege that Sprint Nextel has breached contracts, violated tariffs, and violated the Federal Communications Act by failing to pay these charges. 
One lawsuit, filed on behalf of all legacy Embarq operating entities, was tried in federal court in Virginia in August 2010 and, in March 2011, a 
ruling was issued in our favor and against Sprint Nextel. In the first quarter of 2012, Sprint Nextel filed an appeal of this decision. The other 
lawsuit, filed on behalf of all Legacy CenturyLink operating entities, is pending in federal court in Louisiana. In that case, in early 2011 the 
Court dismissed certain of CenturyLink's claims, referred other claims to the Federal Communications Commission ("FCC"), and stayed the 
litigation. In April 2012, Sprint filed a petition with the FCC, seeking a declaratory ruling that CenturyLink's access charges do not apply to 
VoIP originated calls. We have not deferred revenue related to these matters as an adverse outcome is not probable based upon current 
circumstances.  
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Three Months Ended  

March 31,   
     2012   2011   
     (Dollars in millions)    
Total segment income    $ 2,354     983   
Other operating revenues      266     131   
Depreciation and amortization      (1,208 )   (369 ) 
Other unassigned operating expenses      (758 )   (281 ) 
Other income (expense)      (323 )   (125 ) 
Income tax expense      (131 )   (128 ) 
            

Net income    $ 200     211   
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        In William Douglas Fulghum, et al. v. Embarq Corporation, et al., filed on December 28, 2007 in the United States District Court for the 
District of Kansas, a group of retirees filed a putative class action lawsuit challenging the decision to make certain modifications in retiree 
benefits programs relating to life insurance, medical insurance and prescription drug benefits, generally effective January 1, 2006 and January 1, 
2008 (which, at the time of the modifications, was expected to reduce estimated future expenses for the subject benefits by more than 
$300 million). Defendants include Embarq, certain of its benefit plans, its Employee Benefits Committee and the individual plan administrator of 
certain of its benefits plans. Additional defendants include Sprint Nextel and certain of its benefit plans. The Court certified a class on certain of 
plaintiffs' claims, but rejected class certification as to other claims. Embarq and other defendants continue to vigorously contest these claims and 
charges. On October 14, 2011, the Fulghum lawyers filed a new, related lawsuit, Abbott et al. v. Sprint Nextel et al. CenturyLink/Embarq is not 
named a defendant in the lawsuit. In Abbott, approximately 1,800 plaintiffs allege breach of fiduciary duty in connection with the changes in 
retiree benefits that also are at issue in the Fulghum case. The Abbott plaintiffs are all members of the class that was certified in Fulghum on 
claims for allegedly vested benefits (Counts I and III), and the Abbott claims are similar to the Fulghum breach of fiduciary duty claim (Count 
II), on which the Fulghum court denied class certification. The Court has stayed proceedings in Abbott indefinitely. We have not accrued a 
liability for these matters as it is premature to determine whether an accrual is warranted and, if so, a reasonable estimate of probable liability.  

Litigation Matters Relating to Qwest  

        The terms and conditions of applicable bylaws, certificates or articles of incorporation, agreements or applicable law may obligate Qwest to 
indemnify its former directors, officers or employees with respect to certain of the matters described below, and Qwest has been advancing legal 
fees and costs to certain former directors, officers or employees in connection with certain matters described below.  

        On September 29, 2010, the trustees in the Dutch bankruptcy proceeding for KPNQwest, N.V. (of which Qwest was a major shareholder) 
filed a lawsuit in the District Court of Haarlem, the Netherlands, alleging tort and mismanagement claims under Dutch law. Qwest and 
Koninklijke KPN N.V. ("KPN") are defendants in this lawsuit along with a number of former KPNQwest supervisory board members and a 
former officer of KPNQwest, some of whom were formerly affiliated with Qwest. Plaintiffs allege, among other things, that defendants' actions 
were a cause of the bankruptcy of KPNQwest, and they seek damages for the bankruptcy deficit of KPNQwest, which is claimed to be 
approximately €4.2 billion (or approximately $5.6 billion based on the exchange rate on March 31, 2012), plus statutory interest. Two lawsuits 
asserting similar claims were previously filed against Qwest and others in federal courts in New Jersey in 2004 and Colorado in 2009; those 
courts dismissed the lawsuits without prejudice on the grounds that the claims should not be litigated in the United States.  

        On September 13, 2006, Cargill Financial Markets, Plc and Citibank, N.A. filed a lawsuit in the District Court of Amsterdam, the 
Netherlands, against Qwest, KPN, KPN Telecom B.V., and other former officers, employees or supervisory board members of KPNQwest, some 
of whom were formerly affiliated with Qwest. The lawsuit alleges that defendants misrepresented KPNQwest's financial and business condition 
in connection with the origination of a credit facility and wrongfully allowed KPNQwest to borrow funds under that facility. Plaintiffs allege 
damages of approximately €219 million (or approximately $292 million based on the exchange rate on March 31, 2012). On April 25, 2012, the 
court issued its judgment denying the claims asserted by Cargill and Citibank in their lawsuit. The time for appealing that decision has not 
expired.  

        We have not accrued a liability for the above matters. With regard to the trustees' action, it is premature to determine whether an accrual is 
warranted and, if so, a reasonable estimate of probable liability. We will continue to defend against the pending KPNQwest litigation matters 
vigorously.  
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        Several putative class actions relating to the installation of fiber-optic cable in certain rights-of-way were filed against Qwest on behalf of 
landowners on various dates and in various courts in Alabama, Arizona, California, Colorado, Delaware, Florida, Georgia, Illinois, Indiana (in 
both Illinois and Indiana there is a federal and a state court case), Iowa, Kansas, Maryland, Massachusetts, Michigan, Minnesota, Mississippi, 
Missouri, Nebraska, Nevada, New Jersey, New Mexico, New York, North Carolina, Oklahoma, Oregon, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, 
Utah, Virginia, Washington and Wisconsin. For the most part, the complaints challenge our right to install our fiber-optic cable in railroad rights-
of-way. The complaints allege that the railroads own the right-of-way as an easement that did not include the right to permit us to install our 
fiber-optic cable in the right-of-way without the Plaintiffs' consent. Most of the actions purport to be brought on behalf of state-wide classes in 
the named Plaintiffs' respective states, although two of the currently pending actions purport to be brought on behalf of multi-state classes. 
Specifically, the Illinois state court action purports to be on behalf of landowners in Illinois, Iowa, Kentucky, Michigan, Minnesota, Nebraska, 
Ohio and Wisconsin, and the Indiana state court action purports to be on behalf of a national class of landowners. In general, the complaints seek 
damages on theories of trespass and unjust enrichment, as well as punitive damages. On July 18, 2008, a federal district court in Massachusetts 
entered an order preliminarily approving a settlement of all of the actions described above, except the action pending in Tennessee. On 
December 9, 2009, the court denied final approval of the settlement on grounds that it lacked subject matter jurisdiction. The parties are now 
engaged in negotiating and finalizing settlements on a state-by-state basis, and have filed and received final approval of settlements in Alabama 
and Illinois federal court, and in Tennessee state court. Final approval also has been granted in federal court actions in Idaho, Montana and North 
Dakota, to which Qwest is not a party. We have accrued an amount that we believe is probable for these matters; however, the amount is not 
material to our financial statements.  

Other  

        From time to time, we are involved in other proceedings incidental to our business, including administrative hearings of state public utility 
commissions relating primarily to rate making, actions relating to employee claims, various tax issues, occasional grievance hearings before 
labor regulatory agencies, patent infringement allegations and miscellaneous third party tort actions. The outcome of these other proceedings is 
not predictable. However, we do not believe that the ultimate resolution of these other proceedings, after considering available insurance 
coverage, will have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.  

(11) Labor Union Contracts  

        Over 40% of our employees are members of various bargaining units represented by the Communications Workers of America and the 
International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers. Approximately 14,000 or 73% of our union-represented employees are subject to collective 
bargaining agreements that expire throughout the remainder of 2012.  

(12) Subsequent Events  

Long-Term Debt  

        On April 23, 2012, our subsidiary, Embarq Corporation ("Embarq") redeemed the remaining $200 million of its 6.738% Notes due 2013, 
which resulted in an immaterial loss.  

        On April 18, 2012, CenturyLink, Inc. entered into a term loan in the amount of $440 million with CoBank and several other Farm Credit 
System banks. This term loan is payable in 29 consecutive quarterly installments of $5.5 million in principal plus interest through April 18, 
2019, when the balance will be due. We have the option of paying quarterly interest based upon either the London Interbank  
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Offered Rate ("LIBOR") or the base rate (as defined in the credit agreement) plus an applicable margin between 1.50% to 2.50% per annum for 
LIBOR loans and 0.50% to 1.50% per annum for base rate loans depending on our then current senior unsecured long-term debt rating. Our term 
loan is guaranteed by two of our wholly-owned subsidiaries, Embarq and QCII, and one of QCII's wholly-owned subsidiaries.  

        On April 18, 2012, our subsidiary, Qwest Corporation ("QC"), completed a cash tender offer to purchase a portion of its $811 million of 
8.375% Notes due 2016 and its $400 million of 7.625% Notes due 2015. With respect to its 8.375% Notes due 2016, QC received and accepted 
tenders of approximately $575 million aggregate principal amount of these notes, or 71%, for $722 million including a premium, fees and 
accrued interest. With respect to its 7.625% Notes due 2015, QC received and accepted tenders of approximately $308 million aggregate 
principal amount of these notes, or 77%, for $369 million including a premium, fees and accrued interest. The completion of this tender offer 
resulted in a loss of $46 million, which we will recognize in the second quarter of 2012.  

        As of March 31, 2012, we had available a four-year $1.7 billion revolving credit facility, which was scheduled to expire in January 2015. 
On April 6, 2012, we amended and restated this revolving credit facility to increase the aggregate principal amount available to $2.0 billion and 
to extend the maturity date to April 2017. This amended credit facility (the "Credit Facility") has 18 lenders, with commitments ranging from 
$2.5 million to $177 million and allows us to obtain revolving loans and to issue up to $400 million of letters of credit, which will reduce the 
amount available for other extensions of credit. Interest will be assessed on future borrowings using either LIBOR or the base rate (as defined in 
the Credit Facility) plus an applicable margin between 1.25% and 2.25% per annum for LIBOR loans and 0.25% and 1.25% per annum for base 
rate loans depending on our then current senior unsecured long-term debt rating. Our obligations under the Credit Facility are guaranteed by two 
of our wholly-owned subsidiaries, Embarq and QCII and one of QCII's wholly-owned subsidiaries. As of March 31, 2012 and April 6, 2012, 
there were no outstanding borrowings under the Credit Facility.  

        On April 2, 2012, QC issued $525 million aggregate principal amount of 7.00% Notes due 2052 in exchange for net proceeds, after 
deducting underwriting discounts and expenses, of $508 million. The notes are unsecured obligations and may be redeemed, in whole or in part, 
on or after April 1, 2017 at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount redeemed plus accrued interest to the redemption date.  

        On April 2, 2012, Embarq completed a cash tender offer to purchase a portion of its $528 million of 6.738% Notes due 2013 and its 
$2.0 billion of 7.082% Notes due 2016. With respect to its 6.738% Notes due 2013, Embarq received and accepted tenders of approximately 
$328 million aggregate principal amount of these notes, or 62%, for $360 million including a premium, fees and accrued interest. With respect to 
its 7.082% Notes due 2016, Embarq received and accepted tenders of approximately $816 million aggregate principal amount of these notes, or 
41%, for $944 million including a premium, fees and accrued interest. The completion of these tender offers resulted in a loss of $144 million, 
which we will recognize during the second quarter of 2012.  

        On April 16, 2012, QCII committed to redeem on May 17, 2012 all $500 million of its 7.50% Notes due 2014 at a redemption price equal 
to100% of the principal amount redeemed plus accrued interest to the redemption date, which we expect will result in an immaterial gain.  

Property, Plant and Equipment  

        On April 2, 2012, QC sold an office building for $137 million. As part of the transaction, QC agreed to lease a portion of the building from 
the new owner. As a result, the $16 million gain from the sale will be deferred and recognized as a reduction to rent expense over the 10 year 
lease term.  
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ITEM 2.    MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS  

         Unless the context requires otherwise, references in this report to "CenturyLink," "we," "us" and "our" refer to CenturyLink, Inc. and its 
consolidated subsidiaries, including Qwest Communications International Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries (referred to as "Qwest") for 
periods on or after April 1, 2011 and including SAVVIS, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries (referred to as "Savvis") for periods on or after 
July 15, 2011.  

         All references to "Notes" in this Item 2 refer to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 1 of this quarterly report.  

        Certain statements in this report constitute forward-looking statements. See "Risk Factors" in Item 1A of Part II of this report for a 
discussion of certain risk factors applicable to our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

Overview  

        Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ("MD&A") included herein should be read in 
conjunction with MD&A and the other information included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011. The 
results of operations for the first three months of the year are not indicative of the results of operations that might be expected for the entire year.  

        We are an integrated communications company engaged primarily in providing an array of communications services to our residential, 
business, governmental and wholesale customers. Our communications services include local and long-distance, network access, private line 
(including special access), public access, broadband, data, managed hosting (including cloud hosting), colocation, wireless, and video services. 
In certain local and regional markets, we also provide local access and fiber transport services to competitive local exchange carriers and security 
monitoring. We strive to maintain our customer relationships by, among other things, bundling our service offerings to provide our customers 
with a complete offering of integrated communications services.  

        As of March 31, 2012, we operated 14.4 million access lines in 37 states, and served 5.6 million broadband subscribers. During 2011, we 
updated our methodology for counting access lines and broadband subscribers. Our access line methodology includes only those access lines that 
we use to provide services to external customers and excludes lines used solely by us and our affiliates. Our methodology also excludes 
unbundled loops and includes stand-alone broadband subscribers. Our methodology for counting access lines may not be comparable to those of 
other companies. We also operate 51 data centers throughout North America, Europe and Asia.  

        Our consolidated financial statements include the accounts of CenturyLink, Inc. ("CenturyLink") and its majority-owned subsidiaries. These 
subsidiaries include Savvis beginning July 15, 2011, and Qwest beginning April 1, 2011. For more information, see Note 2—Acquisitions. Due 
to the significant size of these acquisitions, direct comparisons of our results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2012 to the 
three months ended March 31, 2011 are less meaningful than usual. We discuss below, under "Segment Results", certain trends that we believe 
are significant to the combined company.  

        We have recognized the assets and liabilities of Savvis based on our preliminary estimates of their acquisition date fair values. The 
determination of the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed (and the related determination of estimated lives of depreciable 
tangible and identifiable intangible assets) requires significant judgment. As such, we have not completed our valuation analysis and calculations 
in sufficient detail necessary to arrive at the final estimates of the fair value of Savvis' assets acquired and liabilities assumed, along with the 
related allocations to goodwill and intangible  
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assets. The fair values of certain tangible assets, intangible assets, contingent liabilities and residual goodwill are the most significant areas not 
yet finalized and therefore are subject to change. We expect to complete our final fair value determinations no later than the second quarter of 
2012. Our final fair value determinations may be significantly different than those reflected in our consolidated financial statements at March 31, 
2012.  

        In the discussion that follows, we refer to the business that we operated prior to the Qwest acquisition as "Legacy CenturyLink" and refer to 
the incremental business activities that we now operate as a result of the Savvis acquisition as "Legacy Savvis" and the Qwest acquisition as 
"Legacy Qwest." Due to the magnitude of our recent acquisitions in relation to Legacy CenturyLink operations, in the combined company 
variance discussions below we have separately reflected the impacts of both the Legacy Qwest and Legacy Savvis operations for enhanced 
visibility, although we actively manage the combined company through our four segments, as discussed further below.  

        We have incurred operating expenses related to our acquisition of Savvis in July 2011, Qwest in April 2011 and Embarq Corporation 
("Embarq") in July 2009. These expenses are reflected in cost of services and products and selling, general and administrative expenses in our 
consolidated statements of operations as summarized below.  

        This table does not include costs incurred by Qwest or Savvis prior to being acquired by us. Based on current plans and information, we 
estimate that, in relation to our Qwest acquisition, we will incur approximately $800 million to $1 billion of operating expenses associated with 
transaction and integration costs (which includes approximately $429 million of cumulative expenses incurred through March 31, 2012) and 
approximately $200 million of capital expenditures associated with integration activities (which includes approximately $32 million of 
cumulative capital expenditures incurred through March 31, 2012).  

        Our business is organized into the following operating segments:  

•  Regional markets , which consists primarily of providing products and services to residential consumers, small to medium-sized 
businesses and regional enterprise customers;  
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Three Months Ended  

March 31,   
     2012   2011   
     (Dollars in millions)    
Cost of services and products:                

Integration and other expenses associated 
with acquisitions    $ 4     13   

Severance expenses, accelerated 
recognition of share-based awards and 
retention compensation associated with 
acquisitions      —    1   

            

  $ 4     14   
    

  

  

  

  

Selling, general and administrative:                
Integration and other expenses associated 

with acquisitions    $ 9     19   
Severance expenses, accelerated 

recognition of share-based awards and 
retention compensation associated with 
acquisitions      26     2   

            

  $ 35     21   
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•  Business markets , which consists primarily of providing products and services to enterprise and government customers;  
 

•  Wholesale markets , which consists primarily of providing products and services to other communications providers; and  
 

•  Savvis operations, which consists primarily of providing hosting and network services primarily to business customers provided 
by Legacy Savvis. The business markets segment currently provides some of the same services as our Savvis operations segment.  

        We report financial information separately for each of these segments; however, our segment information does not include capital 
expenditures, total assets, or certain revenues and expenses that we manage on a centralized basis. As we continue to integrate our recent 
acquisitions, we plan to make further changes to the way we assess performance and make decisions about allocating resources, which will likely 
change our segment reporting. Our segment results are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations that our segments would have 
achieved had they operated as stand-alone entities during the periods presented. For additional information about our segments, see Note 9—
Segment Information and "Results of Operations—Segment Results" below.  

        In the first quarter of 2012, we announced we were restructuring our operating segments effective April 1, 2012. We will consolidate our 
operations serving our business and government customers into two organizations. National and international business markets customers, all 
Savvis customers (except as noted below) and federal government customers will be served by the new enterprise markets group which we 
intend on managing in two segments: the network services segment and the data hosting services segment. Large business customers and state 
and local government customers in our local service area will be served by the existing regional markets segment. Wholesale customers currently 
in our Savvis operations segment will be served by the wholesale markets segment after our restructuring.  

Results of Operations  

        The following table summarizes the results of our consolidated operations for the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, presented 
in a manner that we believe will be useful for understanding the relevant trends affecting our business. Our operating results include operations 
of Savvis for periods after July 15, 2011, and Qwest for periods after April 1, 2011.  
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Three Months Ended  

March 31,   
     2012   2011   

     
(Dollars in millions except  

per share amounts)    
Operating revenues    $ 4,610     1,696   
Operating expenses      3,956     1,232   
            

Operating income      654     464   
Other income (expense)      (323 )   (125 ) 
Income tax expense      131     128   
            

Net income    $ 200     211   
    

  

  

  

  

Employees (as of March 31)      47,900     20,300   
EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE                

Basic    $ .32     .69   
Diluted    $ .32     .69   
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        The following table summarizes our operational metrics:  

        During the last several years, we have experienced revenue declines (excluding the impact of acquisitions) primarily due to declines in 
access lines, intrastate access rates and minutes of use. Prior to its acquisition, Qwest had experienced similar declines in its revenues. To 
mitigate these declines, we remain focused on efforts to, among other things:  

•  promote long-term relationships with our customers through bundling of integrated services;  
 

•  provide new services, such as video, cloud hosting, managed hosting, colocation services and other additional services that may 
become available in the future due to advances in technology, wireless spectrum sales by the Federal Communications 
Commission ("FCC") or improvements in our infrastructure;  
 

•  provide our broadband and premium services to a higher percentage of our customers;  
 

•  pursue acquisitions of additional communications properties if available at attractive prices;  
 

•  increase usage of our networks; and  
 

•  market our products and services to new customers.  

Operating Revenues  

        We currently categorize our products, services and revenues among the following four categories:  

•  Strategic services , which include primarily private line (including special access which we market to business customers who 
require dedicated equipment to transmit large amounts of data between sites), broadband, hosting (including cloud hosting and 
managed hosting), colocation, Multi-Protocol Label Switching ("MPLS") (which is a data networking technology that can deliver 
the quality of service required to support real-time voice and video), video (including resold satellite and our facilities-based 
video services), voice over Internet Protocol ("VoIP") and Verizon Wireless services;  
 

•  Legacy services , which include primarily local, long-distance, switched access, public access, integrated services digital network 
("ISDN") (which uses regular telephone lines to support voice, video and data applications), and traditional wide area network 
("WAN") services (which allows a local communications network to link to networks in remote locations);  
 

•  Data integration , which includes the sale of telecommunications equipment located on customers' premises and related 
professional services, such as network management, installation and maintenance of data equipment and building of proprietary 
fiber-optic broadband networks for our government and business customers; and  
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     March 31,   Increase / (Decrease)   
     2012   2011   CenturyLink   Qwest   Total   
Operational metrics:                                 
Broadband 

subscribers      5,643     2,403     104     3,136     3,240   
Access lines      14,379     6,382     (416 )   8,413     7,997   
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•  Other, which consists primarily of universal service fund ("USF") revenue and surcharges.  

        Total operating revenues increased due to our acquisitions of Qwest and Savvis. Legacy CenturyLink operating revenues decreased 
$55 million, or 3.2%, during the three months ended March 31, 2012 as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2011. This decrease was 
primarily attributable to declines in legacy services revenues, which reflected the continuing loss of access lines in our markets. At March 31, 
2012, we had 14.4 million access lines, of which 8.4 million were in Legacy Qwest's markets. Access lines in our Legacy CenturyLink markets 
declined to 6.0 million at March 31, 2012 from 6.4 million at March 31, 2011, a decrease of 6.7%. We believe the decline in the number of 
access lines was primarily due to the displacement of traditional wireline telephone services by other competitive products and services. We 
estimate that our access lines loss will be between 5.9% and 6.6% in 2012. Our legacy services revenues were also negatively impacted in 2012 
by the continued migration of customers to bundled service offerings at lower effective rates. The decreases in our legacy services revenues were 
partially offset by higher revenues from strategic services revenues. Private line and broadband services accounted for a majority of the growth 
in strategic services revenues.  

        Further analysis of our operating revenues by segment is provided below in "Segment Results."  

Operating Expenses  

        As discussed in Note 1—Basis of Presentation, we changed the definitions we use to classify expenses as cost of services and products and 
selling, general and administrative, and have reclassified prior period amounts to conform to our new definitions. Our operating expenses 
increased substantially in comparison to 2011 primarily due to our acquisitions of Qwest and Savvis.  
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Three Months Ended  

March 31,   Increase / (Decrease)   
     2012   2011   CenturyLink   Qwest   Savvis   Total   
     (Dollars in millions)    
Strategic 

services   $ 2,056     539     44     1,207     266     1,517   
Legacy 

services     2,143     995     (100 )   1,248     —    1,148   
Data 

integration     145     31     (2 )   116     —    114   
Other      266     131     3     132     —    135   
                            

Total 
operating 
revenues   $ 4,610     1,696     (55 )   2,703     266     2,914   
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        The following tables summarize our operating expenses:  

        As discussed in the "overview" section, our operating expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2012 included substantial severance 
and integration costs related to the Qwest and Savvis acquisitions, as well as significant acquisition accounting adjustments to depreciation and 
amortization expense (see Note 2—Acquisitions and Note 3—Goodwill, Customer Relationships and Other Intangible Assets).  

        Cost of services and products for Legacy CenturyLink operations increased slightly for the three months ended March 31, 2012 as 
compared to the three months ended March 31, 2011 primarily due to increased costs associated with expanding our facilities-based video 
infrastructure.  

        Legacy CenturyLink selling, general and administrative expenses increased for the three months ended March 31, 2012 as compared to the 
three months ended March 31, 2011 primarily due to increased salaries and wages and employee benefits. There was also a slight increase in bad 
debt expense for the first quarter of 2012 compared to the first quarter of 2011.  

        Effective January 1, 2012, we changed our rates of capitalized labor as we transitioned certain of Qwest's legacy systems to our historical 
company systems. This transition resulted in an estimated $15 million to $20 million increase in the amount of labor capitalized as an asset 
compared to the amount that would have been capitalized if Qwest had labor related to the same projects with its legacy systems and a 
corresponding estimated $15 million to $20 million decrease in operating expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2012. This change is 
expected to result in an estimated operating expense reduction of approximately $60 million to $80 million for the year ending December 31, 
2012.  

        Excluding the effects of the acquisitions of Qwest and Savvis, depreciation expense for Legacy CenturyLink increased primarily due to the 
impact of changes to our estimates of the economic lives of certain telecommunications equipment.  

        Further analysis of our operating expenses by segment is provided below in "Segment Results."  
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Three Months Ended  

March 31,   Increase / (Decrease)   
     2012   2011   CenturyLink   Qwest   Savvis   Total   
     (Dollars in millions)    
Cost of 

services 
and 
products 
(exclusive 
of 
depreciation 
and 
amortization)   $ 1,877     626     29     1,082     140     1,251   

Selling, 
general and 
administrative     871     237     82     483     69     634   

Depreciation 
and 
amortization     1,208     369     23     741     75     839   

    
  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

Total 
operating 
expenses    $ 3,956     1,232     134     2,306     284     2,724   
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Other Consolidated Results  

        The following tables summarize our total other income (expense) and income tax expense:  

Interest Expense  

        Interest expense increased primarily due to debt assumed in the Qwest acquisition and incurred subsequent to that acquisition. See Note 4—
Long-term Debt and Credit Facilities and "Liquidity and Capital Resources" below for additional information about our debt.  

        Interest expense for Legacy CenturyLink increased $40 million, or 31.3%, during the first quarter of 2012 compared to the first quarter of 
2011 primarily due to interest on our $2 billion aggregate principal amount of senior notes that we issued in June 2011 to finance the Savvis 
acquisition, partially offset by principal repayments made during 2011 and the first quarter of 2012.  

Other Income  

        Other income reflects certain items not directly related to our core operations, including gains and losses from non-operating asset 
dispositions and impairments, our share of income from our 49% interest in a cellular partnership, interest income and foreign currency gains 
and losses. Other income increased for the three months ended March 31, 2012 as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2011 primarily 
due to the gain on the redemption of QCII's 7.50% Notes due in 2014 and a gain on the sale of our auction rate securities. See Note 4—Long-
term Debt and Credit Facilities and "Liquidity and Capital Resources" below for additional information about our debt.  

Income Tax Expense  

        For the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, our pre-tax income and our income tax expense was relatively unchanged.  
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Three Months Ended  

March 31,   Increase / (Decrease)   
     2012   2011   CenturyLink   Qwest   Savvis   Total   
     (Dollars in millions)    
Interest 

expense   $ (343 )   (128 )   40     169     6     215   
Other 

income     20     3     8     9     —    17   
    

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

Total 
other 
income 
(expense)   $ (323 )   (125 )   32     160     6     198   

    

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Income 
tax 
expense     131     128     nm     nm     nm     3   

nm—Attributing changes in income tax expense to the acquisitions of Savvis, Qwest and Embarq is considered not meaningful.  
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Segment Results  

        Segment information is summarized below:  

        In connection with the reorganization of our segments during 2011, we also revised the way we categorize our segment revenues and 
segment expenses. Our major categories of products and services are strategic services, legacy services, data integration and other, each of which 
is described in more detail in "Operating Revenues" above. We report our segment expenses for regional markets, business markets and 
wholesale markets as follows:  

•  Direct expenses , which primarily are specific, incremental expenses incurred as a direct result of providing services and products 
to segment customers, along with selling, general and administrative expenses that are directly associated with specific segment 
customers or activities; and  
 

•  Allocated expenses , which are determined by applying activity-based costing and other methodologies to include network 
expenses, facilities expenses and other expenses such as fleet, product management and real estate expenses.  
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Three Months Ended  

March 31,   
     2012   2011   
     (Dollars in millions)    
Total segment revenues    $ 4,344     1,565   
Total segment expenses      1,990     582   
            

Total segment income    $ 2,354     983   
    

  

  

  

  

Total margin percentage      54%     63%   

Regional markets:                
Revenues    $ 2,204     1,119   
Expenses      922     433   

            

Income    $ 1,282     686   
    

  

  

  

  

Margin percentage      58%     61%   

Business markets:                
Revenues    $ 917     64   
Expenses      581     28   

            

Income    $ 336     36   
    

  

  

  

  

Margin percentage      37%     56%   

Wholesale markets:                
Revenues    $ 957     382   
Expenses      278     121   

            

Income    $ 679     261   
    

  

  

  

  

Margin percentage      71%     68%   

Savvis operations:                
Revenues    $ 266     —  
Expenses      209     —  

            

Income    $ 57     —  
    

  

  

  

  

Margin percentage      21%     —  
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        During the first quarter of 2012, as we transitioned certain of Qwest's legacy systems to our historical company systems, we have updated 
how we report our direct expenses and have updated our methodology for how we allocate our expenses to our segments. Specifically, we no 
longer include certain fleet expenses for our regional markets segment in direct expenses; they are now allocated expenses in our regional 
markets, business markets and wholesale markets segments. In addition, we now more fully allocate network building rent and power expenses 
to our regional markets, business markets and wholesale markets segments. We have not recast our segment results for prior periods to reflect 
these changes in methodology, as it was deemed impracticable to do so.  

        For Savvis operations, segment expenses incorporate the entire centrally-managed operations of our Savvis subsidiaries as we have yet to 
fully integrate them with our other segments. Consequently, all Savvis operations segment expenses have been categorized as direct expenses. 
We intend to continue to refine our expense methodology in conjunction with the reorganization of our operating segments as discussed earlier.  

        We do not assign depreciation and amortization expense to our segments, as the related assets and capital expenditures are centrally-
managed. Other unassigned operating expenses consist primarily of expenses for centrally-managed administrative functions (such as finance, 
information technology, legal and human resources), severance expenses and restructuring expenses. Interest expense is also excluded from 
segment results because we manage our financing on a total company basis and have not allocated assets or debt to specific segments. In 
addition, other income (expense) does not relate to our segment operations and is therefore excluded from our segment results.  

Regional Markets  

        The operations of our regional markets segment have been impacted by several significant trends, including those described below. The 
discussion that follows generally applies to both our Legacy CenturyLink markets and our Legacy Qwest markets for periods after the April 1, 
2011 acquisition date.  

•  Strategic services.   We continue to focus on increasing subscribers of our broadband services in our regional markets segment. In 
order to remain competitive, we believe continually increasing connection speeds is important. As a result, we continue to invest 
in our fiber to the node, or FTTN, deployment, which allows for the delivery of higher speed broadband services. While 
traditional ATM-based broadband services are declining, they have been more than offset by growth in fiber-based broadband 
services. We also continue to expand our product offerings including facilities-based video services and enhance our marketing 
efforts as we compete in a maturing market in which most consumers already have broadband services. We expect these efforts 
will improve our ability to compete and increase our strategic revenues.  
 

•  Facilities-based video expenses.   As we continue to expand our facilities-based video service infrastructure, we are incurring 
start-up expenses in advance of the revenue that this service is expected to generate. Although, over time, we expect that our 
revenue for facilities-based video services will offset the expenses incurred, the timing of this revenue growth is uncertain.  
 

•  Access lines.   Our voice revenues have been, and we expect they will continue to be, adversely affected by access line losses. 
Intense competition and product substitution continue to drive our access line losses. For example, many consumers are 
substituting cable and wireless voice and electronic mail and social networking services for traditional voice telecommunications 
services. We expect that these factors will continue to impact our business. Service bundling and other product promotions, as 
described below, continue to be some of our responses to offset the loss of revenues as a result of access line losses.  
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•  Service bundling and product promotions.   We offer our customers the ability to bundle multiple products and services. These 
customers can bundle local services with other services such as broadband, video, long-distance and wireless. While our video 
and wireless services are an important piece of our customer retention strategy, they do not significantly contribute to our 
strategic services revenues. However, we believe customers value the convenience of, and price discounts associated with, 
receiving multiple services through a single company. While bundle price discounts have resulted in lower average revenues for 
our individual products, we believe service bundles continue to positively impact our customer retention. In addition to our 
bundle discounts, we also offer from time to time limited time promotions on our broadband service, which we believe further 
aids our ability to attract and retain customers and increase usage of our services.  
 

•  Operating efficiencies.   We continue to evaluate our operating structure and focus. This involves balancing our workforce in 
response to our workload requirements, productivity improvements and changes in industry, competitive, technological and 
regulatory conditions.  

        The following table summarizes the results of operations from our regional markets segment:  

Segment Income  

        The acquisition of Qwest on April 1, 2011 largely contributed to an increase in our regional markets segment income for the three months 
ended March 31, 2012 as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2011.  

Segment Revenues  

        Excluding 2012 revenues attributable to the Qwest acquisition, regional markets revenues decreased for the three months ended March 31, 
2012 as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2011. Growth in strategic services revenues did not fully offset a decline in legacy 
services revenues. The higher amounts of strategic services revenues are due principally to volume increases in our facilities-based video and 
increases in the number of broadband subscribers. Legacy services revenues decreased primarily due to declines in local and long-distance 
services associated with access line losses resulting from competitive pressures.  
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     Regional Markets Segment   

     
Three Months Ended  

March 31,   Increase / (Decrease)   
     2012   2011   CenturyLink   Qwest   Total   
     (Dollars in millions)    
Segment revenues:                                  

Strategic services   $ 764     315     15     434     449   
Legacy services      1,411     777     (57 )   691     634   
Data integration      29     27     —    2     2   

                        

Total revenues      2,204     1,119     (42 )   1,127     1,085   
                        

Segment expenses:                                  
Direct      903     447     1     455     456   
Allocated      19     (14 )   21     12     33   

                        

Total expenses      922     433     22     467     489   
    

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

Segment income    $ 1,282     686     (64 )   660     596   
    

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Segment margin 
percentage      58%     61%                     
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Segment Expenses  

        Regional markets expenses, exclusive of Legacy Qwest expenses, increased for the three months ended March 31, 2012 as compared to the 
three months ended March 31, 2011, primarily due to increased allocated expenses, while direct expenses remained flat. Allocated expenses 
increased primarily due to our updated methodology of allocating expenses to our segments during the first quarter of 2012. As described above, 
we now more fully allocate network building rent and power expenses, which accounted for the increase in our allocated expenses. Our regional 
markets segment incurs expenses to support the network on behalf of our business markets and wholesale markets operations. These expenses 
are reported as direct expenses in our regional markets segment and allocated to business markets and wholesale markets through our expense 
allocation methodology.  

Business Markets  

        The operations of our business markets segment have been impacted by several significant trends, including those described below. The 
discussion that follows generally applies to both our Legacy CenturyLink markets and our Legacy Qwest markets for periods after the April 1, 
2011 acquisition date.  

•  Strategic services.   Our mix of total segment revenues continues to migrate from legacy services to strategic services as our 
enterprise and government customers increasingly demand customized and integrated data, Internet and voice services. We offer 
diverse combinations of emerging technology products and services such as private line, MPLS, hosting, and VoIP services. We 
believe these services afford our customers more flexibility in managing their communications needs and enable us to improve 
the effectiveness and efficiency of their operations. Although we are experiencing price compression on our strategic services due 
to competition, we expect overall revenues from these services to grow.  
 

•  Legacy services.   We face intense competition with respect to our legacy services and continue to see customers migrating away 
from these services and into strategic services. In addition, our legacy services revenues have been, and we expect they will 
continue to be, adversely affected by access line losses and price compression.  
 

•  Data integration.   We expect both data integration revenue and the related costs will fluctuate from quarter to quarter as this 
offering tends to be more sensitive than others to changes in the economy and in spending trends of our federal government 
customers.  
 

•  Operating efficiencies.   We continue to evaluate our operating structure and focus. This involves balancing our workforce in 
response to our productivity improvements while achieving operational efficiencies and improving our processes through 
automation. We also expect our business markets segment to benefit indirectly from efficiencies in our company-wide network 
operations.  
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        The following table summarizes the results of operations from our business markets segment:  

Segment Income  

        The acquisition of Qwest on April 1, 2011 substantially increased the scale of our business markets segment, resulting in an increase in our 
segment income for the three months ended March 31, 2012 as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2011. Our segment margin 
percentage declined in 2012 as a result of a change in product mix as more services are now provided outside of our local service area. Legacy 
Qwest operations accounted for 93.4% of our business markets segment revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2012.  

Segment Revenues  

        Legacy CenturyLink business markets revenues decreased for the three months ended March 31, 2012 as compared to the three months 
ended March 31, 2011. This decrease primarily reflected lower revenues from legacy services driven by access line losses and lower data 
integration revenues due to lower sales of data integration equipment. Growth in our strategic services revenues was not enough to offset the 
decreases in our legacy services and data integration revenues.  

Segment Expenses  

        Legacy CenturyLink business markets expenses increased for the three months ended March 31, 2012 as compared to the three months 
ended March 31, 2011. Direct expenses increased primarily due to increased employee related expenses resulting from a larger sales force in 
2012. Allocated expenses increased due to an increased allocation of network and facilities expenses along with additional network building rent 
and power expenses due to our updated methodology of allocating expenses as described above.  

Wholesale Markets  

        The discussion that follows generally applies to both our Legacy CenturyLink markets and our Legacy Qwest markets for periods after the 
April 1, 2011 acquisition date.  
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     Business Markets Segment   

     
Three Months Ended  

March 31,   Increase / (Decrease)   
     2012   2011   CenturyLink   Qwest   Total   
     (Dollars in millions)    
Segment 

revenues:                                  
Strategic 

services   $ 450     14     2     434     436   
Legacy 

services     351     46     (4 )   309     305   
Data 

integration     116     4     (2 )   114     112   
    

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

Total 
revenues     917     64     (4 )   857     853   

                        

Segment 
expenses:                                  
Direct      244     1     5     238     243   
Allocated      337     27     14     296     310   

    
  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

Total 
expenses     581     28     19     534     553   

                        

Segment 
income    $ 336     36     (23 )   323     300   

    

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Segment 
margin 
percentage     37%     56%                     
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•  Private line services (including special access).   Demand for our private line services continues to increase, despite our 
customers' optimization of their networks, industry consolidation and technological migration. While we expect that these factors 
will continue to impact our wholesale markets segment, we ultimately believe the growth in our fiber-based special access 
services provided to wireless carriers for backhaul will, over time, offset the decline in copper-based special access services 
provided to wireless carriers as they migrate to Ethernet services, and bandwidth consumption grows, although the timing and 
magnitude of this technological migration is uncertain.  
 

•  Access and local services revenues.   Our access and local services revenues have been and we expect will continue to be, 
adversely affected by regulation, technological migration, industry consolidation and rate reductions. For example, wholesale 
consumers are substituting cable, wireless and VoIP services for traditional voice telecommunications services, resulting in 
continued access revenue loss. We expect these factors will continue to adversely impact our wholesale markets segment.  
 

•  Long-distance services revenues.   Wholesale long-distance revenues continue to decline as a result of customer migration to 
more technologically advanced services, price compression, declining demand for traditional voice services and industry 
consolidation.  

        The following table summarizes the results of operations from our wholesale markets segment:  

Segment Income  

        The acquisition of Qwest on April 1, 2011 largely contributed to an increase in our wholesale markets segment income for the three months 
ended March 31, 2012 as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2011. Segment income for our Legacy CenturyLink operations 
decreased slightly for the three months ended March 31, 2012 as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2011, primarily reflecting 
declines in our legacy services revenues as discussed further below.  

Segment Revenues  

        Excluding 2012 revenues attributable to the Qwest acquisition, wholesale markets revenues decreased for the three months ended March 31, 
2012 as compared to the three months ended  
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     Wholesale Markets Segment   

     
Three Months Ended  

March 31,   Increase / (Decrease)   
     2012   2011   CenturyLink   Qwest   Total   
     (Dollars in millions)    
Segment revenues:                                  

Strategic services   $ 576     210     27     339     366   
Legacy services      381     172     (39 )   248     209   

                        

Total revenues      957     382     (12 )   587     575   
                        

Segment expenses:                                  
Direct      47     32     2     13     15   
Allocated      231     89     (2 )   144     142   

                        

Total expenses      278     121     —    157     157   
                        

Segment income    $ 679     261     (12 )   430     418   
    

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Segment margin 
percentage      71%     68%                     
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March 31, 2011. This decrease reflects substantially lower revenues from legacy services, partially offset by growth in revenues from strategic 
services. The decrease in legacy services revenues reflects continuing declines in access, long-distance and local services volumes and revenues 
due to the substitution of cable, wireless and VoIP services for traditional voice telecommunications services. Growth in strategic services 
revenues was due to increases in our private line and special access services revenues.  

Segment Expenses  

        Wholesale markets expenses, exclusive of Legacy Qwest expenses, were flat for the three months ended March 31, 2012 as compared to the 
three months ended March 31, 2011. Wholesale markets allocated expenses decreased due to a lower allocation of network and facilities 
expenses. This decrease was partially offset by the allocation of certain network building rent and power expenses due to our updated expense 
allocation methodology.  

Savvis Operations  

        The operations of our Savvis operations segment could be impacted by several significant trends, including those described below.  

•  Colocation.   Colocation is designed for clients seeking data center space and power for their server and networking equipment 
needs. Our data centers provide our clients around the world with a secure, high-powered, purpose-built location for their IT 
equipment. We anticipate continued pricing pressure for these services as wholesale vendors enter the enterprise colocation 
market; however, we believe that our data center expansion strategy can help mitigate these pricing challenges.  
 

•  Managed hosting.   Managed hosting services provide a fully managed solution for a customer's IT infrastructure and network 
needs, and include dedicated and cloud hosting services, utility and computing storage, consulting and managed security services. 
We expect increasing pricing pressure on the managed hosting business from competing cloud computing offerings. However, we 
remain focused on expanding our managed hosting business, specifically in our cloud service offerings, which we believe is a key 
to growth. We believe that we have continued to strengthen our cloud position in the market by adding differentiating features to 
our cloud products.  
 

•  Network services.   Network services are comprised of our managed network services, including managed VPN, hosting area 
network and bandwidth services. Segment income for these services has been relatively flat due to pricing pressures on VPN and 
bandwidth services, offset by increases in network services that support our colocation and managed hosting service offerings.  
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        The following table summarizes the operating results of Savvis operations for the three months ended March 31, 2012 as compared to 
March 31, 2011; which was prior to the July 15, 2011 acquisition date:  

Segment Revenues  

        Segment revenues for our Savvis operations were mainly derived from (i) colocation services of $103 million which were 38.7% of our 
segment revenues, (ii) managed hosting services of $99 million which were 37.2% of our segment revenues and (iii) network services of 
$64 million, which were 24.1% of our segment revenues.  

Segment Expenses  

        Segment expenses attributed to Savvis operations were derived primarily from cost of services and products of $140 million, selling, 
general and administrative expenses of $69 million.  

Liquidity and Capital Resources  

Overview  

        As of March 31, 2012, we held cash and cash equivalents of $1.530 billion compared to $128 million as of December 31, 2011 and had 
$1.7 billion available under our revolving credit facility, which is described further below. During the first quarter of 2012, we received net 
proceeds of $2.032 billion from the issuance of senior notes issued in anticipation of paying down portions of our long-term debt (including 
using a portion of these net proceeds to redeem $800 million of debt on March 1, 2012), causing our cash balances to be unusually high at 
March 31, 2012. We have generally relied on cash provided by operations and our revolving credit facility to fund our operating and capital 
expenditures, make our dividend payments and repay a portion of our maturing debt. Our operations have historically provided a stable source of 
cash flow that has helped us meet the needs of the business.  

        As of March 31, 2012, we had a working capital deficit of $761 million, reflecting current liabilities of $5.643 billion and current assets of 
$4.882 billion, compared to a working capital deficit of $511 million as of December 31, 2011. The change in our working capital position is 
primarily due to $2.200 billion in current maturities of long-term debt as of March 31, 2012 compared to $480 million as of December 31, 2012, 
partially offset by increased cash balances due to proceeds from the issuance of debt as described above. We anticipate that our existing cash 
balances and net cash provided by operating activities, which were significantly enhanced by our acquisition of Qwest, will enable us to meet 
our other current obligations, fund capital expenditures and pay dividends to our shareholders. We also may draw on our revolving credit facility 
as a source of liquidity if and when necessary.  
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     Savvis Operations Segment   
   

  Three Months Ended March 31, 
       

   
  

Increase /  
(Decrease) 

  
     2012   2011   
     (Dollars in millions)    
Strategic services    $ 266     —    266   
                

Segment expenses      209     —    209   
                

Segment income    $ 57     —    57   
    

  

  

  

  

  

  

Segment margin percentage      21%               
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        We currently expect to continue our current annual dividend of $2.90 per common share, subject to our board's discretion.  

Debt and Other Financing Arrangements  

        On April 23, 2012, Embarq redeemed the remaining $200 million of its 6.738% Notes due 2013, which resulted in an immaterial loss.  

        On April 18, 2012, CenturyLink, Inc. entered into a term loan in the amount of $440 million with CoBank and several other Farm Credit 
System banks. This term loan is payable in 29 consecutive quarterly installments of $5.5 million in principal plus interest through April 18, 
2019, when the balance will be due. We have the option of paying quarterly interest based upon either the London Interbank Offered Rate 
("LIBOR") or the base rate (as defined in the credit agreement) plus an applicable margin between 1.50% to 2.50% per annum for LIBOR loans 
and 0.50% to 1.50% per annum for base rate loans depending on our then current senior unsecured long-term debt rating. Our term loan is 
guaranteed by two of our wholly-owned subsidiaries, Embarq and Qwest Communications International Inc. ("QCII"), and one of QCII's wholly-
owned subsidiaries.  

        On April 18, 2012, our subsidiary, Qwest Corporation ("QC"), completed a cash tender offer to purchase a portion of its $811 million of 
8.375% Notes due 2016 and its $400 million of 7.625% Notes due 2015. With respect to its 8.375% Notes due 2016, QC received and accepted 
tenders of approximately $575 million aggregate principal amount of these notes, or 71%, for $722 million including a premium, fees and 
accrued interest. With respect to its 7.625% Notes due 2015, QC received and accepted tenders of approximately $308 million aggregate 
principal amount of these notes, or 77%, for $369 million including a premium, fees and accrued interest. The completion of this tender offer 
resulted in a loss of $46 million, which we will recognize in the second quarter of 2012.  

        On April 2, 2012, QC issued $525 million aggregate principal amount of 7.00% Notes due 2052 in exchange for net proceeds, after 
deducting underwriting discounts and expenses, of $508 million. The notes are unsecured obligations and may be redeemed, in whole or in part, 
on or after April 1, 2017 at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount redeemed plus accrued interest to the redemption date.  

        On April 2, 2012, Embarq completed a cash tender offer to purchase a portion of its $528 million of 6.738% Notes due 2013 and its 
$2.0 billion of 7.082% Notes due 2016. With respect to its 6.738% Notes due 2013, Embarq received and accepted tenders of approximately 
$328 million aggregate principal amount of these notes, or 62%, for $360 million including a premium, fees and accrued interest. With respect to 
its 7.082% Notes due 2016, Embarq received and accepted tenders of approximately $816 million aggregate principal amount of these notes, or 
41%, for $944 million including a premium, fees and accrued interest. The completion of these tender offers resulted in a loss of $144 million, 
which we will recognize in the second quarter of 2012.  

        On March 12, 2012, CenturyLink, Inc. issued $650 million aggregate principal amount of 7.65% Senior Notes due 2042 in exchange for net 
proceeds, after deducting underwriting discounts and expenses, of approximately $644 million. The notes are unsecured obligations and may be 
redeemed at any time.  

        On March 12, 2012, CenturyLink, Inc. issued $1.4 billion aggregate principal amount of 5.80% Senior Notes due 2022 in exchange for net 
proceeds, after deducting underwriting discounts and expenses, of $1.388 billion. The notes are also unsecured obligations and may be redeemed 
at any time.  

        On March 1, 2012, QCII redeemed $800 million of its 7.50% Notes due February 15, 2014, which resulted in an immaterial gain.  

42  



Table of Contents  

        On April 16, 2012, QCII committed to redeem on May 17, 2012 all $500 million of its 7.50% Notes due 2014 at a redemption price equal to 
100% of the principal amount redeemed plus accrued interest to the redemption date, which we expect will result in an immaterial gain.  

        As of March 31, 2012, we had available a four-year $1.7 billion revolving credit facility, which was scheduled to expire in January 2015. 
On April 6, 2012, we amended and restated this revolving credit facility to increase the aggregate principal amount available to $2.0 billion and 
to extend the maturity date to April 2017. This amended credit facility (the "Credit Facility") has 18 lenders, with commitments ranging from 
$2.5 million to $177 million and allows us to obtain revolving loans and to issue up to $400 million of letters of credit, which will reduce the 
amount available for other extensions of credit. Interest will be assessed on future borrowings using either LIBOR or the base rate (as defined in 
the Credit Facility) plus an applicable margin between 1.25% and 2.25% per annum for LIBOR loans and 0.25% and 1.25% per annum for base 
rate loans depending on our then current senior unsecured long-term debt rating. Our obligations under the Credit Facility are guaranteed by two 
of our wholly-owned subsidiaries, Embarq and QCII and one of QCII's wholly-owned subsidiaries. As of March 31, 2012 and April 6, 2012, 
there were no outstanding borrowings under the Credit Facility. The remaining terms and conditions of our term loan are substantially similar to 
those set forth in our Credit Facility, as defined and described below.  

        Under the Credit Facility, we are subject to various covenants, including (i) covenants that restrict our ability to engage in certain asset 
sales, mergers or other fundamental changes or to incur liens and (ii) financial covenants that stipulate that we shall not permit our ratio of 
consolidated total funded debt to consolidated EBITDA to exceed 4.0 to 1.0 and the ratio of consolidated EBITDA to the sum of consolidated 
interest expense and preferred stock dividends to be less than 1.5 to 1.0. Our obligation to repay amounts outstanding may be accelerated upon 
specified events of default, including failures to make payments when due, defaults of obligations under certain other debt, breaches of 
representations, warranties or covenants, commencement of bankruptcy proceedings and certain other failures to discharge specified obligations 
or comply with specified laws. To the extent that our EBITDA is reduced by cash settlements or judgments, including in respect of any of the 
matters discussed in Note 10—Commitments and Contingencies, our debt to EBITDA ratios under certain debt agreements will be adversely 
affected (with the above terms and ratios having the meanings and being calculated in the manner stipulated in the Credit Facility agreement). 
This could reduce our financing flexibility due to potential restrictions on incurring additional debt under certain provisions of our debt 
agreements or, in certain circumstances, could result in a default under certain provisions of such agreements.  

        In April 2011, CenturyLink, Inc. entered into a $160 million uncommitted revolving letter of credit facility. As of March 31, 2012, our 
outstanding letters of credit totaled $129 million under this facility.  

        As of March 31, 2012, we believe we were in compliance with the provisions and covenants of our debt agreements.  

Capital Expenditures  

        We incur capital expenditures on an ongoing basis in order to enhance and modernize our networks, compete effectively in our markets and 
expand our service offerings. We evaluate capital expenditure projects based on a variety of factors, including expected strategic impacts (such 
as forecasted revenue growth or productivity, expense and service impacts) and our expected return on investment. The amount of capital 
investment is influenced by, among other things, demand for our services and products, cash generated by operating activities and regulatory 
considerations. We estimate our total 2012 capital expenditures to be approximately $2.7 billion to $2.9 billion.  

        Our capital expenditures continue to be focused on our strategic services such as video, broadband and managed hosting services. 
Throughout 2012, we anticipate that our fiber investment, which includes fiber to the tower, or FTTT, will be slightly lower to that spent in 
2011. FTTT is a type of  
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telecommunications network consisting of fiber-optic cables that run from a wireless carrier's mobile telephone switching office to cellular 
towers to enable the delivery of higher bandwidth services supporting mobile technologies than would otherwise generally be available through a 
more traditional copper-based telecommunications network.  

Pension and Post-retirement Benefit Obligations  

        We are subject to material obligations under our existing defined benefit pension plans and other post-retirement benefit plans. Our plans 
are measured annually at December 31. As of December 31, 2011, the accounting unfunded status of pension and other post-retirement benefit 
obligations was $1.782 billion and $3.237 billion, respectively. See Note 6—Employee Benefits to our consolidated financial statements in 
Item 1 of this report for additional information about our pension and other post-retirement benefit arrangements.  

        Benefits paid by our qualified pension plans are paid through a trust. We expect to make a cash contribution of approximately $70 million 
during the remaining nine months of 2012. We currently expect that required and voluntary contributions for 2013 will be approximately 
$500 million, based on current laws and circumstances. The actual amount of required contributions to our plans in 2013 and beyond will depend 
on earnings on plan investments, discount rates, demographic experience, changes in plans benefits and changes in funding laws and regulations. 

        Certain of our post-retirement health care and life insurance benefits plans are unfunded. Several trusts hold assets that are used to help 
cover the health care costs of certain retirees. As of December 31, 2011, the fair value of the trust assets was $693 million; however, a portion of 
these assets is comprised of investments with restricted liquidity. We estimate that the more liquid assets in the trust will be adequate to provide 
continuing reimbursements for covered post-retirement health care costs for approximately four years, based on current circumstances. 
Thereafter, covered benefits will be paid either directly by us or from the trusts as the remaining assets become liquid. This projected four year 
period could be substantially shorter or longer depending on changes in projected health care costs, returns on plan assets, the timing of 
maturities of illiquid plan assets and future changes in benefits.  

        Our estimated annual long-term rate of return on the pension and post-retirement plans trust assets is 7.5% based on the currently held 
assets; however, actual returns could vary widely in any given year.  

Historical Information  

        The following table summarizes our cash flow activities (which include cash flows from Savvis and Qwest after their respective acquisition 
dates):  

        Net cash provided by operating activities increased primarily due to the acquisition of Qwest and Savvis, which contributed net cash 
provided by operating activities of approximately $784 million and $56 million, respectively. Our consolidated financial statements in Item 1 of 
Part I in this report provide information about the components of net income and differences between net income and net  
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  Three Months Ended March 31, 

       
   

  
Increase /  
(Decrease) 

  
     2012   2011   
     (Dollars in millions)    
Net cash provided by operating activities    $ 1,583     670     913   
Net cash used in investing activities      (663 )   (208 )   (455 ) 
Net cash provided by (used in) financing 

activities      481     (365 )   846   
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cash provided by operating activities. For additional information about our operating results, see "Results of Operations" above.  

        Net cash used in investing activities increased primarily due to the acquisition of Qwest and Savvis, who each invested net cash of 
approximately $426 million and $89 million toward capital expenditures during the three months ended March 31, 2012.  

        Net cash provided by financing activities increased primarily due to approximately $2.0 billion of net proceeds from the issuance of long-
term debt. The increase was partially offset by increases of $846 million and $132 million in the amount of our payments on our long-term debt 
and credit facility, respectively. The increase was also offset by a $230 million increase in dividends paid for during the three months ended 
March 31, 2012 due to an increase in the number of outstanding shares.  

Certain Matters Related to Acquisitions  

        Qwest's pre-existing debt obligations consisted primarily of debt securities issued by QCII and two of its subsidiaries while Savvis' 
remaining debt obligations consist primarily of capital leases, all of which are now included in our consolidated debt balances. The indentures 
governing Qwest's debt securities contain customary covenants that restrict the ability of Qwest or its subsidiaries from making certain payments 
and investments, granting liens and selling or transferring assets. Based on current circumstances, we do not anticipate that these covenants will 
significantly restrict our ability to manage cash balances or transfer cash between entities within our consolidated group of companies as needed. 

        In accounting for the Qwest acquisition, we recognized Qwest's debt securities at their estimated fair values, which totaled $12.292 billion 
as of April 1, 2011. Our acquisition date fair value estimates were based primarily on quoted market prices in active markets and other 
observable inputs where quoted market prices were not available. The fair value of Qwest's debt securities exceeded their stated principal 
balances on the acquisition date by $693 million, which is being recognized as a reduction to interest expense over the remaining terms of the 
debt. Of this $693 million, $28 million was recognized during the three months ended March 31, 2012 and $8 million was extinguished in 
connection with the redemption and tender offer transactions summarized above under "—Debt and Other Financing Arrangements".  

Other Matters  

        We have cash management arrangements with certain of our principal subsidiaries, in which substantial portions of the subsidiaries' cash is 
regularly transferred to us in exchange for matching receivables. In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, these receivables 
are eliminated as intercompany transactions. Although we periodically repay these receivables to fund the subsidiaries' cash requirements 
throughout the year, at any given point in time we may owe a substantial sum to our subsidiaries under these receivables, which is not 
recognized on our consolidated balance sheets.  

        We also are involved in various legal proceedings that could have a material effect on our financial position. See Note 10—Commitment 
and Contingencies for the current status of such legal proceedings, including matters involving Qwest.  

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  

        We have no special purpose or limited purpose entities that provide off-balance sheet financing, liquidity, or market or credit risk support 
and we do not engage in leasing, hedging, or other similar activities that expose us to any significant liabilities that are not (i) reflected on the 
face of the consolidated financial statements or (ii) discussed under the heading "Market Risk" below. There were no substantial changes to our 
off-balance sheet arrangements or contractual obligations in the three  
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months ended March 31, 2012, when compared to the disclosures provided in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 
2011.  

Market Risk  

        We are exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates on our variable rate long-term debt obligations and fluctuations in certain 
foreign currencies. We seek to maintain a favorable mix of fixed and variable rate debt in an effort to limit interest costs and cash flow volatility 
resulting from changes in rates.  

        From time to time, we have used derivative instruments to (i) lock-in or swap our exposure to changing or variable interest rates for fixed 
interest rates or (ii) to swap obligations to pay fixed interest rates for variable interest rates. As of the successor date of March 31, 2012, we had 
no such instruments outstanding.  

        There were no material changes to market risks arising from changes in interest rates for the three months ended March 31, 2012, when 
compared to the disclosures provided in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011.  

Other Information  

        Our website is www.centurylink.com. We routinely post important investor information in the "Investor Relations" section of our website at 
ir.centurylink.com . The information contained on, or that may be accessed through, our website is not part of this quarterly report. You may 
obtain free electronic copies of our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and all 
amendments to those reports in the "Investor Relations" section of our website ( ir.centurylink.com ) under the heading "SEC Filings." These 
reports are available on our website as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file them with the SEC.  

         In addition to historical information, this MD&A includes certain forward-looking statements that are based on current expectations only, 
and are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties and assumptions, many of which are beyond our control. Actual events and results may differ 
materially from those anticipated, estimated or projected if one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or if underlying assumptions 
prove incorrect. Factors that could affect actual results include but are not limited to: the timing, success and overall effects of competition from 
a wide variety of competitive providers; the risks inherent in rapid technological change; the effects of ongoing changes in the regulation of the 
communications industry (including those arising out of the FCC's October 27, 2011 order regarding intercarrier compensation and the USF, 
among other things); our ability to effectively adjust to changes in the communications industry and changes in the composition of our markets 
and product mix caused by our recent acquisitions of Savvis, Qwest and Embarq; our ability to successfully integrate the operations of Savvis, 
Qwest and Embarq into our operations, including the possibility that the anticipated benefits from these acquisitions cannot be fully realized in a 
timely manner or at all, or that integrating the acquired operations will be more difficult, disruptive or costly than anticipated; our ability to use 
net operating loss carryovers of Qwest in projected amounts; the effects of changes in our assignment of the Savvis purchase price to identifiable 
assets or liabilities after the date hereof; our ability to effectively manage our expansion opportunities, including retaining and hiring key 
personnel; possible changes in the demand for, or pricing of, our products and services; our ability to successfully introduce new product or 
service offerings on a timely and cost-effective basis; our continued access to credit markets on favorable terms; our ability to collect our 
receivables from financially troubled communications companies; any adverse developments in legal proceedings involving us; our ability to 
pay a $2.90 per common share dividend annually, which may be affected by changes in our cash requirements, capital spending plans, cash 
flows or financial position; unanticipated increases or other changes in our future cash requirements, whether caused by unanticipated 
increases in capital expenditures, increases in pension funding requirements or otherwise; our ability to  
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successfully negotiate collective bargaining agreements on reasonable terms without work stoppages; the effects of adverse weather; other risks 
referenced from time to time in this report (including in "Risk Factors" in Item 1A of Part II of this report) or other of our filings with the SEC; 
and the effects of more general factors such as changes in interest rates, in tax rates, in accounting policies or practices, in operating, medical, 
pension or administrative costs, in general market, labor or economic conditions, or in legislation, regulation or public policy. These and other 
uncertainties related to our business, our July 2011 acquisition of Savvis, and our April 2011 acquisition of Qwest are described in greater 
detail in Item 1A of our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011, as updated and supplemented by our subsequent SEC reports, 
including this report. You should be aware that new factors may emerge from time to time and it is not possible for us to identify all such factors 
nor can we predict the impact of each such factor on the business or the extent to which any one or more factors may cause actual results to 
differ from those reflected in any forward-looking statements. You are further cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking 
statements, which speak only as of the date of this report. We undertake no obligation to update any of our forward-looking statements for any 
reason.  
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ITEM 3.    QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES  ABOUT MARKET RISK  

        See "Liquidity and Capital Resources—Market Risk" in Item 2 above for quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk.  

ITEM 4.    CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES  

Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures  

        The effectiveness of our or any system of disclosure controls and procedures is subject to certain limitations, including the exercise of 
judgment in designing, implementing and evaluating the controls and procedures, the assumptions used in identifying the likelihood of future 
events and the inability to eliminate misconduct completely. As a result, there can be no assurance that our disclosure controls and procedures 
will detect all errors or fraud. By their nature, our or any system of disclosure controls and procedures can provide only reasonable assurance 
regarding management's control objectives.  

        Our Chief Executive Officer, Glen F. Post, III, and our Chief Financial Officer, R. Stewart Ewing, Jr., have evaluated the design and 
operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or the 
"Exchange Act") as of March 31, 2012. Based on that evaluation, Messrs. Post and Ewing concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures 
are designed, and are effective, to provide reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file 
under the Exchange Act is timely recorded, processed, summarized and reported and to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the 
reports that we file or furnish under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including Messrs. Post and Ewing, 
in a manner that allows timely decisions regarding required disclosure. There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting 
during the first quarter of 2012 that materially affected, or that we believe is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over 
financial reporting.  
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION  

ITEM 1.    LEGAL PROCEEDINGS  

        The information contained in Note 10—Commitments and Contingencies included in Item 1 of Part I of this report is incorporated herein by 
reference.  

ITEM 1A.    RISK FACTORS  

        Any of the following risks could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, liquidity or 
prospects. The risks described below are not the only risks facing us. Please be aware that additional risks and uncertainties not currently known 
to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial could also materially and adversely affect our business operations.  

Risks Affecting Our Business  

Increasing competition, including product substitution, continues to cause access line losses, which has adversely affected and could 
continue to adversely affect our operating results and financial condition.  

        We compete in a rapidly evolving and highly competitive market, and we expect competition to continue to intensify. We are facing greater 
competition from cable companies, wireless providers, broadband companies, resellers and sales agents (including ourselves) and facilities-based 
providers using their own networks as well as those leasing parts of our network. In addition, regulatory developments over the past several 
years have generally increased competitive pressures on our business. Due to some of these and other factors, we continue to lose access lines.  

        Some of our current and potential competitors (i) offer a more comprehensive range of communications products and services, (ii) have 
market presence, engineering and technical capabilities, and financial and other resources greater than ours, (iii) own larger and more diverse 
networks, (iv) conduct operations or raise capital at a lower cost than us, (v) are subject to less regulation, (vi) offer greater online content or 
(vii) have substantially stronger brand names. Consequently, these competitors may be better equipped to charge lower prices for their products 
and services, to provide more attractive offerings, to develop and expand their communications and network infrastructures more quickly, to 
adapt more swiftly to new or emerging technologies and changes in customer requirements, and to devote greater resources to the marketing and 
sale of their products and services.  

        Competition could adversely impact us in several ways, including (i) the loss of customers and market share, (ii) the possibility of 
customers reducing their usage of our services or shifting to less profitable services, (iii) reduced traffic on our networks, (iv) our need to expend 
substantial time or money on new capital improvement projects, (v) our need to lower prices or increase marketing expenses to remain 
competitive and (vi) our inability to diversify by successfully offering new products or services.  

        We are continually taking steps to respond to these competitive pressures, but these efforts may not be successful. Our operating results and 
financial condition would be adversely affected if these initiatives are unsuccessful or insufficient and if we otherwise are unable to sufficiently 
stem or offset our continuing access line losses and our revenue declines significantly without corresponding cost reductions. If this occurred, 
our ability to service debt and pay other obligations would also be adversely affected.  

Our legacy services continue to generate declining revenues, and our efforts to offset these declines may not be successful.  

        The telephone industry has experienced a decline in access lines and network access revenues, which, coupled with the other changes 
resulting from competitive, technological and regulatory  
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developments, continue to place downward pressure on the revenues we generate from our legacy services.  

        We have taken a variety of steps to counter these declines, including:  

•  an increased focus on selling a broader range of strategic services, including broadband, video (including resold satellite and our 
facilities-based video services) and wireless voice services provided by Verizon Wireless;  
 

•  greater use of service bundles; and  
 

•  acquisitions to increase our scale and strengthen our product offerings, including new products and services provided by our 
Savvis operations.  

        However, some of these strategic services generate lower profit margins than our traditional services, and some can be expected to 
experience slowing growth as increasing numbers of our existing or potential customers subscribe to these newer products. Moreover, we cannot 
assure you that the revenues generated from our new offerings will offset revenue losses associated from reduced sales of our legacy products. 
Similarly, we cannot assure you that our new service offerings will be as successful as anticipated, or that we will be able to continue to grow 
through acquisitions. In addition, our reliance on services provided by others could constrain our flexibility, as described further below.  

Our future results will suffer if we do not effectively adjust to changes in our business, and will further suffer if we do not effectively manage 
our expanded operations.  

        The above-described changes in our industry have placed a higher premium on marketing, technological, engineering and provisioning 
skills. Our recent acquisitions also significantly changed the composition of our markets and product mix. Our future success depends, in part, on 
our ability to retrain our staff to acquire or strengthen skills necessary to address these changes, and, where necessary, to attract and retain new 
personnel that possess these skills.  

Unfavorable general economic conditions could negatively impact our operating results and financial condition.  

        Unfavorable general economic conditions, including the unstable economy and the current credit market environment, could negatively 
affect our business. Worldwide economic growth has been sluggish since 2008, and many experts believe that a confluence of factors in the 
United States, Europe and developing countries may result in a prolonged period of economic downturn, slow growth or economic uncertainty. 
While it is difficult to predict the ultimate impact of these general economic conditions, these conditions could adversely affect the affordability 
of and consumer demand for some of our products and services and could cause customers to shift to lower priced products and services or to 
delay or forgo purchases of our products and services. Any one or more of these circumstances could cause our revenues to continue declining. 
Also, our customers may encounter financial hardships or may not be able to obtain adequate access to credit, which could affect their ability to 
make timely payments to us. In addition, as discussed below, unstable economic and credit markets may preclude us from refinancing maturing 
debt at terms that are as favorable as those from which we previously benefited, at terms that are acceptable to us or at all. For these reasons, 
among others, if the current economic conditions persist or decline, this could adversely affect our operating results and financial condition, as 
well as our ability to raise capital.  

We may need to defend ourselves against claims that we infringe upon others' intellectual property rights, or may need to seek third-party 
licenses to expand our product offerings.  

        From time to time, we receive notices from third parties or are named in lawsuits filed by third parties claiming we have infringed or are 
infringing upon their intellectual property rights. We may  
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receive similar notices or be involved in similar lawsuits in the future. Responding to these claims may require us to expend significant time and 
money defending our use of affected technology, may require us to enter into licensing agreements requiring royalty payments that we would not 
otherwise have to pay or may require us to pay damages. If we are required to take one or more of these actions, our profit margins may decline. 
In addition, in responding to these claims, we may be required to stop selling or redesign one or more of our products or services, which could 
significantly and adversely affect the way we conduct business.  

        Similarly, from time to time, we may need to obtain the right to use certain patents or other intellectual property from third parties to be able 
to offer new products and services. If we cannot license or otherwise obtain rights to use any required technology from a third party on 
reasonable terms, our ability to offer new products and services may be restricted, made more costly or delayed.  

Our reseller and sales agency arrangements expose us to a number of risks, one or more of which may adversely affect our business and 
operating results.  

        We rely on reseller and sales agency arrangements with other companies to provide some of the services that we sell to our customers, 
including video services and wireless products and services. If we fail to extend or renegotiate these arrangements as they expire from time to 
time or if these other companies fail to fulfill their contractual obligations to us or our customers, we may have difficulty finding alternative 
arrangements and our customers may experience disruptions to their services. In addition, as a reseller or sales agent, we do not control the 
availability, retail price, design, function, quality, reliability, customer service or branding of these products and services, nor do we directly 
control all of the marketing and promotion of these products and services. To the extent that these other companies make decisions that 
negatively impact our ability to market and sell their products and services, our business plans and goals and our reputation could be negatively 
impacted. If these reseller and sales agency arrangements are unsuccessful due to one or more of these risks, our business and operating results 
may be adversely affected.  

We could be harmed by security breaches, damages or other significant disruptions or failures of our networks, IT infrastructure or related 
systems, or of those we operate for certain of our customers.  

        To be successful, we will need to continue providing our customers with a high capacity, reliable and secure network. We face the risk, as 
does any company, of a security breach, whether through cyber attack, malware, computer viruses, sabotage, or other significant disruption of 
our IT infrastructure and related systems (including our billing systems). As a communications and IT company, we face an added risk of a 
security breach or other significant disruption of our public networks or IT infrastructure and related systems that we develop, install, operate 
and maintain for certain of our business and governmental customers. Moreover, as a communications and IT company, we face a heightened 
risk of a security breach or disruption from unauthorized access to our and our customers' proprietary or classified information on our public 
networks or internal systems or the systems that we operate and maintain for certain of our customers.  

        Although we make significant efforts to maintain the security and integrity of these types of information and systems, there can be no 
assurance that our security efforts and measures will be effective or that attempted security breaches or disruptions would not be successful or 
damaging, especially in light of the growing sophistication of cyber attacks and intrusions. We may be unable to anticipate all potential types of 
attacks or intrusions or to implement adequate security barriers or other preventative measures.  

        Additional risks to our network and infrastructure include:  

•  power losses or physical damage, whether caused by fire, adverse weather conditions, terrorism or otherwise;  
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•  capacity limitations;  
 

•  software and hardware defects or malfunctions;  
 

•  programming, processing and other human error; and  
 

•  other disruptions that are beyond our control.  

        Network disruptions, security breaches and other significant failures of the above-described systems could:  

•  disrupt the proper functioning of these networks and systems and therefore our operations or those of certain of our customers;  
 

•  result in the unauthorized access to, and destruction, loss, theft, misappropriation or release of proprietary, confidential, sensitive 
or otherwise valuable information of ours, our customers or our customers' end-users, including trade secrets, which others could 
use for competitive, disruptive, destructive or otherwise harmful purposes and outcomes;  
 

•  require significant management attention or financial resources to remedy the damages that result or to change our systems;  
 

•  subject us to claims for contract breach, damages, credits, fines, penalties, termination or other remedies, particularly with respect 
to service standards set by state regulatory commissions; or  
 

•  result in a loss of business, damage our reputation among our customers and the public generally, subject us to additional 
regulatory scrutiny or expose us to litigation.  

        Likewise, our ability to expand and update our information technology infrastructure in response to our growth and changing needs is 
important to the continued implementation of our new service offering initiatives. Our inability to expand or upgrade our technology 
infrastructure could have adverse consequences, which could include the delayed implementation of new service offerings, increased acquisition 
integration costs, service or billing interruptions, and the diversion of development resources.  

        Any or all of the foregoing developments could have a negative impact on our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.  

Rapid changes in technology and markets could require substantial expenditure of financial and other resources in excess of contemplated 
levels, and any inability to respond to those changes could reduce our market share and adversely affect our operating results and financial 
condition.  

        The communications industry is experiencing significant technological changes, many of which are reducing demand for our traditional 
voice services or are enabling our current customers to reduce or bypass use of our networks. Similarly, the information technology services 
industry is responding to rapid changes in technologies. Further technological change could require us to expend capital or other resources in 
excess of currently contemplated levels, or to forego the development or provision of products or services that others can provide more 
efficiently. If we are not able to develop new products and services to keep pace with technological advances, or if those products and services 
are not widely accepted by customers, our ability to compete could be adversely affected and our market share could decline. Any inability to 
keep up with changes in technology and markets could also adversely affect our operating results and financial condition, as well as our ability to 
service debt and pay other obligations.  
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Consolidation among other participants in the telecommunications industry may allow our competitors to compete more effectively against 
us, which could adversely affect our operating results and financial condition.  

        The telecommunications industry has experienced substantial consolidation over the last 10-15 years, and some of our competitors have 
combined with other telecommunications providers, resulting in competitors that are larger, have more financial and business resources, and 
have broader service offerings. Further consolidation could increase competitive pressures, and could adversely affect our operating results and 
financial condition, as well as our ability to service debt and pay other obligations.  

We have a significant amount of goodwill and other intangible assets on our balance sheet. If our goodwill or other intangible assets become 
impaired, we may be required to record a significant charge to earnings and reduce our stockholders' equity.  

        Under generally accepted accounting principles, intangible assets are reviewed for impairment on an annual basis or more frequently 
whenever events or circumstances indicate that its carrying value may not be recoverable. If our intangible assets are determined to be impaired 
in the future, we may be required to record a significant, non-cash charge to earnings during the period in which the impairment is determined.  

We cannot assure you that we will be able to continue paying dividends at the current rate.  

        Based on current circumstances, we plan to continue our current dividend practices. However, you should be aware that these practices are 
subject to change for reasons that may include any of the following factors:  

•  we may not have enough cash to pay such dividends due to changes in our cash requirements, capital spending plans, cash flows 
or financial position;  
 

•  decisions on whether, when and in which amounts to make any future distributions will remain at all times entirely at the 
discretion of our Board of Directors, which reserves the right to change our dividend practices at any time and for any reason;  
 

•  the effects of regulatory reform, including any changes to intercarrier compensation, Universal Service Fund or special access 
rules;  
 

•  our desire to maintain or improve the credit ratings on our debt;  
 

•  the amount of dividends that we may distribute to our shareholders is subject to restrictions under Louisiana law and is limited by 
restricted payment and leverage covenants in our credit facilities and, potentially, the terms of any future indebtedness that we 
may incur; and  
 

•  the amount of dividends that our subsidiaries may distribute to us is subject to restrictions imposed by state law, restrictions that 
have been or may be imposed by state regulators in connection with obtaining necessary approvals for our recent acquisitions, and 
restrictions imposed by the terms of credit facilities applicable to certain subsidiaries and, potentially, the terms of any future 
indebtedness that these subsidiaries may incur.  

        Our Board of Directors is free to change or suspend our dividend practices at any time. Our common shareholders should be aware that they 
have no contractual or other legal right to dividends.  

Our current dividend practices could limit our ability to pursue growth opportunities.  

        The current practice of our Board of Directors to pay an annual $2.90 per common share dividend reflects an intention to distribute to our 
shareholders a substantial portion of our cash flow. As a result, we may not retain a sufficient amount of cash to finance a material expansion of 
our business in the  
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future. In addition, our ability to pursue any material expansion of our business, through acquisitions or increased capital spending will depend 
more than it otherwise would on our ability to obtain third party financing. We cannot assure you that such financing will be available to us at 
terms that are as favorable as those from which we previously benefited, at terms that are acceptable to us or at all.  

We rely on a limited number of key suppliers, vendors, landlords and other third parties to operate our business.  

        We depend on a limited number of suppliers and vendors for equipment and services relating to our network infrastructure. Our local 
exchange carrier networks consist of central office and remote sites, all with advanced digital switches. If any of these suppliers experience 
interruptions or other problems delivering or servicing these network components on a timely basis, our operations could suffer significantly. To 
the extent that proprietary technology of a supplier is an integral component of our network, we may have limited flexibility to purchase key 
network components from alternative suppliers. Similarly, our data center operations are materially reliant on leasing significant amounts of 
space from landlords and substantial amounts of power from utility companies, and being able to renew these arrangements from time to time on 
favorable terms. In addition, we rely on a limited number of software vendors to support our business management systems. In the event it 
becomes necessary to seek alternative suppliers and vendors, we may be unable to obtain satisfactory replacement supplies, services, space or 
utilities on economically attractive terms, on a timely basis, or at all, which could increase costs or cause disruptions in our services.  

Portions of our property, plant and equipment are located on property owned by third parties.  

        Over the past few years, certain utilities, cooperatives and municipalities in certain of the states in which we operate have requested 
significant rate increases for attaching our plant to their facilities. To the extent that these entities are successful in increasing the amount we pay 
for these attachments, our future operating costs will increase.  

        In addition, we rely on rights-of-way, colocation agreements and other authorizations granted by governmental bodies and other third 
parties to locate our cable, conduit and other network equipment on their respective properties. If any of these authorizations terminate or lapse, 
our operations could be adversely affected.  

We depend on key members of our senior management team.  

        Our success depends largely on the skills, experience and performance of a limited number of senior officers. Competition for senior 
management in our industry is intense and we may have difficulty retaining our current senior officers or attracting new ones in the event of 
terminations or resignations. For a discussion of similar retention concerns relating to our recent mergers, please see the risks described below 
under the heading "Risks Relating to Our Recent Acquisitions."  

As a holding company, we rely on payments from our operating companies to meet our obligations.  

        As a holding company, substantially all of our income and operating cash flow is dependent upon the earnings of our subsidiaries and their 
distribution of those earnings to us in the form of dividends, loans or other payments. As a result, we rely upon our subsidiaries to generate the 
funds necessary to meet our obligations, including the payment of amounts owed under our long-term debt. Our subsidiaries are separate and 
distinct legal entities and have no obligation to pay any amounts owed by us or, subject to limited exceptions for tax-sharing or cash 
management purposes, to make any funds available to us to repay our obligations, whether by dividends, loans or other payments. Certain of our 
subsidiaries may be restricted under loan agreements or regulatory orders from transferring funds to us, including certain restrictions on the 
amount of dividends that may be paid to us. Moreover, our rights  
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to receive assets of any subsidiary upon its liquidation or reorganization will be effectively subordinated to the claims of creditors of that 
subsidiary, including trade creditors. The notes to our consolidated financial statements included in this report describe these matters in 
additional detail.  

Risks Relating to our Recent Acquisitions  

We expect to incur substantial expenses related to the integration of Qwest and Savvis.  

        We have incurred, and expect to continue to incur, substantial expenses in connection with the integration of Qwest's and Savvis' business, 
operations, networks, systems, technologies, policies and procedures with our own. There are a large number of systems that need to be 
integrated, including billing, management information, purchasing, accounting and finance, sales, payroll and benefits, fixed asset, lease 
administration and regulatory compliance. While we have assumed that a certain level of transaction and integration expenses will be incurred, 
there are a number of factors beyond our control that could affect the total amount or the timing of our integration expenses. Many of the 
expenses that will be incurred, by their nature, are difficult to estimate accurately at the present time. Moreover, we commenced some of these 
integration initiatives before we completed our integration of Embarq, which we acquired in 2009. This has delayed some of our pending 
integration initiatives, and increased their cost and complexity. Due to these factors, we expect the integration expenses associated with our 
acquisitions to exceed in the near term our anticipated post-acquisition integration savings resulting from the elimination of duplicative expenses 
and the realization of economies of scale, many of which cannot be attained until several years after the acquisition. These acquisition-related 
expenses continue to reduce our earnings. These charges have been, and are expected to continue to be, significant, although the aggregate 
amount and timing of these charges are still uncertain.  

We may be unable to integrate successfully the Legacy CenturyLink, Qwest and Savvis businesses and realize the anticipated benefits of the 
acquisitions.  

        The Qwest and Savvis acquisitions involved the combination of companies which previously operated as independent public companies. 
We have devoted, and will continue to devote, significant management attention and resources to integrating the business practices and 
operations of Legacy CenturyLink, Qwest and Savvis. We may encounter difficulties in the integration process, including the following:  

•  the inability to successfully combine our businesses in a manner that permits the combined company to achieve the cost savings 
and operating synergies anticipated to result from the acquisitions, either due to technological challenges, personnel shortages, 
strikes or otherwise, any of which would result in the anticipated benefits of the acquisitions not being realized partly or wholly in 
the time frame currently anticipated or at all;  
 

•  lost sales as a result of customers of any of the three companies deciding not to do business with the combined company;  
 

•  the complexities associated with managing the combined businesses out of several different locations and integrating personnel 
from the three companies, while at the same time attempting to provide consistent, high quality products and services under a 
unified culture;  
 

•  the additional complexities of combining companies with different histories, regulatory restrictions, marketing strategies, product 
markets and customer bases, and initiating this process before we had fully completed the integration of our operations with those 
of Embarq;  
 

•  the failure to retain key employees, some of whom could be critical to integrating the companies;  

55  



Table of Contents  

•  potential unknown liabilities and unforeseen increased expenses or regulatory conditions associated with the acquisitions; and  
 

•  performance shortfalls at one or all of the companies as a result of the diversion of management's attention caused by integrating 
the companies' operations.  

        For all these reasons, you should be aware that it is possible that the integration process could result in the distraction of our management, 
the disruption of our ongoing business or inconsistencies in our products, services, standards, controls, procedures and policies, any of which 
could adversely affect our ability to maintain relationships with customers, vendors and employees or to achieve the anticipated benefits of our 
recent acquisitions, or could otherwise adversely affect our business and financial results.  

Our final determinations of the acquisition date fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired from Savvis may be significantly different 
from our current estimates, which could have a material adverse effect on our operating results.  

        We have recognized the assets and liabilities of Savvis based on our preliminary estimates of the acquisition date fair values. The 
determination of the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed (and the related determination of estimated lives of depreciable 
tangible and identifiable intangible assets) requires significant judgment. As such, we have not completed our valuation analysis and calculations 
in sufficient detail necessary to arrive at the final estimates of the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, along with the related 
allocations to goodwill and intangible assets. As such, all information presented in this report is preliminary and subject to revision pending the 
final valuation analysis. We expect to complete our final fair value determinations no later than the second quarter of 2012. Our final fair value 
determinations may be significantly different than those reflected in this report, which could have a material adverse effect on our operating 
results.  

The Qwest and Embarq acquisitions changed the profile of our local exchange markets to include more large urban areas, with which we 
have limited operating experience.  

        Prior to the Embarq acquisition, we provided local exchange telephone services to predominantly rural areas and small to mid-size cities. 
Embarq's local exchange markets included Las Vegas, Nevada and suburbs of Orlando and several other large U.S. cities, and we have operated 
these more dense markets only since mid-2009. Qwest's markets included Phoenix, Arizona, Denver, Colorado, Minneapolis-St. Paul, 
Minnesota, Seattle, Washington, Salt Lake City, Utah, and Portland, Oregon. Compared to our legacy markets, these urban markets, on average, 
are substantially denser and have experienced greater access line losses in recent years. While we believe our strategies and operating models 
developed serving rural and smaller markets can successfully be applied to larger markets, we cannot assure you of this. Our business, financial 
performance and prospects could be harmed if our current strategies or operating models cannot be successfully applied to larger markets, or are 
required to be changed or abandoned to adjust to differences in these larger markets.  

We cannot assure you whether, when or in what amounts we will be able to use Qwest's and Savvis' net operating losses.  

        At December 31, 2011, we had approximately $6.2 billion of federal net operating losses, or NOLs, of which, approximately $5.6 billion 
and $212 million relate to pre-acquisition losses of Qwest and Savvis, respectively. These NOLs can be used to offset our future federal and 
certain taxable income.  

        The acquisition of Qwest and Savvis caused an "ownership change" under federal tax laws relating to the use of NOLs. As a result, these 
laws could limit our ability to use their NOLs and certain other deferred tax attributes. Further limitations could apply if we are deemed to 
undergo an ownership change in the future. Despite this, we expect to use substantially all of these NOLs and certain other deferred tax attributes 
as an offset to our federal future taxable income by 2015, although the timing of that use will depend upon the consolidated group's future 
earnings and future tax circumstances.  
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Our acquisitions have increased our exposure to the risks of fluctuations in energy costs, power outages and limited availability of electrical 
resources.  

        Through the acquisitions of Qwest and Savvis, we have added a significant number of data center facilities, which are susceptible to 
regional costs and supply of power and electrical power outages. We attempt to limit exposure to system downtime by using backup generators 
and power supplies. However, we may not be able to limit our exposure entirely even with these protections in place. In addition, our energy 
costs can fluctuate significantly or increase for a variety of reasons, including changes in legislation and regulation. Several pending proposals 
designed to reduce greenhouse emissions could substantially increase our energy costs. As energy costs increase, we may not always be able to 
pass on the increased costs of energy to our clients, which could harm our business. Power and cooling requirements at our data centers are also 
increasing as a result of the increasing power demands of today's servers. Since we rely on third parties to provide our data centers with power 
sufficient to meet our clients' power needs, our data centers could have a limited or inadequate amount of electrical resources. Our clients' 
demand for power may also exceed the power capacity in older data centers, which may limit our ability to fully utilize these data centers. This 
could adversely affect our relationships with our clients and hinder our ability to run our data centers, which could harm our business.  

Our inability to renew data center leases, or renew on favorable terms, could have a negative impact on our financial results.  

        A significant majority of the data centers we acquired in the Qwest and Savvis acquisitions are leased and have lease terms that expire 
between 2012 and 2031. The majority of these leases provide us with the opportunity to renew the lease at our option for periods generally 
ranging from five to ten years. Many of these renewal options, however, provide that rent for the renewal period will be equal to the fair market 
rental rate at the time of renewal. If the fair market rental rates are significantly higher than our current rental rates, we may be unable to offset 
these costs by charging more for our services, which could have a negative impact on our financial results. Also, it is possible that a landlord 
may insist on other financially unfavorable renewal terms or, where no further option to renew exists, elect not to renew altogether.  

Our acquisitions of Qwest and Savvis have increased our exposure to the risks of operating internationally.  

        Prior to acquiring Qwest on April 1, 2011, substantially all of our operations were historically conducted within the continental United 
States. Although Qwest has historically conducted some operations overseas, the acquisition of Savvis has increased the importance of 
international operations to our future operations, growth and prospects.  

        As a result of our recent acquisitions, our non-domestic operations are subject to varying degrees of regulation in each of the foreign 
jurisdictions in which we provide services. Local laws and regulations, and their interpretation and enforcement, differ significantly among those 
jurisdictions, and can change significantly over time. Future regulatory, judicial and legislative changes or interpretations may have a material 
adverse effect on our ability to deliver services within various foreign jurisdictions. Many of these foreign laws and regulations relating to 
communications services are more restrictive than U.S. laws and regulations, particularly those relating to content distributed over the Internet. 
For example, the European Union has enacted a data retention system that, once implemented by individual member states, will involve 
requirements to retain certain Internet protocol, or IP, data that could have an impact on our operations in Europe. Moreover, national regulatory 
frameworks that are consistent with the policies and requirements of the World Trade Organization have only recently been, or are still being, 
enacted in many countries. Accordingly, many countries are still in the early stages of providing for and adapting to a liberalized 
telecommunications market. As a result, in these markets we  
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may encounter more protracted and difficult procedures to obtain licenses necessary to provide the full set of products we offer.  

        In addition to these international regulatory risks, some of the other risks inherent in conducting business internationally include:  

•  tax, licensing, currency, political or other business restrictions or requirements;  
 

•  import and export restrictions;  
 

•  longer payment cycles and problems collecting accounts receivable;  
 

•  additional U.S. and other regulation of non-domestic operations, including regulation under the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or 
FCPA, as well as other anti-corruption laws;  
 

•  fluctuations in currency exchange rates;  
 

•  the ability to secure and maintain the necessary physical and telecommunications infrastructure; and  
 

•  challenges in staffing and managing foreign operations.  

        Any one or more of these factors could adversely affect our international operations.  

        Moreover, in order to effectively compete in certain foreign jurisdictions, it is frequently necessary or required to establish joint ventures, 
strategic alliances or marketing arrangements with local operators, partners or agents. Reliance on local operators, partners or agents could 
expose us to the risk of being unable to control the scope or quality of our overseas services or products, or being held liable under the FCPA or 
other anti-corruption laws for actions taken by our strategic or local partners or agents even though these partners or agents may not themselves 
be subject to the FCPA or other applicable anti-corruption laws. Any determination that we have violated the FCPA or other anti-corruption laws 
could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, reputation or prospects.  

Risks Relating to Legal and Regulatory Matters  

Any adverse outcome of the KPNQwest litigation, or other material litigation of Qwest, Savvis or CenturyLink could have a material adverse 
impact on our financial condition and operating results, on the trading price of our securities and on our ability to access the capital 
markets.  

        As described in Note 10—Commitments and Contingencies to our consolidated financial statements in Item 1 of Part I of this report, the 
KPNQwest matters present material and significant risks to us. In the aggregate, the plaintiffs in the KPNQwest matters seek billions of euros 
(equating to billions of dollars) in damages. We continue to defend against these matters vigorously and are currently unable to provide any 
estimate as to the timing of their resolution.  

        We can give no assurance as to the impacts on our financial results or financial condition that may ultimately result from these matters. The 
ultimate outcomes of these matters are still uncertain, and substantial settlements or judgments in these matters could have a significant impact 
on us. The magnitude of such settlements or judgments resulting from these matters could materially and adversely affect our financial condition 
and ability to meet our debt obligations, potentially impacting our credit ratings, our ability to access capital markets and our compliance with 
debt covenants. In addition, the magnitude of any such settlements or judgments may cause us to draw down significantly on our cash balances, 
which might force us to obtain additional financing or explore other methods to generate cash. Such methods could include issuing additional 
debt securities or selling assets.  

        There are other material proceedings pending against us, as described in Note 10—Commitments and Contingencies to our consolidated 
financial statements in Item 1 of Part I of this report.  
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Depending on their outcome, any of these matters could have a material adverse effect on our financial position or operating results. We can give 
you no assurances as to the impact of these matters on our operating results or financial condition.  

We operate in a highly regulated industry and are therefore exposed to restrictions on our manner of doing business and a variety of claims 
relating to such regulation.  

        General.     We are subject to significant regulation by the Federal Communications Commission ("FCC"), which regulates interstate 
communications, and state utility commissions, which regulate intrastate communications. Generally, we must obtain and maintain certificates of 
authority from the FCC and regulatory bodies in most states where we offer regulated services, and we are subject to numerous, and often quite 
detailed, requirements and interpretations under federal, state and local laws, rules and regulations. Accordingly, we cannot ensure that we are 
always considered to be in compliance with all these requirements at any single point in time. The agencies responsible for the enforcement of 
these laws, rules and regulations may initiate inquiries or actions based on customer complaints or on their own initiative.  

        Regulation of the telecommunications industry is changing rapidly, and the regulatory environment varies substantially from jurisdiction to 
jurisdiction. Notwithstanding a recent movement towards alternative regulation, a substantial portion of our local voice services revenue remains 
subject to FCC and state utility commission pricing regulation, which periodically exposes us to pricing or earnings disputes and could expose us 
to unanticipated price declines. Interexchange carriers have filed complaints in various forums requesting reductions in our access rates. In 
addition, several long distance providers are disputing amounts owed to us for carrying VoIP traffic, or traffic they claim to be VoIP traffic, and 
are refusing to pay such amounts. There can be no assurance that future regulatory, judicial or legislative activities will not have a material 
adverse effect on our operations, or that regulators or third parties will not raise material issues with regard to our compliance or noncompliance 
with applicable regulations.  

        Risks associated with recent changes in federal regulation.     On October 27, 2011, the FCC adopted the Connect America and 
Intercarrier Compensation Reform order ("CAF order") intended to reform the existing regulatory regime to recognize ongoing shifts to new 
technologies, including VoIP, and gradually re-direct universal service funding to foster nationwide broadband coverage. This initial ruling 
provides for a multi-year transition over the next decade as intercarrier compensation charges are reduced, universal service funding is explicitly 
targeted to broadband deployment, and subscriber line charges paid by end user customers are gradually increased. These changes will 
substantially increase the pace of reductions in the amount of switched access revenues we receive in our wholesale markets segment, while 
creating opportunities for increases in federal USF and retail revenue streams. The ultimate effect of this order on communications companies is 
largely dependent on future FCC proceedings designed to implement the order, the most significant of which are scheduled to be determined in 
2012 and 2013. Several judicial challenges to the CAF order are pending and additional future challenges are possible, any of which could alter 
or delay the FCC's proposed changes. In addition, based on the outcome of the FCC proceedings, various state commissions may consider 
changes to their universal service funds or intrastate access rates. For these reasons, we cannot predict the ultimate impact of these proceedings 
at this time.  

        Under other pending proceedings, the FCC may implement changes in the regulation or pricing of special access services, any of which 
could adversely affect our operations or financial results.  

        Risks posed by costs of regulatory compliance.     Regulations continue to create significant compliance costs for us. Challenges to our 
tariffs by regulators or third parties or delays in obtaining certifications and regulatory approvals could cause us to incur substantial legal and 
administrative expenses, and, if successful, such challenges could adversely affect the rates that we are able to charge  
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our customers. Our business also may be impacted by legislation and regulation imposing new or greater obligations related to regulations or 
laws related to broadband deployment, bolstering homeland security, increasing disaster recovery requirements, minimizing environmental 
impacts, enhancing privacy, or addressing other issues that impact our business, including the Communications Assistance for Law Enforcement 
Act (which requires communications carriers to ensure that their equipment, facilities, and services are able to facilitate authorized electronic 
surveillance), and laws governing local number portability and customer proprietary network information requirements. We expect our 
compliance costs to increase if future laws or regulations continue to increase our obligations to assist other governmental agencies.  

        Risks posed by other regulations.     All of our operations are also subject to a variety of environmental, safety, health and other 
governmental regulations. We monitor our compliance with federal, state and local regulations governing the management, discharge and 
disposal of hazardous and environmentally sensitive materials. Although we believe that we are in compliance with these regulations, our 
management, discharge or disposal of hazardous and environmentally sensitive materials might expose us to claims or actions that could have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results.  

Regulatory changes in the communications industry could adversely affect our business by facilitating greater competition against us.  

        Beginning in 1996, Congress and the FCC have taken several steps that have resulted in increased competition among communications 
service providers. Many of the FCC's regulations remain subject to judicial review and additional rulemakings, thus making it difficult to predict 
what effect any changes in interpretation of the Telecommunications Act of 1996 may ultimately have on us and our competitors. We could be 
adversely affected by programs or initiatives recently undertaken by Congress or the FCC, including (i) the federal broadband stimulus projects 
authorized by Congress in 2009; (ii) the FCC's 2010 National Broadband Plan; (iii) new "network neutrality" rules; (iv) the proposed broadband 
"Connect America" replacement support fund, and (v) the FCC's above-described October 27, 2011 order.  

We may be liable for the material that content providers distribute over our network.  

        The law relating to the liability of private network operators for information carried on, stored or disseminated through their networks is 
still unsettled. As such, we could be exposed to legal claims relating to content disseminated on our networks. Claims could challenge the 
accuracy of materials on our network, or could involve matters such as defamation, invasion of privacy or copyright infringement. If we need to 
take costly measures to reduce our exposure to these risks, or are required to defend ourselves against such claims, our financial results could be 
negatively affected.  

We are subject to significant regulations that limit our flexibility.  

        As a diversified full service ILEC, we have traditionally been subject to significant regulation that does not apply to many of our 
competitors. This regulation imposes substantial compliance costs on us and restricts our ability to change rates, to compete and to respond 
rapidly to changing industry conditions. As our business becomes increasingly competitive, regulatory disparities between us and our 
competitors could impede our ability to compete.  

We are subject to franchising requirements that could impede our expansion opportunities.  

        We may be required to obtain from municipal authorities operating franchises to install or expand facilities. Some of these franchises may 
require us to pay franchise fees. These franchising requirements generally apply to our fiber transport and CLEC operations, and to our emerging 
switched digital  
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television. These requirements could delay us in expanding our operations or increase the costs of providing these services.  

We are exposed to risks arising out of recent legislation affecting U.S. public companies.  

        Changing laws, regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure, including the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the 
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, and related regulations implemented by the SEC, the New York Stock Exchange 
and the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, are increasing legal and financial compliance costs and making some activities more time 
consuming. Any future failure to successfully or timely complete annual assessments of our internal controls required by Section 404 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act could subject us to sanctions or investigation by regulatory authorities. Any such action could adversely affect our financial 
results or investors' confidence in us.  

        For a more thorough discussion of the regulatory issues that may affect our business, see Item 1 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 
year ended December 31, 2011.  

Risks Affecting our Liquidity  

Our high debt levels pose risks to our viability and may make us more vulnerable to adverse economic and competitive conditions, as well as 
other adverse developments.  

        We continue to carry significant debt. As of March 31, 2012, our consolidated debt was approximately $22.9 billion. Approximately 
$5.5 billion of our debt obligations comes due over the next three years. While we currently believe that we will have the financial resources to 
meet or refinance our obligations when they come due, we cannot fully anticipate our future condition or the condition of the credit markets or 
the economy generally. We may have unexpected expenses and liabilities, and we may have limited access to financing.  

        We expect to periodically require financing to meet our debt obligations as they come due. Due to the unstable economy and the current 
credit market environment, we may not be able to refinance maturing debt at terms that are as favorable as those from which we previously 
benefited, at terms that are acceptable to us or at all. We may also need to obtain additional financing or investigate other methods to generate 
cash (such as further cost reductions or the sale of assets) if revenues and cash provided by operations decline, if economic conditions weaken, if 
competitive pressures increase, if we are required to contribute a material amount of cash to our collective pension plans, if we are required to 
begin to pay other post-retirement benefits significantly earlier than is anticipated, if we become subject to significant judgments or settlements 
in one or more of the matters discussed in Note 10—Commitments and Contingencies to our consolidated financial statements in Item 1 of Part I 
of this report, or if we engage in any acquisitions or other initiatives that increase our cash requirements. We can give no assurance that this 
additional financing will be available on terms that are acceptable to us or at all. If we are able to obtain additional financing, our credit ratings 
could be adversely affected, which could further raise our borrowing costs and further limit our future access to capital and our ability to satisfy 
our debt obligations.  

        Our significant levels of debt can adversely affect us in several other respects, including (i) exposing us to the risk of credit rating 
downgrades, which would raise our borrowing costs, (ii) hindering our flexibility to plan for or react to changing market, industry or economic 
conditions, (iii) limiting our ability to access the capital markets, (iv) limiting the amount of free cash flow available for future operations, 
acquisitions, dividends, stock repurchases or other uses, (v) making us more vulnerable to economic or industry downturns, including interest 
rate increases, and (vi) placing us at a competitive disadvantage compared to less leveraged competitors.  
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        Certain of our debt issues have cross payment default or cross acceleration provisions. When present, these provisions could have a wider 
impact on liquidity than might otherwise arise from a default or acceleration of a single debt instrument. Any such event could adversely affect 
our ability to conduct business or access the capital markets and could adversely impact our credit ratings. See "Liquidity and Capital Resources" 
in Item 2 of Part I of this report for additional information about our credit facility.  

We may be unable to significantly reduce the substantial capital requirements or operating expenses necessary to continue to operate our 
business, which may in turn affect our operating results.  

        The industry in which we operate is capital intensive, and we anticipate that our capital requirements will continue to be significant in the 
coming years. Although we have reduced our operating expenses over the past few years, we may be unable to further significantly reduce these 
costs, even if revenues in some areas of our business are decreasing. While we believe that our planned level of capital expenditures will meet 
both our maintenance and our core growth requirements going forward, this may not be the case if circumstances underlying our expectations 
change.  

Adverse changes in the value of assets or obligations associated with our qualified pension plans could negatively impact our liquidity.  

        The funded status of our qualified pension plans is the difference between the value of plan assets and the benefit obligation. The 
accounting unfunded status of our qualified pension plans was $1.7 billion as of December 31, 2011. Adverse changes in interest rates or market 
conditions, among other assumptions and factors, could cause a significant increase in our benefit obligation or a significant decrease in the 
value of plan assets. These adverse changes could require us to contribute a material amount of cash to our pension plans or could accelerate the 
timing of required cash payments. Based on current laws and circumstances, (i) we expect to make a cash contribution of approximately 
$70 million during the remaining nine months of 2012 and (ii) we expect that required and voluntary contributions for 2013 will be 
approximately $500 million. The actual amount of required contributions to our plans in 2013 and beyond will depend on earnings on plan 
investments, discount rates, demographic experience, changes in plans benefits and changes in funding laws and regulations. Any future material 
cash contributions could have a negative impact on our liquidity by reducing our cash flows.  

Our debt agreements and the debt agreements of our subsidiaries allow us to incur significantly more debt, which could exacerbate the other 
risks described in this report.  

        The terms of our debt instruments and the debt instruments of our subsidiaries permit additional indebtedness. Additional debt may be 
necessary for many reasons, including to adequately respond to competition, to comply with regulatory requirements related to our service 
obligations, to fund capital requirements or to finance acquisitions. Incremental borrowings on terms that impose additional financial risks could 
exacerbate the other risks described in this report.  

We plan to access the public debt markets, and we cannot assure you that these markets will remain free of disruptions.  

        We have a significant amount of indebtedness that we intend to refinance over the next several years, principally we expect through the 
issuance of debt securities of CenturyLink, QC or both. Our ability to arrange additional financing will depend on, among other factors, our 
financial position and performance, as well as prevailing market conditions and other factors beyond our control. Prevailing market conditions 
could be adversely affected by the ongoing disruptions in the European sovereign debt markets, the failure of the United States to reduce its 
deficit in amounts deemed to be sufficient, possible further downgrades in the credit ratings of the U.S. debt, contractions or limited growth in 
the  
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economy or other similar adverse economic developments in the U.S. or abroad. As a result, we cannot assure you that we will be able to obtain 
additional financing on terms acceptable to us or at all. Any such failure to obtain additional financing could jeopardize our ability to repay, 
refinance or reduce debt obligations.  

Other Risks  

If we fail to extend or renegotiate our collective bargaining agreements with our labor unions as they expire from time to time, or if our 
unionized employees were to engage in a strike or other work stoppage, our business and operating results could be materially harmed.  

        Over 40% of our employees are members of various bargaining units represented by the Communications Workers of America and the 
International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers. From time to time, our labor agreements with these unions lapse, and we typically negotiate the 
terms of new agreements. Approximately 14,000 of our union-represented employees are subject to collective bargaining agreements that expire 
throughout the remainder of 2012. We cannot predict the outcome of these negotiations.  

        We may be unable to reach new agreements, and union employees may engage in strikes, work slowdowns or other labor actions, which 
could materially disrupt our ability to provide services and result in increased cost to us. In addition, new labor agreements may impose 
significant new costs on us, which could impair our financial condition or results of operations in the future. To the extent they contain benefit 
provisions, these agreements also limit our flexibility to change benefits in response to industry or competitive changes. In particular, the post-
employment benefits provided under these agreements cause us to incur costs not faced by many of our competitors, which could ultimately 
hinder our competitive position.  

If conditions or assumptions differ from the judgments, assumptions or estimates used in our critical accounting policies, the accuracy of our 
financial statements and related disclosures could be affected.  

        The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires 
management to make judgments, assumptions and estimates that affect the amounts reported in our consolidated financial statements and 
accompanying notes. Our critical accounting policies, which are described in Item 7 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2011, describe those significant accounting policies and methods used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements 
that are considered "critical" because they require judgments, assumptions and estimates that materially impact our consolidated financial 
statements and related disclosures. As a result, if future events or assumptions differ significantly from the judgments, assumptions and estimates 
in our critical accounting policies, these events or assumptions could have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements and related 
disclosures.  

We face hurricane and other natural disaster risks, which can disrupt our operations and cause us to incur substantial additional capital 
costs.  

        A substantial number of our access lines are located in Florida, Alabama, Louisiana, Texas, North Carolina, and South Carolina, and our 
operations there are subject to the risks associated with severe tropical storms, hurricanes and tornadoes, including downed telephone lines, 
power outages, damaged or destroyed property and equipment, and work interruptions. Although we maintain property and casualty insurance on 
our plant (excluding our outside plant) and may under certain circumstances be able to seek recovery of some additional costs through increased 
rates, only a portion of our additional costs directly related to such hurricanes and natural disasters have historically been recoverable. We cannot 
predict whether we will continue to be able to obtain insurance for hazard-related damages or, if obtainable and carried, whether this insurance 
will be adequate to cover our losses. In addition, we  
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expect any insurance of this nature to be subject to substantial deductibles and to provide for premium adjustments based on claims. Any future 
hazard-related costs and work interruptions could adversely affect our operations and our financial condition.  

Tax audits or changes in tax laws could adversely affect us.  

        Like all large businesses, we are subject to frequent and regular audits by the Internal Revenue Service as well as state and local tax 
authorities. These audits could subject us to tax liabilities if adverse positions are taken by these tax authorities.  

        We believe that we have adequately provided for tax contingencies. However, our tax audits and examinations may result in tax liabilities 
that differ materially from those that we have recorded in our consolidated financial statements. Because the ultimate outcomes of all of these 
matters are uncertain, we can give no assurance as to whether an adverse result from one or more of them will have a material effect on our 
financial results.  

        The current maximum U.S. tax rate of 15% on qualified dividends is scheduled to rise to a maximum rate of 39.6% on January 1, 2013 if 
Congress does not otherwise act. An increase in the U.S. tax rate on dividends could reduce demand for our stock, which could potentially 
depress its trading price.  

Our agreements and organizational documents and applicable law could limit another party's ability to acquire us.  

        A number of provisions in our agreements and organizational documents and various provisions of applicable law may delay, defer or 
prevent a future takeover of CenturyLink unless the takeover is approved by our Board of Directors. This could deprive our shareholders of any 
related takeover premium.  
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ITEM 2.    UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS  

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities  

        The following table contains information about shares of our previously-issued common stock that we withheld from delivering during the 
first quarter of 2012 to employees to satisfy their tax obligations related to stock-based awards:  
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Total  
Number of  

Shares  
Purchased   

Average  
Price Paid  
Per Share   

Total Number of  
Shares  

Purchased as  
Part of Publicly  

Announced Plans 
 

or Programs   

Approximate  
Dollar Value of  

Shares That May 
Yet Be Purchased 

 
Under the Plans  

or Programs 
Period                      
January 2012      8,548   $ 36.85   N/A   N/A 
February 2012      96,427   $ 39.32   N/A   N/A 
March 2012      176,347   $ 39.25   N/A   N/A 
                    

Total      281,322               
    

  

              

N/A—not applicable  
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Item 6.    Exhibits  

        Exhibits identified in parentheses below are on file with the SEC and are incorporated herein by reference. All other exhibits are provided 
as part of this electronic submission.  
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Exhibit  
Number    Description  

  

  2.1   Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of October 26, 2008, by and among CenturyLink, Inc., Embarq Corporation and Cajun 
Acquisition Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of CenturyLink,  Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-
07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 30, 2008). 

  

  2.2   Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of April 21, 2010, by and among CenturyLink, Inc., its subsidiary SB44 Acquisition 
Company, and Qwest Communications International Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Current 
Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 27, 2010). 

  

  2.3   Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of April 26, 2011, by and among CenturyLink, Inc., SAVVIS, Inc. and Mimi Acquisition 
Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-07784) filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 27, 2011). 

  

  3.1   Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of CenturyLink, Inc., as amended through May 21, 2010 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 3.1 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2010 (File No. 001-
07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 6, 2010). 

  

  3.2   Bylaws of CenturyLink, Inc., as amended and restated through November 4, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of 
CenturyLink, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2010 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on November 5, 2010). 

  

  4.1   Form of common stock certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.10 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Registration Statement on 
Form S-3 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 2, 2012 (Registration No. 333-179888)). 

  

  4.2   Instruments relating to CenturyLink, Inc.'s Revolving Credit Facility. 
 
    

 
  

 
a. 

 
  

 
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of April 6, 2012, by and among CenturyLink, Inc. and the lenders and 
agents named therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of CenturyLink,  Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K (File 
No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 11, 2012). 

 
    

 
  

 
b. 

 
  

 
Guarantee Agreement, dated as of April 6, 2012, by and among the guarantors named therein (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 4.2 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on April 11, 2012). 

  

  4.3   Instruments relating to CenturyLink, Inc.'s Term Loan. 
 
      

 
  

 
a. 

 
  

 
Credit Agreement, dated as of April 18, 2012, by and among CenturyLink, Inc., the several banks and other financial 
institutions or entities from time to time parties thereto, and CoBank, ACB, as administrative agent (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 4.1 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on April 20, 2012). 

 
      

 
  

 
b. 

 
  

 
Guarantee Agreement, dated as of April 18, 2012, by and among the guarantors named therein (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 4.2 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on April 20, 2012). 

  

  4.4   Instruments relating to CenturyLink's public senior debt.(1) 
 
    

 
  

 
a. 

 
  

 
Form of Indenture, by and between Century Telephone Enterprises, Inc. (currently named CenturyLink, Inc.) and First 
American Bank & Trust of Louisiana, as Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Registration 
Statement on Form S-3 (File No. No. 33-52915) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 31, 1994). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(i). 

 
  
 
Form of 7.2% Senior Notes, Series D, due 2025 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.27 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1995 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on March 18, 1996). 
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          (ii).   Form of 6.875% Debentures, Series G, due 2028, (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.9 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1997 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on March 16, 1998). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(iii). 

 
  
 
Form of 7.875% Senior Notes, Series L, due 2012 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s 
Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-100480) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on 
October 10, 2002). 

 
    

 
  

 
b. 

 
  

 
Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of February 14, 2005, by and between CenturyTel, Inc. (currently named 
CenturyLink, Inc.) and Regions Bank, as Trustee, designating and outlining the terms and conditions of CenturyLink's 5% 
Senior Notes, Series M, due 2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-
K (File No. 000-50260) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 15, 2005). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(i). 

 
  
 
Form of 5% Senior Notes, Series M, due 2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit A to Exhibit 4.1 of 
CenturyLink, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 000-50260) filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on February 15, 2005). 

 
    

 
  

 
c. 

 
  

 
Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 26, 2007, by and between CenturyTel, Inc. (currently named 
CenturyLink, Inc.) and Regions Bank, as Trustee, designating and outlining the terms and conditions of CenturyLink's 6.0% 
Senior Notes, Series N, due 2017 and 5.5% Senior Notes, Series O, due 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of 
CenturyLink, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on 
March 29, 2007). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(i). 

 
  
 
Form of 6.0% Senior Notes, Series N, due 2017 and 5.5% Senior Notes, Series O, due 2013 (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit A to Exhibit 4.1 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-07784) filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on March 29, 2007). 

 
    

 
  

 
d. 

 
  

 
Fifth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of September 21, 2009, by and between CenturyTel, Inc. (currently named 
CenturyLink, Inc.) and Regions Bank, as Trustee, designating and outlining the terms and conditions of CenturyLink's 7.60% 
Senior Notes, Series P, due 2039 and 6.15% Senior Notes, Series Q, due 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of 
CenturyLink, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on 
September 22, 2009). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(i). 

 
  
 
Form of 7.60% Senior Notes, Series P, due 2039 and 6.15% Senior Notes, Series Q, due 2019 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit A to Exhibit 4.1 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-07784) filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 22, 2009). 

 
    

 
  

 
e. 

 
  

 
Sixth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 16, 2011, by and between CenturyLink, Inc. and Regions Bank, as Trustee, 
designating and outlining the terms and conditions of CenturyLink's 5.15% Senior Notes, Series R, due 2017 and 6.45% 
Senior Notes, Series S, due 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K 
(File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 16, 2011). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(i). 

 
  
 
Form of 5.15% Senior Notes, Series R, due 2017 and 6.45% Senior Notes, Series S, due 2021 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit A to Exhibit 4.2 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-07784) filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 16, 2011). 

 
    

 
  

 
f. 

 
  

 
Seventh Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 12, 2012, by and between CenturyLink, Inc. and Regions Bank, as 
Trustee, designating and outlining the terms and conditions of CenturyLink's 5.80% Senior Notes, Series T, due 2022 and 
7.65% Senior Notes, Series U, due 2042 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of CenturyLink's Current Report on 
Form 8-K (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 12, 2012). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(i) 

 
  
 
Form of 5.80% Senior Notes, Series T, due 2022 and 7.65% Senior Notes, Series U, due 2042 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit A to Exhibit 4.1 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-07784) filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 12, 2012). 
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  4.5   Instruments relating to indebtedness of Qwest Communications International, Inc. and its subsidiaries. 
 
    

 
  

 
a. 

 
  

 
Indenture, dated as of April 15, 1990, by and between The Mountain States Telephone and Telegraph Company (currently 
named Qwest Corporation) and The First National Bank of Chicago (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of Qwest 
Corporation's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 (File No. 001-03040) filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on January 13, 2004). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(i). 

 
  

 
First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 16, 1991, by and between U S WEST Communications, Inc. (currently 
named Qwest Corporation) and The First National Bank of Chicago (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of Qwest 
Corporation's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 (File No. 001-03040) filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on January 13, 2004). 

 
    

 
  

 
b.* 

 
  

 
Indenture, dated as of April 15, 1990, by and between Northwestern Bell Telephone Company (predecessor to Qwest 
Corporation) and The First National Bank of Chicago, included herein. 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(i). 

 
  

 
First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 16, 1991, by and between U S WEST Communications, Inc. (currently 
named Qwest Corporation) and The First National Bank of Chicago (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of Qwest 
Corporation's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 (File No. 001-03040) filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on January 13, 2004). 

 
    

 
  

 
c. 

 
  

 
Indenture, dated as of June 29, 1998, by and among U S WEST Capital Funding, Inc. (currently named Qwest Capital 
Funding, Inc.), U S WEST, Inc. (predecessor to Qwest Communications International Inc.) and The First National Bank of 
Chicago, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4(a) of U S WEST, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K (File 
No. 001-14087) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 18, 1998). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(i). 

 
  

 
First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 30, 2000, by and among U S WEST Capital Funding, Inc. (currently 
named Qwest Capital Funding,- Inc.), U S WEST, Inc. (predecessor to Qwest Communications International Inc.) and 
Bank One Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.10 of Qwest Communications 
International Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2000 (File No. 001-15577) filed with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 11, 2000). 

 
    

 
  

 
d. 

 
  

 
Indenture, dated as of November 4, 1998, by and between Qwest Communications International Inc. and Bankers Trust 
Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1(e) of Qwest Communications International Inc.'s Registration Statement 
on Form S-4 (File No. 333-71603) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 2, 1999). 

 
    

 
  

 
e. 

 
  

 
Indenture, dated as of November 27, 1998, by and between Qwest Communications International Inc. and Bankers Trust 
Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1(d) of Qwest Communications International Inc.'s Registration Statement 
on Form S-4 (File No. 333-71603) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 2, 1999). 

 
    

 
  

 
f. 

 
  

 
Indenture, dated as of October 15, 1999, by and between US West Communications, Inc. (currently named Qwest 
Corporation) and Bank One Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4(b) of Qwest 
Corporation's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999 (File No. 001-03040) filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on March 3, 2000). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(i). 

 
  

 
First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 19, 2004, by and between Qwest Corporation and U.S. Bank 
National Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.22 of Qwest Communications International Inc.'s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2004 (File No. 001-15577) filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on November 5, 2004). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(ii). 

 
  

 
Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 17, 2005, by and between Qwest Corporation and U.S. Bank National 
Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of Qwest Communications International Inc.'s Current Report on 
Form 8-K (File No. 001-15577) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 23, 2005). 
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          (iii).   Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 8, 2006, by and between Qwest Corporation and U.S. Bank 
National Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Qwest Communications International Inc.'s Current 
Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-15577) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 8, 2006). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(iv). 

 
  
 
Fifth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 16, 2007, by and between Qwest Corporation and U.S. Bank National 
Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Qwest Communications International Inc.'s Current Report on 
Form 8-K (File No. 001-15577) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 18, 2007). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(v). 

 
  
 
Sixth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 13, 2009, by and between Qwest Corporation and U.S. Bank National 
Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Qwest Communications International Inc.'s Current Report on 
Form 8-K (File No. 001-15577) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 13, 2009). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(vi). 

 
  
 
Seventh Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 8, 2011, by and between Qwest Corporation and U.S. Bank National 
Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8 of Qwest Corporation's Form 8-A (File No. 001-03040) filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 7, 2011). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(vii). 

 
  
 
Eighth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of September 21, 2011, by and between Qwest Corporation and U.S. Bank 
National Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.9 of Qwest Corporation's Form 8-A (File No. 001-03040) 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 20, 2011). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(viii). 

 
  
 
Ninth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of October 4, 2011, by and between Qwest Corporation and U.S. Bank 
National Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Qwest Corporation's Current Report on Form 8-K 
(File No. 001-03040) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 4, 2011). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(ix) 

 
  
 
Tenth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 2, 2012, by and between Qwest Corporation and U.S. Bank National 
Association (incorporated by reference to Qwest Corporation's Form 8-A (File No. 001-03040) filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission on March 30, 2012). 

 
    

 
  

 
g. 

 
  

 
Indenture, dated as of February 5, 2004, by and among Qwest Communications International Inc., Qwest Services 
Corporation, Qwest Capital Funding, Inc. and J.P. Morgan Trust Company, National Association (incorporated by reference 
to 4.17 of Qwest Communications International Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003 
(File No. 001-15577) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 11, 2004). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(i). 

 
  
 
First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 17, 2005, by and among Qwest Communications International Inc., 
Qwest Services Corporation, Qwest Capital Funding, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Qwest Communications International Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-
15577) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 3, 2005). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(ii). 

 
  
 
Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of September 17, 2009, by and among Qwest Communications 
International Inc., Qwest Services Corporation, Qwest Capital Funding, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Qwest Communications International Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K 
(File No. 001-15577) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 21, 2009). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(iii). 

 
  
 
Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of January 12, 2010, by and among Qwest Communications International Inc., 
Qwest Services Corporation, Qwest Capital Funding, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Qwest Communications International Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-
15577) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 13, 2010). 
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  4.6   Instruments relating to indebtedness of Embarq Corporation. 
 
    

 
  

 
a. 

 
  

 
Indenture, dated as of May 17, 2006, by and between Embarq Corporation and J.P. Morgan Trust Company, National 
Association, a national banking association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Embarq Corporation's 
Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-32732) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 18, 2006). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(i). 

 
  
 
6.738% Global Note due 2013 of Embarq Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of Embarq 
Corporation's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 (File No. 001-32372) filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on March 9, 2007). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(ii). 

 
  
 
7.082% Global Note due 2016 of Embarq Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to Embarq 
Corporation's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 (File No. 001-32372) filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on March 9, 2007). 

  

  10.1   Qualified Employee Benefit Plans of CenturyLink, Inc. (excluding several narrow-based qualified plans that cover union employees 
or other limited groups of employees). 

 
    

 
  

 
a. 

 
  

 
CenturyLink Dollars & Sense 401(k) Plan and Trust, as amended and restated through December 31, 2006 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1(a) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 (File 
No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 1, 2007), as amended by the First Amendment 
and the Second Amendment thereto, each dated as of December 31, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(a) of 
CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on February 29, 2008), as amended by the Third Amendment thereto dated as of 
November 20, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(a) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 
year ended December 31, 2008 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 27, 
2009), as amended by the Fourth Amendment thereto dated as of June 30, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(a) 
of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2009 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on August 7, 2009), as amended by the Fifth Amendment thereto dated as of 
September 15, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(a) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 
year ended December 31, 2009 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 1, 2010), 
as amended by the Sixth Amendment thereto, dated as of December 30, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(a) of 
CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on March 1, 2010), as amended by the Seventh Amendment thereto, effective May 20, 
2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 (a) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period 
ended September 30, 2010 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 5, 2010) 
and as amended by the Eighth Amendment thereto, effective January 1, 2011 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(a) of 
CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on March 1, 2011). 
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      b.   CenturyLink Union 401(k) Plan and Trust, as amended and restated through December 31, 2006 (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1(b) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 (File No. 001-
07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 1, 2007), as amended by the First Amendment thereto 
dated as of May 29, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(b) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q 
for the period ended March 31, 2008 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 7, 
2008), as amended by the Second Amendment thereto dated as of December 31, 2007 (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1(b) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007 (File No. 001-
07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 29, 2008), as amended by the Third Amendment 
thereto dated as of November 20, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(b) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
on February 27, 2009), as amended by the Fourth Amendment thereto dated as of June 30, 2009 (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1(b) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2009 (File No. 001-
07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 7, 2009), as amended by the Fifth Amendment thereto 
dated as of September 15, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(b) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
on March 1, 2010), as amended by the Sixth Amendment thereto, dated as of December 30, 2009 (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.1(b) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009 (File No. 001-
07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 1, 2010), as amended by the Seventh Amendment 
thereto, effective May 20, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(b) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2010 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on November 5, 2010) and as amended by the Eighth Amendment thereto, effective January 1, 2011 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(b) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2010 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 1, 2011). 

 
    

 
  

 
c. 

 
  

 
CenturyLink Retirement Plan, as amended and restated through December 31, 2006 (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1(c) of CenturyLink,- Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 (File No. 001-
07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 1, 2007), as amended by Amendment No. 1 thereto 
dated as of April 2, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(c) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q 
for the period ended March 31, 2008 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 7, 
2008), as amended by Amendment No. 2 thereto dated as of December 31, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(c) 
of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007 (File No. 001-07784) filed with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 29, 2008), as amended by Amendment No. 3 thereto dated as of 
October 24, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(c) CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2008 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 27, 2009), 
as amended by Amendment No. 4 dated as of June 30, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(c) of CenturyLink,-
 Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2009 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on August 7, 2009), as amended by Amendment No. 5 thereto dated as of September 15, 2009 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(c) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2009 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 1, 2010), as amended 
by Amendment No. 6 thereto, dated as of December 30, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(c) of 
CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on March 1, 2010), as amended by Amendment No. 7 thereto, effective at various dates 
during 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(c) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the 
period ended September 30, 2010 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 5, 
2010) and as amended by Amendment No. 8 thereto, effective January 1, 2011 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(c) 
of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010 (File No. 001-07784) filed with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 1, 2011). 
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  10.2   Stock-based Incentive Plans and Agreements of CenturyLink 
 
    

 
  

 
a. 

 
  

 
Amended and Restated 1983 Restricted Stock Plan, as amended and restated through February 23, 2010 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.2(a) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009 (File 
No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 1, 2010). 

 
    

 
  

 
b. 

 
  

 
Amended and Restated 2000 Incentive Compensation Plan, as amended through May 23, 2000 (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.2 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2000 (File No. 001-07784) 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 11, 2000) and amendment thereto dated as of May 29, 2003 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of CenturyLink,  Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended 
June 30, 2003 (File No. 001-7784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 14, 2003). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(i) 

 
  
 
Form of Stock Option Agreement, pursuant to the 2000 Incentive Compensation Plan and dated as of May 21, 2001, 
entered into between CenturyLink, Inc. and its officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(e) of 
CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001 (File No. 001-07784) filed with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 15, 2002). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(ii) 

 
  
 
Form of Stock Option Agreement, pursuant to the 2000 Incentive Compensation Plan and dated as of February 25, 2002, 
entered into between CenturyLink, Inc. and its officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(d) (ii) of 
CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 (File No. 001-07784) filed with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 27, 2003). 

 
    

 
  

 
c. 

 
  

 
Amended and Restated 2002 Directors Stock Option Plan, dated as of February 25, 2004 (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.2(e) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003 (File No. 001-
07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 12, 2004) and amendment thereto dated as of 
October 24, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(d) of CenturyLink,  Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 
year ended December 31, 2008 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 27, 
2009). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(i) 

 
  
 
Form of Stock Option Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan, entered into between CenturyLink, Inc. in connection 
with options granted to the outside directors as of May 10, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of 
CenturyLink, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2002 (File No. 001-07784) filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 14, 2002). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(ii) 

 
  
 
Form of Stock Option Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan, entered into between CenturyLink, Inc. in connection 
with options granted to the outside directors as of May 9, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(e) (ii) of 
CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003 (File No. 001-07784) filed with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 12, 2004). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(iii) 

 
  
 
Form of Stock Option Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan, entered into between CenturyLink, Inc. in connection 
with options granted to the outside directors as of May 7, 2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(d) (iii) of 
CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005 (File No. 001-07784) filed with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 16, 2006). 
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      d.   Amended and Restated 2002 Management Incentive Compensation Plan, dated as of February 25, 2004 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.2(f) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003 (File 
No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 12, 2004) and amendment thereto dated as of 
October 24, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(e) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 
year ended December 31, 2008 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 27, 
2009). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(i) 

 
  
 
Form of Stock Option Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan, entered into between CenturyLink, Inc. and certain of 
its officers and key employees at various dates during 2002 following May 9, 2002 (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.4 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2002 (File 
No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 14, 2002). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(ii) 

 
  
 
Form of Stock Option Agreement, pursuant to foregoing plan and dated as of February 24, 2003, entered into between 
CenturyLink, Inc. and its officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(f) (ii) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report 
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on March 27, 2003). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(iii) 

 
  
 
Form of Stock Option Agreement, pursuant to foregoing plan and dated as of February 25, 2004, entered into between 
CenturyLink, Inc. and its officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(f) (iii) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on March 12, 2004). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(iv) 

 
  
 
Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan and dated as of February 24, 2003, entered into 
between CenturyLink, Inc. and its executive officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2003 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on May 14, 2003). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(v) 

 
  
 
Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan and dated as of February 25, 2004, entered into 
between CenturyLink, Inc. and its executive officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(f) (v) of 
CenturyLink, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2004 (File No. 000-50260) filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 7, 2004). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(vi) 

 
  
 
Form of Stock Option Agreement, pursuant to foregoing plan and dated as of February 17, 2005, entered into between 
CenturyLink, Inc. and its executive officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 (e) (v) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004 (File No. 000-50260) filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on March 16, 2005). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(vii) 

 
  
 
Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan and dated as of February 17, 2005, entered into 
between CenturyLink, Inc. and its executive officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(e) (vi) of 
CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2004 (File No. 000-50260) filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 16, 2005). 

 
    

 
  

 
e. 

 
  

 
Amended and Restated 2005 Directors Stock Plan, as amended and restated through February 23, 2010 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.2(f) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009 (File 
No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 1, 2010). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(i) 

 
  
 
Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan, entered into between CenturyLink, Inc. and each 
of its outside directors as of May 13, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Current 
Report on Form 8-K (File No. 000-50260) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 13, 2005). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(ii) 

 
  
 
Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan, entered into between CenturyLink, Inc. and each 
of its outside directors as of May 12, 2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2006 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on August 3, 2006). 
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          (iii)   Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan, entered into between CenturyLink, Inc. and each 
of its outside directors as of May 11, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(f) (iii) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2008 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission on February 27, 2009). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(iv) 

 
  

 
Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan, entered into between CenturyLink, Inc. and each 
of its outside directors as of May 9, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 (f) (iv) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2008 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission on February 27, 2009). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(v) 

 
  

 
Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan and dated as of May 8, 2009, entered into 
between CenturyLink, Inc. and each of its outside directors on such date who remained on the Board following July 1, 
2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(b) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the 
period ended June 30, 2009 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 7, 
2009). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(vi) 

 
  

 
Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan and dated as of May 8, 2009, entered into 
between CenturyLink, Inc. and each of its outside directors who retired on July 1, 2009 (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.2(c) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2009 (File 
No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 7, 2009). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(vii) 

 
  

 
Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan and dated as of July 2, 2009, entered into between 
CenturyLink, Inc. and each of its outside directors named to the Board on July 1, 2009 (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1(d) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2009 (File 
No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 7, 2009). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(viii) 

 
  

 
Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan and dated as of July 2, 2009, entered into between 
CenturyLink, Inc. and William A. Owens in payment of Mr. Owens' 2009 supplemental chairman's fees (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 10.2(e) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 
2009 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 7, 2009). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(ix) 

 
  

 
Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan and dated as of May 21, 2010, entered into 
between CenturyLink, Inc. and seven of its outside directors on such date (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of 
CenturyLink, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2010 (File No. 001-07784) filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 6, 2010). 

 
    

 
  

 
f. 

 
  

 
Amended and Restated 2005 Management Incentive Compensation Plan, as amended and restated through February 23, 2010 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(g) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2009 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 1, 2010). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(i) 

 
  

 
Form of Stock Option Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan, entered into between CenturyLink, Inc. and certain 
officers and key employees at various dates since May 12, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of 
CenturyLink, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2005 (File No. 001-07784) 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 9, 2005). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(ii) 

 
  

 
Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan, entered into between CenturyLink, Inc. and 
certain officers and key employees at various dates since May 12, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of 
CenturyLink, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2005 (File No. 001-07784) 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 9, 2005). 

  



Table of Contents  

75  

  

          (iii)   Form of Stock Option Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan and dated as of February 21, 2006, entered into 
between CenturyLink, Inc. and its executive officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 (g) (iii) of 
CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005 (File No. 001-07784) filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 16, 2006). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(iv) 

 
  

 
Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan and dated as of February 21, 2006, entered into 
between CenturyLink, Inc. and its executive officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(g) (iv) of 
CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005 (File No. 001-07784) filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 16, 2006). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(v) 

 
  

 
Form of Stock Option Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan and dated as of February 26, 2007, entered into 
between CenturyLink, Inc. and its executive officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2007 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission on May 9, 2007). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(vi) 

 
  

 
Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan and dated as of February 26, 2007, entered into 
between CenturyLink, Inc. and its executive officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2007 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission on May 9, 2007). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(vii) 

 
  

 
Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan and dated as of February 21, 2008, entered into 
between CenturyLink, Inc. and its executive officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2008 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission on May 7, 2008). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(viii) 

 
  

 
Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan and dated as of February 26, 2009 (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 10.2(g) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 
2009 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 1, 2009). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(ix) 

 
  

 
Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan and dated as of March 8, 2010 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.2 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2010 
(File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 7, 2010). 

 
    

 
  

 
g. 

 
  

 
Amended and Restated CenturyLink Legacy Embarq 2008 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restated through 
February 23, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(h) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 
year ended December 31, 2009 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 1, 2010). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(i) 

 
  

 
Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan and dated as of May 21, 2010, entered into 
between CenturyLink, Inc. and four of its outside directors as of such date (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 
of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2010 (File No. 001-07784) filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 6, 2010). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(ii) 

 
  

 
Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, pursuant to the foregoing plan and dated as of May 21, 2010, entered into 
between CenturyLink, Inc. and William A. Owens in payment of Mr. Owens' 2010 supplemental chairman's fees 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended 
June 30, 2010 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 6, 2010). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
(iii) 

 
  

 
Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, dated as of September 7, 2010, entered into between CenturyLink, Inc. and 
Dennis G. Huber (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q 
for the period ended September 30, 2010 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on 
November 5, 2010). 
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      h.   Form of Retention Award Agreement, pursuant to the equity incentive plans of CenturyLink or Embarq and dated as of 
August 23, 2010, entered into between CenturyLink, Inc. and certain officers and key employees as of such date (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.2 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2010 (File 
No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 5, 2010). 

 
    

 
  

 
i. 

 
  
 
CenturyLink 2011 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix B of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Proxy Statement for its 
2011 Annual Meeting of Shareholders (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 6, 
2011). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  
 
(i) 

 
  
 
Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for executive officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(a) (i) of 
CenturyLink, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2011 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on August 9, 2011). 

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  
 
(ii) 

 
  
 
Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for non-management directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(a) (ii) of 
CenturyLink,- Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2011 (File No. 001-07784) filed with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 9, 2011). 

  

  10.3   Key Employee Incentive Compensation Plan, dated as of January 1, 1984, as amended and restated as of November 16, 1995 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(f) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 
1995 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 18, 1996) and amendment thereto dated as 
of November 21, 1996 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(f) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 1996 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 17, 1997), 
amendment thereto dated as of February 25, 1997 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Quarterly Report 
on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 1997 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on 
May 8, 1997), amendment thereto dated as of April 25, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2001 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on May 15, 2001), amendment thereto dated as of April 17, 2000 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3(a) of 
CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on March 15, 2002) and amendment thereto dated as of February 27, 2007 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2007 (File No. 001-
07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 8, 2007). 

  

  10.4   Supplemental Dollars & Sense Plan, 2008 Restatement, effective January 1, 2008, (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3(c) of 
CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on February 29, 2009) and amendment thereto dated as of October 24, 2008 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.3(c) of CenturyLink,  Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008 (File 
No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 27, 2009) and amendment thereto dated as of 
December 27, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2010 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 1, 2011). 

  

  10.5   Supplemental Defined Benefit Pension Plan, effective as of January 1, 2012 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of 
CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on February 28, 2012). 

  

  10.6   Amended and Restated Salary Continuation (Disability) Plan for Officers, dated as of November 26, 1991 (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.16 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1991). 

  

  10.7   2010 Executive Officer Short-Term Incentive Program (incorporated by reference to Appendix B of CenturyLink, Inc.'s 2010 Proxy 
Statement on Form 14A (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 7, 2010). 

  

  10.8   Amended and Restated CenturyLink 2001 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, dated as of June 30, 2009 (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.3 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2009 (File No. 001-07784) filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 7, 2009). 
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  10.9   Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into between CenturyLink, Inc. and each of its directors as of July 1, 2009 (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 99.3 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-07784) with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on July 1, 2009). 

  

  10.10   Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into between CenturyLink, Inc. and each of its officers as of July 1, 2009 (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2009 (File No. 001-
07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 7, 2009). 

  

  10.11   Change of Control Agreement, effective January 1, 2011, by and between Glen F. Post, III and CenturyLink, Inc. (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.11 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010 (File No. 001-
07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 1, 2011). 

  

  10.12   Form of Change of Control Agreement, effective January 1, 2011 between CenturyLink, Inc. and each of its other executive officers 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 
2010 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 1, 2011). 

  

  10.13   Amended and Restated CenturyLink, Inc. Bonus Life Insurance Plan for Executive Officers, dated as of April 3, 2008 (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2008 (File 
No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 7, 2008) and First Amendment thereto (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.13 of CenturyLink,  Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2010 (File 
No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 5, 2010). 

  

  10.14   Certain Material Agreements and Plans of Embarq Corporation. 
 
    

 
  

 
a. 

 
  

 
Agreement Regarding Special Compensation and Post Employment Restrictive Covenants, dated as of December 12, 1995, 
by and between Sprint Corporation and Dennis G. Huber, which continues to govern certain payments being made to 
Mr. Huber as of the date of this report (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of Embarq Corporation's Quarterly Report 
on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2008 (File No. 001-32372) filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on October 30, 2008). 

 
    

 
  

 
b. 

 
  

 
Amendment 2008-1 to the Employment Agreement between Embarq Corporation and Dennis G. Huber, dated as of 
December 22, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of Embarq Corporation's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 
year ended December 31, 2008 (File No. 001-32372) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 13, 
2009). 

 
    

 
  

 
c. 

 
  

 
Embarq Corporation 2006 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restated (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of the 
Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed by CenturyLink, Inc. (File No. 001-07784) with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on July 1, 2009). 

 
    

 
  

 
d. 

 
  

 
Form of 2007 Award Agreement for executive officers of Embarq Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of 
Embarq Corporation's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-32372) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
on February 27, 2007). 

 
    

 
  

 
e. 

 
  

 
Form of 2008 Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Embarq Corporation's 
Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-32372) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 4, 2008). 

 
    

 
  

 
f. 

 
  

 
Form of 2009 Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Embarq Corporation's 
Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-32732) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 5, 2009). 

 
    

 
  

 
g. 

 
  

 
Form of Stock Option Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Embarq Corporation's Current Report 
on Form 8-K (File No. 001-32372) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 4, 2008). 
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      h.   Amendment to Outstanding RSUs granted in 2007 and 2008 under the Embarq Corporation 2006 Equity Incentive Plan 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 of Embarq Corporation's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2008 (File No. 001-32372) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 13, 2009). 

 
    

 
  

 
i. 

 
  

 
Form of 2006 Award Agreement, entered into between Embarq Corporation and Richard A. Gephardt (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Embarq Corporation's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-32372) filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission on August 1, 2006), as amended by the amendment thereto dated as of June 26, 2009 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 (m) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended 
June 30, 2009 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 7, 2009). 

 
    

 
  

 
j. 

 
  

 
Amended and Restated Executive Severance Plan, including Form of Participation Agreement entered into between Embarq 
Corporation and William E. Cheek (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of Embarq Corporation's Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2008 (File No. 001-32372) filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on October 30, 2008). 

 
    

 
  

 
k. 

 
  

 
Embarq Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, as amended and restated as of January 1, 2009 (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.27 of Embarq Corporation's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008 (File No. 001-
32372) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 13, 2009), amendment thereto dated as of 
December 27, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14(o) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for 
the year ended December 31, 2010 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 1, 
2011) and second amendment thereto as of dated as of November 15, 2011 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14(k) of 
CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on February 28, 2012). 

  

  10.15   Certain Material Agreements and Plans of Qwest Communications International Inc. 
 
    

 
  

 
a. 

 
  

 
Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restated (incorporated by reference to Annex A of Qwest Communications 
International Inc.'s Proxy Statement for the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (File No. 001-15577) filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on March 29, 2007). 

 
    

 
  

 
b. 

 
  

 
Forms of restricted stock, performance share and option agreements used under Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and 
restated (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Qwest Communications International Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K 
(File No. 001-15577) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 24, 2005; Exhibit 10.2 of Qwest 
Communication International Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005 (File No. 001-
15577) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 16, 2006; Exhibit 10.2 of Qwest Communication 
International Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2006 (File No. 001-15577) filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on May 3, 2006; Exhibit 10.2 of Qwest Communication International Inc.'s Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 (File No. 001-15577) filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on February 8, 2007; Exhibit 10.3 of Qwest Communication International Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K 
(File No. 001-15577) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 15, 2008; Exhibit 10.2 of Qwest 
Communication International Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2009 (File No. 001-
15577) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 30, 2009; and Exhibit 10.2 of Qwest Communication 
International Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010 (File No. 001-15577) filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on February 15, 2011). 
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      c.   Deferred Compensation Plan for Nonemployee Directors, as amended and restated, Amendment to Deferred Compensation 
Plan for Nonemployee Directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Qwest Communications International Inc.'s 
Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-15577) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 16, 2005 
and Exhibit 10.8 to Qwest Communication International Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended 
September 30, 2008 (File No. 001-15577) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 29, 2008) and 
Amendment No. 2011-1 to Deferred Compensation Plan for Nonemployee Directors (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.15(c) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2011 (File No. 001-07784) filed with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 28, 2012). 

 
    

 
  

 
d. 

 
  

 
Qwest Nonqualified Pension Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of Qwest Communications International Inc.'s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009 (File No. 001-15577) filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on February 16, 2010). 

 
    

 
  

 
e. 

 
  

 
Severance Agreement, dated as of August 26, 2009, by and between Qwest Communications International Inc. and 
Chrstopher K. Ancell (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 of Qwest Communications International Inc.'s Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2009 (File No. 001-15577) filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on October 28, 2009). 

 
    

 
  

 
f. 

 
  

 
Letter, dated as of September 4, 2009, from Qwest to Chrstopher K. Ancell (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 of 
Qwest Communications International Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2009 (File 
No. 001-15577) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 28, 2009). 

 
    

 
  

 
g. 

 
  

 
Form of Amendment Agreement, dated as of December 20, 2010, between Qwest Communications International Inc. and 
Chrstopher K. Ancell (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 of Qwest Communications International Inc.'s Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010 (File No. 001-15577) filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on February 15, 2011). 

 
    

 
  

 
h. 

 
  

 
Letter, dated as of September 9, 2010, between CenturyLink, Inc. and Christopher K. Ancell (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.2(h) of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2011 (File No. 001-
07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 9, 2011). 

  

  10.16   Certain Material Agreements and Plans of Savvis, Inc. 
 
    

 
  

 
a. 

 
  

 
SAVVIS, Inc. Amended and Restated 2003 Incentive Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of 
SAVVIS, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2006 (File No. 000-29375) filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on May 5, 2006), as amended by Amendment No. 1 (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.6 of SAVVIS, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 (File No. 000-29375) 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 26, 2007); Amendment No. 2 (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1 of SAVVIS, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 000-29375) filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on May 15, 2007); Amendment No. 3 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of SAVVIS, Inc.'s Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2007 (File No. 000-29375) filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on July 31, 2007); Amendment No. 4 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of SAVVIS, Inc.'s Current 
Report on Form 8-K (File No. 000-29375) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 22, 2009); and 
Amendment No. 5 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of SAVVIS, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 000-
29375) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 22, 2009). 

 
    

 
  

 
b. 

 
  

 
Form agreements under Amended and Restated 2003 Incentive Compensation Plan applicable to awards held by James E. 
Ousley: Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of SAVVIS, Inc.'s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2003 (File No. 000-29375) filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on October 30, 2003); and Form of Stock Unit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 
of SAVVIS, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 000-29375) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on 
August 23, 2005). 
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      c.   Form of Indemnification Agreement between Savvis, Inc. and James E. Ousley (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of 
SAVVIS, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2010 (File No. 000-29375) filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on November 5, 2010). 

  

  10.17   Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, Confidentiality, Severance and Non-Competition Agreement, dated as of 
September 2, 2011, by and among James E. Ousley, Savvis, Inc. and CenturyLink, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of 
CenturyLink, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2011 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on November 7, 2011). 

  

  10.18   Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, dated as of October 7, 2011, by and between CenturyLink, Inc. and James E. Ousley 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 
2011 (File No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 28, 2012). 

  

  10.19   Employment Agreement, dated as of September 7, 2010 by and between CenturyLink, Inc. and Dennis G. Huber (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.15 of CenturyLink, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2010 (File 
No. 001-07784) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 5, 2010). 

  

  31.1 * Certification of the Chief Executive Officer of CenturyLink, Inc. pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
  

  31.2 * Certification of the Chief Financial Officer of CenturyLink, Inc. pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
  

  32 * Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of CenturyLink, Inc. pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

  

  101 * Financial statements from the Quarterly on Form 10-Q of CenturyLink, Inc. for the period ended March 31, 2012, formatted in 
XBRL: (i) the Consolidated Statements of Operations, (ii) the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (iii) the 
Consolidated Balance Sheets, (iv) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, (v) the Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' 
Equity and (vi) the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

  

(1)   Certain of the items in Sections 4.4, 4.5 and 4.6 (i) omit supplemental indentures or other instruments governing debt that has been 
retired, or (ii) refer to trustees who may have been replaced, acquired or affected by similar changes. In accordance with Item 601(b) 
(4) (iii) (A) of Regulation S-K, copies of certain instruments defining the rights of holders of certain of our long-term debt are not filed 
herewith. Pursuant to this regulation, we hereby agree to furnish a copy of any such instrument to the SEC upon request. 

 
* 

 
  

 
Exhibit filed herewith. 

 
Note: 

 
  

 
Our Corporate Governance Guidelines and Charters of our Board of Director Committees are located on our website at 
www.centurylink.com. 
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        Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on May 10, 2012.  
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    CenturyLink, Inc. 
 
  

 
  

 
By: 

 
  

 
/s/ David D. Cole  

David D. Cole  
Senior Vice President, Controller and  
    Operations Support  
    (Chief Accounting Officer) 



 



 
  

Exhibit 4.5(b) 
   

   

   
to  
   

   

   
Indenture  

   
Dated as of April 15, 1990  

   

   
Providing for Issuance of  

Securities in Series  
   

   

 

NORTHWESTERN BELL TELEPHONE COMPANY  
  

Issuer  

THE FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF CHICAGO  
   

Trustee  



   
Reconciliation and tie between Indenture dated as of April 15, 1990 and the Trust Indenture Act of 1939. This reconciliation section does not 
constitute part of the Indenture.  
   

   

 

Trust Indenture Act  
   Indenture  

of 1939 Section  
   Section  

310 (a)(1)  
     7.10  

   
(a)(2)  

     7.10  
   

(a)(3)  
   Inapplicable  

   
(a)(4)  

   Inapplicable  
   

(b)  
     7.08, 7.10  

   
(c)  

   Inapplicable  
311 (a)  

     7.11  
   

(b)  
     7.11  

   
(c)  

   Inapplicable  
312 (a)  

     2.07  
   

(b)  
   11.03  

   
(c)  

   11.03  
313 (a)  

     7.06  
   

(b)(1)  
   Inapplicable  

   
(b)(2)  

     7.06  
   

(c)  
     4.02, 11.02  

   
(d)  

     7.06  
314 (a)  

     4.02, 11.02  
   

(b)  
   Inapplicable  

   
(c)(1)  

   11.04  
   

(c)(2)  
   11.04  

   
(c)(3)  

   Inapplicable  
   

(d)  
   Inapplicable  

   
(e)  

   10.05  
   

(f)  
   Inapplicable  

315 (a)  
     7.01(b)  

   
(b)  

     7.05, 10.02  
   

(c)  
     7.01(a)  

   
(d)  

     6.05, 7.01(c)  
   

(e)  
     6.07, 6.11  

316 (a)(last sentence)  
     2.11  
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INDENTURE dated as of April 15, 1990 from Northwestern Bell Telephone Company, an Iowa corporation (the “Company”), to The First 

National Bank of Chicago, a national banking association duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the United States of America 
(the “Trustee”).  

   
RECITALS OF THE COMPANY  

   
The Company has duly authorized the execution and delivery of this Indenture to provide for the issuance from time to time of its unsecured 

debentures, notes or other evidences of indebtedness (the “Securities”) as herein provided.  
   
All things necessary to make this Indenture a valid agreement of the Company, in accordance with its terms, have been done.  
   
For and in consideration of the premises and the purchase of the Securities by the Holders thereof, it is mutually covenanted and agreed as 

follows for the equal and ratable benefit of the Holders of the Securities:  
   

ARTICLE 1  
   

DEFINITIONS AND INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE  
   

SECTION 1.01. Definitions.  
   

“Affiliate” means any person directly or indirectly controlling or controlled by, or under direct or indirect common control with, the 
Company.  

   
“Agent” means any Paying Agent or Registrar.  
   
“Authorized Newspaper” means a newspaper of general circulation, in the official language of the country of publication or in the English 

language, customarily published on each business day. Whenever successive weekly publications in an Authorized Newspaper are required 
hereunder, they may be made (unless otherwise expressly provided herein) on the same or different days of the week and in the same or different 
Authorized Newspapers.  

   
“Board of Directors” means the Board of Directors of the Company or any duly authorized committee thereof.  

  
“Board Resolution” means a copy of a resolution of the Board of Directors, certified by the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the 

Company, to have been adopted by the Board of Directors and to be in full force and effect on the date of the certificate.  
   
“Company” means the party named as such in this Indenture until a successor replaces it and thereafter means the successor.  
   
“Company Order” means an order signed by two Officers or by any Officer and an Assistant Treasurer or an Assistant Secretary of the 

Company.  
   
“Default” means any event which is, or after notice or passage of time would be, an Event of Default.  
   
“Depositary” means The Depository Trust Company until a successor replaces it and thereafter means the successor.  

   
“Holder” or “Securityholder” means a bearer of an Unregistered Security or of a coupon appertaining thereto or a person in whose name a 

Registered Security is registered on the Registrar’s books.  
   
“Indenture” means this Indenture as amended or supplemented from time to time and shall include the forms and terms of particular 

Series of Securities established as contemplated hereunder.  
   
“interest,” when used with respect to an Original Issue Discount Security which by its terms bears interest only after maturity, means 

interest payable after maturity.  
   
“Officer” means the President, any Vice President, the Secretary, or any Assistant Secretary of the Company.  

  
“Officers’ Certificate” means a certificate signed by two Officers or by any Officer and an Assistant Treasurer or an Assistant Secretary of 

the Company.  
   
“Opinion of Counsel” means a written opinion of legal counsel who is acceptable to the Company and the Trustee. The counsel may be an 

employee of or counsel to the Company or the Trustee.  
   

 



   
“Original Issue Discount Security” means any Security which provides for an amount less than the stated principal amount thereof to be 

due and payable upon declaration of acceleration of the maturity thereof pursuant to Section 6.02.  
   
“principal” of a debt security means the principal of the debt security plus, when appropriate, the premium, if any, on the debt security.  

   
“Registered Global Security” means a Registered Security issued to the Depositary in accordance with Section 2.15 hereof.  

   
“Registered Security” means any Security (including a Registered Global Security) issued hereunder and registered as to principal and 

interest by the Registrar.  
   
“Responsible Officer”, when used with respect to the Trustee, means the chairman or any vice-chairman of the board of directors or 

trustees, the chairman or any vice-chairman of the executive committee of the board of directors or trustees, the president, any vice-president, the 
treasurer, the secretary, any trust officer, any second or assistant vice-president or any other officer or assistant officer of the Trustee customarily 
performing functions similar to those performed by the persons who at the time shall be such officers, respectively, or to whom any corporate 
trust matter is referred because of his knowledge of and familiarity with a particular subject.  

   
“SEC” means the Securities and Exchange Commission.  

   
“Series” or “Series of Securities” means a series of Securities as established by Section 2.02.  

   
“Securities” means the debentures, notes or other obligations of the Company issued, authenticated and delivered under this Indenture.  

   
“TIA” means the Trust Indenture Act of 1939 (15 U.S.C. §§ 77aaa-77bbbb) as in effect on the date of this Indenture.  

   
“Trustee” means the party named as such in this Indenture until a successor replaces it and thereafter means the successor and if, at any 

time, there is more than one Trustee, “Trustee” as used with respect to the Securities of any Series shall mean the Trustee with respect to that 
Series.  

   
“U.S. person” means a citizen, national or resident of the United States, a corporation, partnership or other entity created or organized in or 

under the laws of the United States or any political subdivision thereof, or an estate or trust which is subject to United States federal income 
taxation regardless of its source of income.  

   
“Unregistered Security” means any Security issued hereunder which is not a Registered Security.  
   
“Yield to Maturity” means the yield to maturity, calculated by the Company at the time of issuance of a Series of Securities or, if 

applicable, at the most recent determination of interest on such Series in accordance with accepted financial practice.  
   
SECTION 1.02.    Other Definitions.  
   

   
SECTION 1.03.    Incorporation by Reference of Trust Indenture Act.  
   

Whenever this Indenture refers to a provision of the TIA, the provision is incorporated by reference in and made a part of this Indenture. 
The following TIA terms used in this Indenture have the following meanings:  
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Term  
   Section  

   
“Bankruptcy Law”   

   6.01 
   

“Custodian”   
   6.01 

   
“Event of Default”   

   6.01 
   

“Legal Holiday”   
   10.07 

   
“Paying Agent”   

   2.04 
   

“Registrar”   
   2.04 

   
“U.S. Government Obligations”   

   8.01 
   



   
“Commission” means the SEC.  
   
“indenture securities” means the Securities.  
   
“indenture security holder” means a Holder or a Securityholder.  
   
“indenture to be qualified” means this Indenture.  
   
“indenture trustee” or “institutional trustee” means the Trustee.  
   
“obligor” on the indenture securities means the Company.  
   

All other terms used in this Indenture that are defined by the TIA, defined by TIA reference to another statute or defined by SEC rule under 
the TIA have the meanings assigned to them therein.  

   
SECTION  1.04. Rules of Construction.  
   

Unless the context otherwise requires:  
   
(1) term has the meaning assigned to it:  
   
(2) an accounting term not otherwise defined has the meaning assigned to it in accordance with generally accepted accounting 

principles;  
   
(3) “or” is not exclusive; and  
   
(4) words in the singular include the plural and words in the plural include the singular.  
   

ARTICLE 2  
 

THE SECURITIES  
   

SECTION 2.01. Issuable in Series.  
   

The aggregate principal amount of Securities which may be authenticated and delivered under this Indenture is unlimited. The Securities 
may be issued in one or more Series. There may be Registered Securities and Unregistered Securities within a Series and the Unregistered 
Securities may be subject to such restrictions, and contain such legends, as may be required by United States laws and regulations. Except as 
provided in the foregoing sentence, all Securities of a Series shall be identical in all respects except that Securities of a Series with serial 
maturities may differ with respect to maturity date, interest rate, redemption price and denomination. Securities of different Series may differ in 
any respect; provided that all Series of Securities shall be equally and ratably entitled to the benefits of this Indenture.  

   
SECTION  2.02. Establishment of Terms and Form of Series of Securities.  
   

(a) At or prior to the issuance of any Series of Securities, the following terms and form or forms (the “Terms of Form”) of any Series of 
Securities shall be established by a Company Board Resolution or by a specific Officer or Officers of the Company pursuant to a Company 
Board Resolution or by an indenture supplemental hereto:  

   
(1)   the title of the Securities of the Series (which title shall distinguish the Securities of the Series from the Securities of any other 

Series and from any other securities issued by the Company);  
   
(2)   any limit upon the aggregate principal amount of the Securities of the Series which may be authenticated and delivered under this 

Indenture (which limit shall not pertain to Securities authenticated and delivered upon registration of transfer of, or in exchange for, or in 
lieu of, other Securities of the Series pursuant to Section 2.08, 2.09, 2.12, 3.06 or 9.05);  

   
(3)   the date or dates on which the principal of the Securities of the Series is payable;  
   
(4)   the rate or rates at which the Securities of the Series shall bear interest, if any, or the method of calculating such rate or rates of 

interest (if other than a computation based upon a year of twelve 30-day months), the date or dates from which such interest shall accrue, the 
dates on which such interest shall be payable and, with respect to Registered Securities, the record date for the interest payable on any 
interest payment date;  
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(5)   the place or places where the principal of and interest on Registered and Unregistered, if any, Securities of the Series shall be 

payable;  
   
(6)   the period or periods within which, the price or prices at which, and the terms and conditions upon which, Securities of the 

Series may be redeemed, in whole or in part, at the option of the Company;  
   
(7)   the obligation, if any, of the Company to redeem or purchase Securities of the Series pursuant to any sinking fund or analogous 

provisions or upon the happening of a specified event or at the option of a Holder thereof and the period or periods within which, the price 
or prices at which, and the terms and conditions upon which, Securities of the Series shall be redeemed or purchased, in whole or in part, 
pursuant to such obligation;  

   
(8) if in other than denominations of $1,000 and any integral multiple thereof, the denominations in which Securities of the Series shall 

be issuable;  
   
(9) if other than the principal amount thereof the portion of the principal amount of Securities of the Series which shall be payable 

upon declaration of acceleration of the maturity thereof pursuant to Section 6.02;  
   
(10) whether Securities of the Series shall be issuable as Registered Securities or Unregistered Securities (with or without interest 

coupons), or both, or whether such Securities shall be uncertificated and any restrictions applicable to the offering, sale or delivery of 
Unregistered Securities and whether, and the terms upon which, Unregistered Securities of a Series may be exchanged for Registered 
Securities of the same Series and vice versa:  

   
(11) whether and under what circumstances the Company will pay additional amounts on the Securities of that Series held by a person 

who is not a U.S. person in respect of taxes or similar charges withheld or deducted and, if so, whether the Company will have the option to 
redeem such Securities rather than pay such additional amounts;  

   
(12) any other terms of the Series (which terms shall not be inconsistent with the provisions of this Indenture) including any terms 

which may be required by or advisable under United States laws or regulations or advisable in connection with the marketing of Securities 
of that Series;  

   
(13) the form or forms of the Securities (or forms thereof if Unregistered and Registered Securities shall be issuable in such Series, 

including such legends as may be required by United States laws or regulations or pursuant to Section 2.15, the form of any coupons or 
temporary global Security which may be issued and the forms of any certificates which may be required hereunder or under United States 
laws or regulations in connection with the offering, sale, delivery or exchange of Unregistered Securities);  

   
(14) if other than such coin or currency of the United States of America as at the time of payment is legal tender for payment of public 

or private debts, the coin or currency, including composite currency, in which payment of the principal of and premium, if any, or interest on 
the Securities of the Series shall be payable;  

   
(15) if the principal of or interest on the Securities of the Series are to be payable, at the election of the Company or a Holder thereof, 

in a coin or currency other than that in which the Securities are stated to be payable, the coin or currency, including composite currency, in 
which payment of the principal of and premium, if any, or interest on Securities of such Series as to which such election is made shall be 
payable, the period or periods within which, and the terms and conditions upon which, such election may be made;  

   
(16) if the amount of payments of principal of or interest on the Securities of the Series may be determined with reference to an index 

based on coin or currency other than that in which the Securities are stated to be payable, the manner in which such amounts shall be 
determined; and  

   
(17) whether Securities of the Series shall be issued in whole or in part in the form of one or more Registered Global Securities and, in 

such case, the depositary for such Registered Global Security or Securities; and whether beneficial owners of interests in any such 
Registered Global Securities may exchange such interests for other Securities of such Series and the manner and the circumstances under 
which and the place or places where any such exchanges may occur if other than in the manner provided in Section 2.08 or 2.15; and 
whether any restrictions on transfer apply to any such Registered Global Security.  

   
(b) If the Terms and Form of any Series of Securities are established by or pursuant to a Company Board Resolution, the Company shall 

deliver to the Trustee, at or prior to the issuance of such Series, a copy of such Board Resolution with the form or forms of the Securities which 
have been established thereby or pursuant thereto, and, in the event such Board Resolution authorizes a specific Officer or Officers of the 
Company to establish the Terms and Form of the Securities, a certificate of such Officer or Officers establishing and Terms and Form of the 
Securities attached thereto.  
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(c) Unregistered Securities and their coupons must have the following statement on their face; “Any United states person who holds this 

obligation will be subject to limitations under the United States income tax law, including the limitations provided in Section 165(j) and 1287
(a) of the Internal Revenue Code”.  

   



SECTION 2.03. Execution, Authentication and Delivery.  
   

(a) Securities shall be executed on behalf of the Company by its President, an Executive Vice President or a Vice President, and by its 
Treasurer or an Assistant Treasurer or its Secretary or an Assistant Secretary. Signatures shall be manual or facsimile. The Company’s seal shall 
be reproduced on the Securities and may, but need not, be attested. The coupons of Unregistered Securities shall bear the facsimile signature of 
the Treasurer or an Assistant Treasurer of the Company.  

   
(b) If an Officer, an Assistant Treasurer or an Assistant Secretary, whose signature is on a Security or coupon no longer holds that office at 

the time the Security is authenticated, the Security or coupon shall be valid nevertheless.  
   
(c) A Security shall not be valid until the Security is authenticated by the manual signature of the Trustee or an authenticating agent and no 

coupon shall be valid until the Security to which it appertains has been so authenticated. Such signature shall be conclusive evidence that the 
Security has been authenticated under this Indenture. Each Unregistered Security shall be dated the date of its authentication.  

   
(d)   The Trustee shall at any time, and from time to time, authenticate and deliver Securities of any Series executed and delivered by the 

Company for original issue in an unlimited aggregate principal amount, upon receipt by the Trustee of (i) a Company Order for the 
authentication and delivery of such Securities, (ii) if the Terms and Form of the Securities of such Series have been established by or pursuant to 
a Board Resolution as permitted pursuant to Section 2.02, a copy of such Board Resolution and any certificate that may be required pursuant to 
Section 2.02(b) and (iii) an Opinion of Counsel stating:  

   
(1) if the form of such Securities has been established by or pursuant to a Board Resolution as permitted by Section 2.02, that such 

form has been established in conformity with the provisions of this Indenture;  
   

(2)   if the terms of such Securities have been established by or pursuant to a Board Resolution as permitted by Section 2.02, that such 
terms have been established in conformity with the provisions of this Indenture; and  

   
(3)   that such Securities, when authenticated and delivered by the Trustee and issued by the Company in the manner and subject to any 

conditions specified in such Opinion of Counsel, will constitute valid and legally binding obligations of the Company, enforceable in 
accordance with their terms, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization and other laws of general applicability relating to or affecting 
the enforcement of creditor’s rights and to general equity principles.  

   
If the Terms and Form of such Securities have been established by or pursuant to a Board Resolution as permitted by Section 2.02, the 

Trustee shall not be required to authenticate such Securities if the issue of such Securities pursuant to this Indenture will materially and adversely 
affect the Trustee’s own rights, duties or immunities under the Securities and this Indenture or otherwise in a manner which is not reasonably 
acceptable to the Trustee.  

   
Notwithstanding the foregoing, until the Company has notified the Trustee and the Registrar that, as a result of the action described, the 

Company would not suffer adverse consequences under the provisions of United States law or regulations in effect at the time of the delivery of 
Unregistered Securities, (i) delivery of Unregistered Securities will be made only outside the United States and its possessions and 
(ii) Unregistered Securities will be released in definitive form to the person entitled to physical delivery thereof only upon presentation of a 
certificate in the form prescribed by the Company.  

   
(e) The aggregate principal amount of Securities of any Series outstanding at any time may not exceed any limit upon the maximum 

principal amount for such Series set forth in the Board Resolution (or certificate of an Officer or Officers) or supplemental indenture pursuant to 
Section 2.02.  

   
(f) The Trustee may appoint an authenticating agent to authenticate Securities. An authenticating agent may authenticate Securities 

whenever the Trustee may do so. Each reference in this Indenture to authentication by the Trustee includes authentication by such agent. An 
authenticating agent has the same rights as an Agent to deal with the Company or an Affiliate.  
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SECTION 2.04. Registrar and Paying Agent.  
   

The Company shall maintain in the Borough of Manhattan, The City of New York, State of New York and in Chicago, Illinois, an office or 
agency where (subject to Section 2.15) Registered Securities may be presented for registration of transfer or for exchange (“Registrar”) and 
Chicago, Illinois, where (subject to Sections 2.05, 2.08 and 2.15) Securities may be presented for payment (“Paying Agent”). With respect to any 
Series of Securities issued in whole or in part as Unregistered Securities, the Company shall maintain one or more Paying Agents located outside 
the United States and its possessions and shall maintain such Paying Agents for a period of two years after the principal of such Unregistered 
Securities has become due and payable. During any period thereafter for which it is necessary in order to conform to United States tax law or 
regulations, the Company will maintain a Paying Agent outside the United States and its possessions to which the Unregistered Securities or 
coupons appertaining thereto may be presented for payment and will provide the necessary funds therefor to such Paying Agent upon reasonable 
notice. The Registrar shall keep a register with respect to each Series of Securities issued in whole or in part as Registered Securities and to their 
transfer and exchange. The Company may appoint one or more co- Registrars and one or more additional Paying Agents for each Series of 
Securities and the Company may terminate the appointment of any co-Registrar or Paying Agent at any time upon written notice to such 
Registrar or Paying Agent and to the Trustee. The term “Registrar” includes any co-Registrar. The term “Paying Agent” includes any additional 
Paying Agent. The Company shall notify the Trustee of the name and address of any Agent not a party to this Indenture. If the Company fails to 
maintain a Registrar or Paying Agent, the Trustee shall act as such.  

   
SECTION 2.05. Payment on Securities.  
   

(a)   Subject to the following provisions, the Company will pay to the Trustee or Paying Agent the amounts, in such coin or currency as is 
at the time legal tender for the payment of public or private debt, at the times and for the purposes set forth herein and in the text of the Securities 
for each Series, and the Company hereby authorizes and directs the Trustee or Paying Agent from funds so paid to it to make or cause to be 
made payment of the principal of and interest, if any, on the Securities and coupons of each Series as set forth herein and in the text of such 
Securities and coupons. The Trustee or Paying Agent, as the case may be, will make payment, from funds furnished it by the Company, of the 
principal of and interest, if any, on the Securities and coupons of each Series by check drawn upon a bank specified by the Company and 
acceptable to the Trustee.  

   
(b)   Subject to Section 2.15(e), interest, if any, on Registered Securities of a Series shall be paid on each interest payment date for such 

Series to the Holder thereof at the close of business on the relevant record dates specified on the Securities of such Series. The Company may 
pay such interest by check mailed to such Holder’s address as it appears on the register for Securities of such Series. Subject to Section 2.15(e), 
principal of Registered Securities shall be payable only against presentation and surrender thereof at the office of the Paying Agent in New York, 
New York, or Chicago, Illinois unless the Company shall have otherwise instructed the Trustee in writing.  

   
(c)   To the extent provided in the Securities of a Series, (i) interest, if any, on Unregistered Securities shall be paid only against 

presentation and surrender of the coupons for such interest installments as are evidenced thereby as they mature and (ii) original issue discount 
(as defined in Section 1273 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as amended), if any, on Unregistered Securities shall be paid only against 
presentation and surrender of such Securities, in either case at the office of a Paying Agent located outside of the United States and its 
possessions, unless the Company shall have otherwise instructed the Trustee in writing. Principal of Unregistered Securities shall be paid only 
against presentation and surrender thereof as provided in the Securities of a Series. If at the time a payment of principal of or interest, if any, or 
original issue discount, if any, on an Unregistered Security or coupon shall become due, the payment of the full amount so payable at the office 
or offices of all the Paying Agents outside the United States and its possessions is illegal or effectively precluded because of the imposition of 
exchange controls or other similar restrictions on the payment of such amount in United States currency, then the Company may instruct the 
Trustee to make such payments at the office of a Paying Agent located in the United States, provided that provision for such payment in the 
United States would not cause such Unregistered Securities to be treated as a “registration-required obligation” under United States law and 
regulations. Unless otherwise instructed by the Company, no payments of interest, original issue discounts, or principal with respect to 
Unregistered Securities shall be made by a Paying Agent (i) by a transfer of funds into an account maintained by the payee in the United States, 
(ii) mailed to an address in the United States or (ii) paid to a United States address by electronic funds transfer.  
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SECTION 2.06. Paying Agent to Hold Money in Trust.  
   

The Company shall require each Paying Agent other than the Trustee to agree in writing that the Paying Agent will hold in trust, for the 
benefit of Securityholders of any or all Series or Securities, or the Trustee, all money held by the Paying Agent for the payment of principal or 
interest on such Series of Securities, and that the Paying Agent will notify the Trustee of any default by the Company in making any such 
payment. While any such default continues, the Trustee may require a Paying Agent to pay all money held by it to the Trustee. If the Company 
or an Affiliate acts as Paying Agent, it shall segregate the money held by it for the payment of principal or interest on any Series of Securities 
and hold such money as a separate trust fund. The Company at any time may require a Paying Agent to pay all money held by it to the Trustee. 
Upon so doing the Paying Agent shall have no further liability for the money so paid.  

   
SECTION 2.07. Securityholder Lists: Ownership of Securities.  
   

(a) The Trustee shall preserve in as current a form as is reasonably practicable the most recent list available to it of the names and addresses 
of Holders of each Series of Securities. If the Trustee is not the Registrar, the Company shall furnish to the Trustee semiannually on or before the 
last day of June and December in each year, and at such other times as the Trustee may request in writing, a list in such form and as of such date 
as the Trustee may reasonably require, containing all the information in the possession or control of the Registrar, the Company or any of its 
Paying Agents other than the Trustee as to the names and addresses of Holders of each such Series of Securities.  

   
(b) Ownership of Registered Securities of a Series shall be proved by the register for such Series kept by the Registrar. Ownership of 

Unregistered Securities may be proved by the production of such Unregistered Securities or by a certificate or affidavit executed by the person 
holding such Unregistered Securities or by a depository with whom such Unregistered Securities were deposited, if the certificate or affidavit is 
satisfactory to the Trustee. The Company, the Trustee and any agent of the Company may treat the bearer of any Unregistered Security or 
coupon and the person in whose name a Registered Security is registered as the absolute owner thereof for all purposes.  

   
SECTION 2.08. Transfer and Exchange.  
   

(a) Subject to Section 2.15, when Registered Securities of a Series are presented to the Registrar with a request to register their transfer or 
to exchange them for an equal principal amount of Registered Securities of the same Series and date of maturity of other authorized 
denominations, the Registrar shall register the transfer or make the exchange if its requirements for such transactions are met.  

   
(b) If both Registered and Unregistered Securities are authorized for a Series of Securities and the terms of such Securities permit, 

(i) Unregistered Securities may be exchanged for an equal principal amount of Registered or Unregistered Securities of the same Series and date 
of maturity in any authorized denominations upon delivery to the Registrar (or a Paying Agent, if the exchange is for Unregistered Securities) of 
the Unregistered Security with all unmatured coupons and all matured coupons in default appertaining thereto and if all other requirements of the 
Registrar (or such Paying Agent) and such Securities for such exchange are met, and (ii) Registered Securities may be exchanged for an equal 
principal amount of Unregistered Securities of the same Series and date of maturity in any authorized denominations (except that any coupons 
appertaining to such Unregistered Securities which have matured and have been paid shall be detached) upon delivery to the Registrar of the 
Registered Securities and if all other requirements of the Registrar (or such Paying Agent) and such Securities for such exchange are met.  

   
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the exchange of Unregistered Securities for Registered Securities or Registered Securities for Unregistered 

Securities will be subject to the satisfaction of the provisions of United States law and regulations in effect at the time of such exchange, and no 
exchange of Registered Securities for Unregistered Securities will be made until the Company has notified the Trustee and the Registrar that, as 
a result of such exchange, the Company would not suffer adverse consequences under such law or regulations.  

   
(c)   To permit registrations of transfers and exchanges, the Trustee shall authenticate Securities upon surrender of Securities for 

registration of transfer or for exchange as provided in this Section. The Company will not make any charge for any registration of transfer or 
exchange but may require the payment by the party requesting such registration of transfer or exchange of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or 
other governmental charge payable in connection therewith.  
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(d) Neither the Company nor the Registrar shall be required (i) to issue, register the transfer of or exchange Securities of any Series for the 

period of 13 days immediately preceding the selection of any such Securities to be redeemed, or (ii) to register the transfer of or exchange 
Securities of any Series selected, called or being called for redemption as a whole or the portion being redeemed of any such Securities selected, 
called or being called for redemption in part.  

   
(e)   Unregistered Securities or any coupons appertaining thereto shall be transferable by delivery.  
   

SECTION 2.09. Replacement Securities.  
   
(a) If a mutilated Security or a Security with a mutilated coupon appertaining to it is surrendered to the Trustee, the Company shall issue 

and the Trustee shall authenticate a replacement Registered Security, if such surrendered security was a Registered Security, or a replacement 
Unregistered Security with coupons corresponding to the coupons appertaining to the surrendered Security, if such surrendered Security was an 
Unregistered Security, of the same Series and date of maturity, if the Trustee’s requirements are met.  

   
(b) If the Holder of a Security claims that the Security or any coupon appertaining thereto has been lost, destroyed or wrongfully taken, the 

Company shall issue and the Trustee shall authenticate a replacement Registered Security, if such Holder’s claim pertains to a Registered 
Security, or a replacement Unregistered Security with coupons corresponding to the coupons appertaining to the lost, destroyed or wrongfully 
taken Unregistered Security or the Unregistered Security to which such lost, destroyed or wrongfully taken coupon appertains, if such Holder’s 
claim pertains to an Unregistered Security, of the same Series and date of maturity, if the Trustee’s requirements are met; provided, however, 
that the Trustee or the Company may require any such Holder to provide to the Trustee or the Company security or indemnity sufficient in the 
judgment of the Company and the Trustee to protect the Company, the Trustee, any Agent or any authenticating agent from any loss which any 
of them may suffer if a Security is replaced. The Company may charge the party requesting a replacement Security for its expenses in replacing a 
Security.  

   
(c)  Every replacement Security is an additional obligation of the Company.  
   
(d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, replacement Securities need not be issued in any of the circumstances 

described in this Section 2.09 if the Company or the Trustee have notice that the mutilated, lost, destroyed or wrongfully taken Security has been 
acquired by a bona fide purchaser.  

   
SECTION 2.10. Outstanding Securities.  
   

(a)   Securities outstanding at any time are all Securities authenticated by the Trustee except for those cancelled by it, those delivered to it 
for cancellation, and those described in this Section as not outstanding.  

   
(b)   If a Security is replaced pursuant to Section 2.09, it ceases to be outstanding until the Trustee receives proof satisfactory to it that the 

replaced Security is held by a bona fide purchaser.  
   
(c)   If the Paying Agent holds on a redemption date or maturity date money sufficient to pay all amounts due on Securities of any Series on 

that date, then on and after that date all Securities of such Series cease to be outstanding and interest on them ceases to accrue.  
   
(d)   A Security does not cease to be outstanding because the Company or an Affiliate holds the Security.  
   
(e)   In determining whether the Holders of the requisite principal amount of outstanding Securities of any Series have given any request, 

demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent or waiver hereunder, or whether sufficient funds are available for redemption or for any other 
purpose, the principal amount of an Original Issue Discount Security that shall be deemed to be outstanding for such purposes shall be the 
amount of the principal thereof that would be due and payable as of the date of such determination upon a declaration of acceleration of the 
maturity thereof pursuant to Section 6.02.  

   
SECTION 2.11. Treasury Securities.  
   

In determining whether the Holders of the requisite principal amount of Securities of any Series have concurred in any direction, waiver or 
consent, Securities of such Series owned by the Company or an Affiliate shall  
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be disregarded, except that for the purposes of determining whether the Trustee shall be protected in relying on any such direction, waiver or 
consent, only Securities of such Series which the Trustee knows are so owned shall be so disregarded.  
   
SECTION 2.12. Temporary Securities.  
   

(a) Until definitive Registered Securities of any Series are ready for delivery, the Company may prepare and execute and the Trustee shall 
authenticate temporary Registered Securities of such Series. Temporary Registered Securities of any Series shall be substantially in the form of 
definitive Registered Securities of such Series but may have variations that the Company considers appropriate for temporary Securities. Every 
temporary Registered Security shall be executed by the Company and authenticated by the Trustee, and registered by the Registrar, upon the 
same conditions, and with like effect, as a definitive Registered Security. Without unreasonable delay, the Company shall prepare and the 
Trustee shall authenticate definitive Registered Securities of the same Series and date of maturity in exchange for temporary Registered 
Securities.  

   
(b) Until definitive Unregistered Securities of any Series are ready for delivery, the Company may prepare and execute and the Trustee 

shall authenticate one or more temporary Unregistered Securities which may have coupons attached or which may be in the form of a single 
temporary global Unregistered Security of that Series. The temporary Unregistered Security or Securities of any Series shall be substantially in 
the form approved by or pursuant to a Board Resolution and shall be delivered to one of the Paying Agents located outside the United States and 
its possessions or to such other person or persons as the Company shall direct against such certification as the Company may from time to time 
prescribe by or pursuant to a Board Resolution. The temporary Unregistered Security or Securities of a Series shall be executed by the Company 
and authenticated by the Trustee upon the same conditions, and with like effect, as a definitive Unregistered Security of such Series, except as 
provided herein or therein. A temporary Unregistered Security or Securities shall be exchangeable for definitive Unregistered Securities at the 
time and on the conditions, if any, specified in the temporary Security.  

   
Upon any exchange of a part of a temporary Unregistered Security of a Series for definitive Unregistered Securities of such Series, the 

temporary Unregistered Security shall be endorsed by the Trustee or Paying Agent to reflect the reduction of its principal amount by an amount 
equal to the aggregate principal amount of definitive Unregistered Securities of such Series so exchanged and endorsed.  

   
(c)  Until definitive Registered Global Securities of any Series are ready for delivery, the Company may prepare and execute and the 

Trustee shall authenticate temporary Registered Global Securities of such Series. Temporary Registered Global Securities of any Series shall be 
substantially in the form of definitive Registered Global Securities of such Series but may have variations that the Company considers 
appropriate for temporary Securities. Every temporary Registered Global Security shall be executed by the Company and authenticated by the 
Trustee, and registered by the Registrar, upon the same conditions, and with the like effect, as a definitive Registered Global Security. Without 
unreasonable delay, the Company shall prepare and the Trustee shall authenticate definitive Registered Global Securities of the same Series and 
date of maturity in exchange for temporary Registered Global Securities.  

   
SECTION 2.13. Cancellation.  
   

The Company at any time may deliver Securities and coupons to the Trustee for cancellation. The Registrar and the Paying Agent shall 
forward to the Trustee any Securities and coupons surrendered to them for registration of transfer, or for exchange or payment. The Trustee shall 
cancel all Securities and coupons surrendered for registration of transfer, or for exchange, payment or cancellation and may destroy such 
cancelled Securities and coupons; provided, however, that any Unregistered Securities of a Series delivered to the Trustee for exchange prior to 
maturity shall be retained by the Trustee for reissue as provided herein or in the Securities of such Series. The Trustee shall provide the 
Company with a certificate identifying the Securities destroyed in accordance with the preceeding sentance. The Company may not issue new 
Securities to replace Securities that it has paid or delivered to the Trustee for cancellation.  

   
SECTION 2.14. Defaulted Interest.  
   

If the Company defaults on a payment of interest on a Series of Securities, it shall pay the defaulted interest as provided in such Securities 
or in any lawful manner not inconsistent with the requirements of any securities exchange on which such Securities may be listed and acceptable 
to the Trustee.  

   
SECTION 2.15. Global Security.  
   

(a)   The Company may issue Securities of a Series in the form of one or more Registered Global Securities. In such case, the Company 
shall execute and the Trustee shall, in accordance with this Article Two, authenticate and  
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deliver, one or more Registered Global Securities which (i) shall represent, and shall be denominated in an amount equal to, the aggregate 
principal amount of all of the the Securities of such Series to be issued hereunder, (ii) shall be registered in the name of the Depository Trust 
Company (the “Depositary”) or its nominee, (iii) shall be delivered by the Trustee to the Depositary or pursuant to the Depositary’s instruction, 
(iv) shall be substantially in the form of the form of Securities specified pursuant to Section 2.02, with such changes therein as may be necessary 
to reflect that each such Registered Global Security is a global security, and (v) each of which shall bear a legend substantially to the following 
effect: “Unless and until it is exchanged in whole or in part for Notes in definitive form, this Note may not be transferred except as a whole by 
the Depositary to a nominee of the Depositary, or by a nominee of the Depositary to the Depositary or another nominee of the Depositary, or by 
the Depositary or any such nominee to a successor Depositary or a nominee of such Depositary. Unless this certificate is presented by an 
authorized representative of the Depository Trust Company (55 Water Street, New York, New York) to the issuer or its agent for registration of 
transfer, exchange or payment, and any certificate issued is registered in the name of Cede & Co. or such other name as requested by an 
authorized representative of The Depository Trust Company and any payment is made to Cede & Co., ANY TRANSFER, PLEDGE OR OTHER 
USE HEREOF FOR VALUE OR OTHERWISE BY OR TO ANY PERSON IS WRONGFUL since the registered owner hereof, Cede & Co., 
has an interest herein.”  
   

(b) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Section 2.15 or of Section 2.08, the Registered Global Securities may be transferred, in 
whole, but not in part, and in the manner provided in Section 2.08, only by the Depositary to a nominee of such Depositary or by a nominee of 
such Depositary to such Depositary or another nominee of such Depositary or by such Depositary or any such nominee to a successor Depositary 
selected or approved by the Company or to a nominee of such successor Depositary.  

   
(c)  The Depositary shall be a clearing agency registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and any other applicable 

statute or regulation.  
   
(d) If at any time the Depositary notifies the Company that it is unwilling or unable to continue as Depositary of a Series of Securities or if 

at any time the Depositary shall not longer be eligible under paragraph (c)   of this Section 2.15, and a successor Depositary is not appointed by 
the Company within 90 days after the Company receives such notice or becomes aware of such condition, as the case may be, this Section 2.15 
shall no longer be applicable to the Securities of such Series and the Company will execute, and the Trustee will authenticate and deliver, 
Securities of such Series in definitive registered form without coupons, in authorized denominations, and in an aggregate principal amount equal 
to the principal amount of the Registered Global Securities of such Series then outstanding in exchange for such Registered Global Securities. In 
addition, the Company may at any time and in its sole discretion determine that the Securities of a Series shall no longer be represented by 
Registered Global Securities and that the provisions of this Section 2.15 shall no longer apply to the Securities of such Series. In such event the 
Company will execute, and the Trustee, upon receipt of a Company Order evidencing such determination by the Company, will authenticate and 
deliver, Securities of such Series in definitive registered form without coupons, in authorized denominations and in an aggregate principal 
amount equal to the principal amount of the Registered Global Securities of such Series then outstanding in exchange for such Registered Global 
Securities. Upon the exchange of the Registered Global Securities for such Securities in definitive registered form without coupons, in 
authorized denominations, such Registered Global Securities shall be cancelled by the Trustee. Such Securities in definitive registered form 
issued in exchange for the Registered Global Securities pursuant to this Section 2.15(d) shall be registered in such names and in such authorized 
denominations as the Depositary, pursuant to instructions from its direct or indirect participants or otherwise, shall instruct the Trustee. The 
Trustee shall deliver such Securities to the persons in whose names such Securities are so registered.  

   
(e)  As long as the Securities of a Series outstanding are represented by one or more Registered Global Securities, the Company shall pay or 

cause to be paid the principal of, and interest on, such Registered Global Securities to the Holder thereof or a single nominee of the Holder, or, at 
the option of the Company, to such other persons as the Holder thereof may designate, by wire transfer of immediately available funds on the 
date such payments are due.  

   
(f) If Securities are to be issued in global form other than as Registered Global Securities, the provisions governing such Securities shall be 

specified pursuant to Section 2.02 or by an indenture supplemental hereto.  
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ARTICLE 3  
   

REDEMPTION  
   

SECTION 3.01. Notice to Trustee.  
   

The Company may, with respect to any Series of Securities, reserve the right to redeem and pay the Series of Securities or any part thereof, or 
may covenant to redeem and pay the Series of Securities or any part thereof, before maturity at such time and on such terms as provided for in 
such Securities. If a Series of Securities is redeemable and the Company wants or is obligated to redeem all or part of the Series of Securities 
pursuant to the terms of such Securities, it shall notify the Trustee of the redemption date and the principal amount of the Series of Securities to 
be redeemed. The Company shall give such notice at least 60 days before the redemption date (or such shorter notice as may be acceptable to the 
Trustee).  

   
SECTION 3.02. Selection of Securities to be Redeemed.  
   

If less than all the Securities of a Series are to be redeemed, the Trustee, not more than 60 days prior to the redemption date, shall select the 
Securities of the Series to be redeemed in such manner as the Trustee shall deem fair and appropriate. The Trustee shall make the selection from 
Securities of the Series that are outstanding and that have not previously been called for redemption or reacquired by the Company. Securities of 
the Series and portions of them selected by the Trustee shall be in amounts of $1,000 or integral multiples of $1,000 or, with respect to Securities 
of any Series issuable in any other denominations, in amounts equal to the minimum principal denomination for each such Series and integral 
multiples thereof. Provisions of this Indenture that apply to Securities of a Series called for redemption also apply to portions of Securities of that 
Series called for redemption. The Trustee shall promptly notify the Company in writing of the Securities selected for redemption and, in the case 
of any Securities selected for partial redemption, the amount thereof to be redeemed.  

   
SECTION   3.03. Notice of Redemption.  
   

(a)  At least 30 days but not more than 90 days before a redemption date, the Company shall mail a notice of redemption by first-class mail 
to each Holder of Registered Securities that are to be redeemed.  

   
(b)  If Unregistered Securities are to be redeemed, notice of redemption shall be published in an Authorized Newspaper in each of The City 

of New York, London and, if such Securities to be redeemed are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, Luxembourg once in each of four 
successive calendar weeks, the first publication to be not less than 30 nor more than 90 days before the redemption date.  

   
(c)  All notices shall identify the Series of Securities to be redeemed and shall state:  
   

(1) the redemption date;  
   
(2) the redemption price;  
   
(3) if less than all the outstanding Securities of a Series are to be redeemed, the identification (and, in the case of partial redemption, 

the principal amounts) of the particular Securities to be redeemed;  
   
(4) the name and address of the Paying Agent;  
   
(5) that Securities of the Series called for redemption and all unmatured coupons, if any, appertaining thereto must be surrendered to 

the Paying Agent to collect the redemption price; and  
   
(6) that interest on Securities of the Series called for redemption ceases to accrue on and after the redemption date.  
   

At the Company’s request, the Trustee shall give the notice of redemption in the Company’s name and at its expense.  
   
If the Company gives the notice of redemption, the Company shall promptly provide the Trustee with evidence satisfactory to the Trustee of 

its compliance with the notice requirements of this section.  
   

SECTION   3.04. Effect of Notice of Redemption.  
   

Once notice of redemption is mailed or published, Securities of a Series called for redemption become due and payable on the redemption 
date and from and after such date (unless the Company shall default in the payment of the redemption price) such Securities shall cease to bear 
interest. Upon surrender to the Paying Agent of such Securities together with all unmatured coupons, if any, appertaining thereto, such 
Securities shall be paid at the redemption price plus accrued interest to the redemption date, but installments of interest due on or prior to the 
redemption date will be payable, in the case of Unregistered Securities, to the bearers of the coupons for such interest upon surrender thereof, 
and, in the case of Registered Securities, to the Holders of such Securities of record at the close of business on the relevant record dates.  
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SECTION 3.05. Deposit of Redemption Price.  
   

On or before the redemption date, the Company shall deposit with the Trustee money sufficient to pay the redemption price of and (unless 
the redemption date shall be an interest payment date) interest accrued to the redemption date on all Securities to be redeemed on that date.  

   
SECTION 3.06. Securities Redeemed in Part.  
   

Upon surrender of a Security that is redeemed in part, the Company shall issue and the Trustee shall authenticate for the Holder of that 
Security a new Security or Securities of the same Series, in the same form and with the same maturity, in authorized denominations equal in 
aggregate principal amount to the unredeemed portion of the Security surrendered.  

   
ARTICLE 4  

   
COVENANTS  

   
SECTION 4.01. Payment of Securities.  
   

The Company shall pay the principal of and interest on the Securities on the dates and in the manner provided herein and in the Securities. 
An installment of principal or interest shall be considered paid on the date it is due if the Trustee or Paying Agent holds on that date money 
designated for and sufficient to pay the installment.  

   
The Company shall pay interest on overdue principal of a Security of any Series at the rate of interest (or Yield to Maturity in the case of 

Original Issue Discount Securities) borne by the Securities of that Series; to the extent lawful, it shall pay interest on overdue installments of 
interest at the same rate.  

   
SECTION 4.02. Reports by the Company.  
   

The Company covenants:  
   

(a)   to file with the Trustee, within 15 days after the Company is required to file the same with the SEC, copies of the annual reports 
and of the information, documents and other reports (or copies of such portions of any of the foregoing as the SEC may from time to time by 
rules and regulations prescribe) which the Company may be required to file with the SEC pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or, if the Company is not required to file information, documents or reports pursuant to either 
of such sections, then to file with the Trustee and the SEC, in accordance with rules and regulations prescribed from time to time by the 
SEC, such of the supplementary and periodic information, documents and reports which may be required pursuant to Section 13 of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, in respect of a security listed and registered on a national securities exchange as may be 
prescribed from time to time in such rules and regulations;  

   
(b)   to file with the Trustee and the SEC, in accordance with the rules and regulations prescribed form time to time by the SEC, such 

additional information, documents and reports with respect to compliance by the Company with the conditions and covenants provided for 
in this Indenture as may be required from time to time by such rules and regulations; and  

   
(c)   to transmit by mail to all Holders of Registered Securities, as the names and addresses of such Holders appear on the register for 

each Series of Securities, and to such Holders of Unregistered Securities as have, within the two years preceding such transmission, filed 
their names and addresses with the Trustee for that purpose, within 30 days after the filing thereof with the Trustee, such summaries of any 
information, documents and reports required to be filed by the Company pursuant to subsections (a) and (b) of this Section 4.02 as may be 
required by rules and regulations prescribed from time to time by the SEC.  

   
SECTION 4.03. Lien on Assets.  
   

If at any time the Company mortgages, pledges or otherwise subjects to any lien the whole or any part of any property or assets now owned 
or hereafter acquired by it, except as hereinafter provided in this Section 4.03, the Company will secure the outstanding Securities, and any 
other obligations of the Company which may then be outstanding and entitled to the benefit of a covenant similar in effect to this covenant, 
equally and ratably with the  
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indebtedness or obligations secured by such mortgage, pledge or lien, for as long as any such indebtedness or obligation is so secured by such 
mortgage, pledge or lien, for as long as any such indebtedness or obligation is so secured. The foregoing covenant does not apply (i) to the 
creation, extension, renewal or refunding of (a) mortgages or liens created or existing at the time property is acquired, (b) mortgages or liens 
created within 180 days thereafter, or (c) mortgages or liens for the purpose of securing the cost of construction or improvement of property, or 
(ii) to the making of any deposit or pledge to secure public or statutory obligations or with any governmental agency at any time required by law 
in order to qualify the Company to conduct its business or any part thereof or in order to entitle it to maintain self-insurance or to obtain the 
benefits of any law relating to workmen’s compensation, unemployment insurance, old age pensions or other social security, or with any court, 
board, commission or governmental agency as security incident to the proper conduct of any proceeding before it. Nothing contained in this 
Indenture prevents any entity other than the Company from mortgaging, pledging or subjecting to any lien any of its property or assets, whether 
or not acquired from the Company.  
   

ARTICLE 5  
   

SUCCESSOR CORPORATION  
   

SECTION   5.01. When the Company May Merge, etc.  
   

The Company may consolidate with, or merge into, or be merged into, or transfer or lease its properties and assets substantially as an 
entirety to, any person provided (i) that the person is a corporation which assumes by supplemental indenture all the obligations of the Company 
under the Securities and any coupons appertaining thereto and under this Indenture, and (ii) that after giving effect thereto, no Default or Event 
of Default shall have occurred and be continuing. Thereafter all such obligations of the Company shall terminate and the Company shall be 
discharged in accordance with Article 8 herein.  

   
ARTICLE 6  

   
DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES  

   
SECTION 6.01. Events of Default.  
   

An “Event of Default” occurs with respect to the Securities of any Series if:  
   

(1) default is made in the payment of interest on any Security of that Series when the same becomes due and payable and the Default 
continues for a period of 90 days;  

   
(2) default is made in the payment of the principal of any Security of that Series when the same becomes due and payable at maturity, 

upon redemption or otherwise;  
   
(3) the Company fails to comply with any of its other agreements in the Securities of that Series, in this Indenture or in any 

supplemental indenture under which the Securities of that Series may have been issued and the Default continues for the period and after the 
notice specified below;  

   
(4) the Company pursuant to or within the meaning of any Bankruptcy Law:  
   

(A)  commences a voluntary case,  
   
(B)  consents to the entry of an order for relief against it in an involuntary case,  
   
(C)  consents to the appointment of a Custodian of it or for all or substantially all of its property, or  
   
(D)  makes a general assignment for the benefit of its creditors; or  
   

(5) a court of competent jurisdiction enters an order under any Bankruptcy Law that:  
   

(A)  is for relief against the Company in an involuntary case,  
   
(B)  appoints a Custodian of the Company or for all or substantially all of its property, or  
   
(C)  orders the liquidation of the Company, and the order or decree remains unstayed and in effect for 90 days.  
   

The term “Bankruptcy Law” means Title 11, U.S. Code or any similar federal or state law for the relief of debtors. The term “Custodian” 
means any receiver, trustee, assignee, liquidator or similar official under any Bankruptcy Law.  
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A Default under clause (3) is not an Event of Default until the Trustee or the Holders of at least 25% in principal amount of all the 

outstanding Securities of that Series notify the Company (and the Trustee in the case of notification by such Holders) of the Default and the 
Company does not cure the Default within 90 days after receipt of the notice. The notice must specify the Default, demand that it be remedied 
and state that the notice is a “Notice of Default.”  

   
SECTION   6.02. Acceleration.  
   

If an Event of Default occurs with respect to the Securities of any Series and is continuing, the Trustee, by notice to the Company, or the 
Holders of at least 25% in principal amount of all of the outstanding Securities of that Series, by notice to the Company and to the Trustee, may 
declare the principal (or, if the Securities of that Series are Original Issue Discount Securities, such portion of the principal amount as may be 
specified in the terms of that Series) of all the Securities of that Series to be due and payable. Upon such declaration, such principal (or, in the 
case of Original Issue Discount Securities, such specified amount) shall be due and payable immediately. The Holders of a majority in principal 
amount of all of the Securities of that Series, by notice to the Trustee, may rescind such a declaration and its consequences if the rescission 
would not conflict with any judgment or decree and if all existing Events of Default have been cured or waived except nonpayment of principal 
or interest that has become due solely because of the acceleration.  

   
SECTION   6.03. Other Remedies Available to Trustee.  
   

(a)  If an Event of Default occurs and is continuing, the Trustee may pursue any available remedy to collect the payment of principal of or 
interest on the Securities of the Series that is in default or to enforce the performance of any provision of the Securities of that Series or this 
Indenture.  

   
(b)  The Trustee may maintain a proceeding even if it does not possess any of the Securities or does not produce any of them in the 

proceeding. A delay or omission by the Trustee or any Securityholder in exercising any right or remedy accruing upon an Event of Default shall 
not impair the right or remedy or constitute a waiver of or acquiescence in the Event of Default. No remedy is exclusive of any other remedy. All 
available remedies are cumulative.  

   
SECTION   6.04. Waiver of Existing Defaults.  
   

The Holders of a majority in principal amount of any Series of Securities by notice to the Trustee may waive an existing Default with 
respect to that Series and its consequences except a Default in the payment of the principal of or interest on any Security.  

   
SECTION   6.05. Control by Majority.  
   

The Holders of a majority in principal amount of the Securities of each Series affected (with each such Series voting as a class) may direct 
the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the Trustee or exercising any trust power conferred on it. 
However, the Trustee may refuse to follow any direction that conflicts with law or this Indenture that is unduly prejudicial to the rights of the 
Securityholders of all Series so affected, or that would involve the Trustee in personal liability.  

   
SECTION   6.06. Limitation on Suits by Securityholders.  
   

A Securityholder may pursue a remedy with respect to this Indenture or the Securities of any Series only if:  
   
(1)  the Holder gives to the Trustee written notice of a continuing Event of Default;  
   
(2)  the Holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the Securities of that Series make a written request to the Trustee to pursue the 

remedy;  
   
(3)  such Holder or Holders offer to the Trustee indemnity satisfactory to the Trustee against any loss, liability or expense to be, or which 

may be, incurred by the Trustee in pursuing the remedy;  
   
(4)  the Trustee does not comply with the request within 60 days after receipt of the request and the offer of indemnity; and  
   
(5)  during such 60 day period, the Holders of a majority in principal amount of the Securities of that Series do not give the Trustee a 

direction inconsistent with the request.  
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A Securityholder of any Series may not use this Indenture to prejudice the rights of another Securityholder of that Series or any other 

Series or to obtain a preference or priority over another Securityholder of that Series or any other Series.  
   

SECTION 6.07. Rights of Holders to Receive Payment.  
   

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Indenture, the right of any Holder of a Security to receive payment of principal of and interest 
on the Security, on or after the respective due dates expressed in the Security, and the right of any Holder of a coupon to receive payment of 
interest due as provided in such coupon, or to bring suit for the enforcement of any such payment on or after such respective dates, shall not be 



impaired or affected without the consent of such Holder.  
   

SECTION 6.08. Collection Suits by Trustee.  
   

If an Event of Default specified in Section 6.01(1) or (2) occurs and continues for the period specified therein, if any, the Trustee may 
recover judgment in its own name and as trustee of an express trust against the Company for the whole amount of such principal and interest 
then in default.  

   
SECTION 6.09. Trustee May File Proofs of Claim.  
   

The Trustee may file such proofs of claim and other papers or documents as may be necessary or advisable in order to have the claims of the 
Trustee and the Securityholders allowed in any judicial proceedings relating to the Company, its creditors or its property.  

   
SECTION 6.10. Priorities.  
   

If the Trustee collects any money pursuant to this Article, it shall pay out the money in the following order:  
   

FIRST:   to the Trustee for amounts due under Section 7.07;  
   

SECOND:   to Holders of Securities in respect of which or for the benefit of which such money has been collected for amounts due and 
unpaid on such Securities for principal and interest, ratably, without preference or priority of any kind, according to the amounts due and 
payable on such Securities for principal and interest, respectively; and  

   
THIRD:     to the person or persons lawfully entitled thereto, or as a Court of competent jurisdiction may direct.  
   

The Trustee may fix a record date (with respect to Registered Securities) and payment date for any such payment to Holders of Securities.  
   

SECTION 6.11. Undertaking for Costs.  
   

In any suit for the enforcement of any right or remedy under this Indenture or in any suit against the Trustee for any action taken or omitted 
by it as Trustee, a court in its discretion may require the filing by any party litigant in the suit of an undertaking to pay the costs of the suit, and 
the court in its discretion may assess reasonable attorney’s fees, against any party litigant in the suit, having due regard to the merits and good 
faith of the claims or defenses made by the party litigant. This Section does not apply to a suit by the Trustee, a suit by a Holder pursuant to 
Section 6.07, or a suit by Holders of more than 10% in principal amount of the Securities of any Series.  

   
ARTICLE 7  

   
TRUSTEE  

   
SECTION 7.01. Duties of Trustee.  
   

(a)  If an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Trustee shall exercise its rights and powers under this Indenture and use the 
same degree of care and skill in their exercise as a prudent man would exercise or use under the circumstances in the conduct of his own affairs. 

   
(b)  Except during the continuance of an Event of Default:  
   

(1) The Trustee need perform only those duties that are specifically set forth in this Indenture and no implied covenants or obligations 
shall be read into this Indenture against the Trustee; and  
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(2) In the absence of bad faith on its part, the Trustee may conclusively rely, as to the truth of the statements and the correctness of the 

opinions expressed therein, upon certificates or opinions furnished to the Trustee and conforming to the requirements of this Indenture. 
However, the Trustee shall examine the certificates and opinions and determine whether or not they conform to the requirements of this 
Indenture.  

   
(c)   The Trustee may not be relieved from liability for its own negligent action, its own negligent failure to act or its own willful 

misconduct, except that:  
   

(1)  This paragraph does not limit the effect of paragraph (b) of this Section;  
   
(2)  The Trustee shall not be liable for any error of judgment made in good faith by a Responsible Officer, unless it is proved that the 

Trustee was negligent in ascertaining the pertinent facts; and  
   
(3)  The Trustee shall not be liable with respect to any action it takes or omits to take in good faith in accordance with a direction 

received by it pursuant to Section 6.05.  
   

(d) Every provision of this Indenture that in any way relates to the Trustee is subject to paragraphs (a), (b) and (c) of this Section.  
   
(e) The Trustee may refuse to perform any duty or exercise any right or power unless it receives indemnity satisfactory to it against any loss, 

liability or expense.  
   
(f) The Trustee shall not be liable for interest on any money received by it except as the Trustee may agree with the Company. Money held 

in trust by the Trustee need not be segregated from other funds except to the extent required by law.  
   

SECTION   7.02. Rights of Trustee.  
   

(a)  The Trustee may rely on any document believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper person. The 
Trustee need not investigate any fact or matter stated in the document.  

   
(b)  Before the Trustee acts or refrains from acting, it may consult with counsel or require an Officers’ Certificate or an Opinion of 

Counsel. The Trustee shall not be liable for any action it takes or omits to take in good faith in reliance on a Board Resolution, the written advice 
of counsel acceptable to the Company and the Trustee, a certificate of an Officer or Officers delivered pursuant to Section 2.02(b), an Officers’ 
Certificate or an Opinion of Counsel.  

   
(c)  The Trustee may act through agents and shall not be responsible for the misconduct or negligence of any agent appointed with due care. 
   
(d)  The Trustee shall not be liable for any action it takes or omits to take in good faith which it believes to be authorized or within its rights 

or powers.  
   

SECTION   7.03. Individual Rights of Trustee.  
   

The Trustee in its individual or any other capacity may become the owner or pledgee of Securities and may otherwise deal with the Company 
or an Affiliate with the same rights it would have if it were not Trustee, subject to Sections 7.10 and 7.11. An Agent in its individual or any other 
capacity may become the owner or pledgee of Securities and may otherwise deal with the Company or an Affiliate with the same rights it would 
have if it were not an Agent.  

   
SECTION   7.04. Trustee’s Disclaimer.  

   
The Trustee makes no representation as to the validity or adequacy of this Indenture or the Securities. It shall not be accountable for the 

Company’s use of the proceeds from the Securities or for monies paid over to the Company pursuant to the Indenture, and it shall not be 
responsible for any statement in the Securities other than its certificate of authentication.  
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SECTION 7.05. Notice of Defaults.  
   

If a Default occurs and is continuing with respect to the Securities of any Series and if it is known to the Trustee, the Trustee shall mail to 
each Holder of a Security of that Series entitled to receive reports pursuant to Section 4.02(c) (and, if Unregistered Securities of that Series are 
outstanding, shall cause to be published at least once in an Authorized Newspaper in each of The City of New York, London and, if Securities of 
that Series are listed on The Luxembourg Stock Exchange, Luxembourg) notice of the Default within 90 days after it occurs. Except in the case 
of a Default in payment on the Securities of any Series, the Trustee may withhold the notice if and so long as its Corporate Trust Committee or a 
committee of its Responsible Officers in good faith determines that withholding such notice is in the interests of Securityholders of that Series.  

   
SECTION 7.06. Reports by Trustee to Holders.  
   

(a)  Within 60 days after each anniversary date of the first issue of a Series of Securities, the Trustee shall mail to each Securityholder of 
that Series entitled to receive reports pursuant to Section 4.02(c) a brief report dated as of such date that complies with TIA § 313(a). The 
Trustee also shall comply with TIA § 313(b).  

   
(b)  At the time that it mails such a report to Securityholders of any Series, the Trustee shall file a copy of that report with the SEC and with 

each stock exchange on which the Securities of that Series are listed. The Company shall provide written notice to the Trustee when the 
Securities of any Series are listed on any stock exchange.  

   
SECTION 7.07. Compensation and Indemnity.  
   

(a)  The Company shall pay to the Trustee from time to time reasonable compensation for its services. The Trustee’s compensation shall 
not be limited by any law on compensation of a trustee of an express trust. The Company shall reimburse the Trustee upon request for all 
reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by it in connection with the performance of its duties under this Indenture. Such expenses shall 
include the reasonable compensation and expenses of the Trustee’s agents and counsel.  

   
(b)  The Company shall indemnify the Trustee against any loss or liability incurred by it arising out of or in connection with its acceptance 

or administration of the trust or trusts hereunder. The Trustee shall notify the Company promptly of any claim for which it may seek indemnity. 
The Company shall defend the claim and the Trustee shall cooperate in the defense. The Trustee may have separate counsel and the Company 
shall pay the reasonable fees and expenses of such counsel. The Company need not pay for any settlement made without its consent.  

   
(c)  The Company need not reimburse any expense or indemnify against any loss or liability incurred by the Trustee through negligence or 

bad faith.  
   
(d)  To secure the payment obligations of the Company pursuant to this Section, the Trustee shall have a lien prior to the Securities of any 

Series on all money or property held or collected by the Trustee, except that held in trust to pay principal and interest on particular Securities of a 
Series.  

   
(e)  If the Trustee incurs expenses or renders services after an Event of Default specified in Section 6.01(4) or (5) occurs, such expenses 

and the compensation for such services are intended to constitute expenses of administration under any Bankruptcy Law.  
   

SECTION   7.08. Replacement of Trustee.  
   

(a)  The resignation or removal of the Trustee and the appointment of a successor Trustee shall become effective only upon the successor 
Trustee’s acceptance of appointment as provided in this Section.  

   
(b)  The Trustee may resign with respect to the Securities of any Series by so notifying the Company. The Holders of a majority in 

principal amount of the Securities of any Series may remove the Trustee with respect to that Series by so notifying the Trustee and the Company 
and may appoint a successor Trustee for such Series with the Company’s consent.  

   
(c)  The Company may remove the Trustee with respect to Securities of any Series if:  
   

(1) the Trustee fails to comply with Section 7.10;  
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(2) the Trustee is adjudged a bankrupt or an insolvent;  
   
(3) a receiver or public officer takes charge of the Trustee or its property; or  
   
(4) the Trustee becomes incapable of acting.  
   

(d)  If the Trustee resigns or is removed or if a vacancy exists in the office of the Trustee for any reason, with respect to Securities of any 
Series, the Company shall promptly appoint a successor Trustee for such Series.  

   
(e)  If a successor Trustee with respect to the Securities of any Series does not take office within 30 days after the retiring Truste resigns or 

is removed, the retiring Trustee, the Company or the Holders of a majority in principal amount of the Securities of the applicable Series may 
petition any court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor Trustee.  

   
(f)  If the Trustee with respect to the Securities of any Series fails to comply with Section 7.10, any Securityholder of the applicable 

Series may petition any court of competent jurisdiction for the removal of such Trustee and the appointment of a successor Trustee.  
   
(g)  A successor Trustee shall deliver a written acceptance of its appointment to the retiring Trustee and to the Company. Thereupon, the 

resignation or removal of the retiring Trustee for any Series of Securities shall become effective, and the successor Trustee shall have all the 
rights, powers and duties of the retiring Trustee with respect to all Series of Securities for which the successor Trustee is to be acting as Trustee 
under this Indenture. The retiring Trustee shall promptly transfer all property held by it as Trustee with respect to such Series of Securities to the 
successor Trustee subject to the lien provided for in Section 7.07. The Company, in the case of Unregistered Securities, shall give notice of each 
appointment of a successor Trustee for any Series of Securities by publishing notice of such event once in an Authorized Newspaper in each of 
The City of New York, London, and, if Securities of that Series are listed on The Luxembourg Stock Exchange, Luxembourg, and by mailing 
written notice of such event by first-class mail to the Holders of Securities of such Series entitled to receive reports pursuant to Section 4.02(c).  

   
(h)  All provisions of this Section 7.08 except subparagraphs (b)(1) and (c) and the words “subject to the lien provided for in Section 7.07” 

in subparagraph (f) shall apply also to any Paying Agent located outside the U.S. and its possessions and required by Section 2.04.  
   

(i)  In case of the appointment hereunder of a successor Trustee with respect to the Securities of one or more (but not all) Series, the 
Company, the retiring Trustee and such successor Trustee shall execute and deliver a supplemental indenture wherein such successor Trustee 
shall accept such apointment and which (1) shall contain such provisions as shall be necessary or desirable to transfer and confirm to, and to vest 
in, such successor Trustee all the rights, powers, trusts and duties of the retiring Trustee with respect to the Securities of that or those Series to 
which the appointment of such successor Trustee relates, (2) if the retiring Trustee is not retiring with respect to all Securities, shall contain such 
provisions as shall be deemed necessary or desirable to confirm that all the rights, powers, trusts and duties of the retiring Trustee with respect to 
the Securities of that or those Series as to which the retiring Trustee is not retiring shall continue to be vested in the retiring Trustee and (3) shall 
add to or change any of the provisions of this Indenture as shall be necessary to provide for or facilitate the administration of the trusts hereunder 
by more than one Trustee, it being understood that nothing herein or in such supplemental indenture shall constitute such Trustees co-trustees of 
the same trust and that each such Trustee shall be trustee of a trust or trusts hereunder separate and apart from any trust or trusts hereunder 
administered by any other such Trustee.  

   
SECTION 7.09. Successor Trustee, Agents by Merger,  etc.  
   

If the Trustee or any Agent consolidates with, merges or converts into, or transfers all or substantially all of its corporate trust business 
assets to, another corporation, the successor corporation, without any further act, shall be the successor Trustee or Agent, as the case may be.  
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SECTION 7.10. Eligibility; Disqualification.  
   

This Indenture shall always have a Trustee with respect to each Series of Securities who satisfies the requirements of TIA §310(a)(1). The 
Trustee shall always have a combined capital and surplus of at least $10,000,000 as set forth in its most recent published annual report of 
condition. The Trustee is subject to TIA § 310(b), including the optional provision permitted by the second sentence of TIA § 310(b)(9), except 
that there shall be excluded from the operation of TIA § 310(b)(1) all indentures of the Company or any of its Affiliates now or hereafter existing 
which may be excluded under the proviso of TIA § 310(b)(1).  

   
SECTION 7.11. Preferential Collection of Claims Against the Company.  
   

The Trustee is subject to TIA § 311(a), excluding any creditor relationship listed in TIA § 311(b). A Trustee who has resigned or been 
removed shall be subject to TIA § 311(a) to the extent indicated.  

   
ARTICLE 8  

   
DISCHARGE OF INDENTURE  

   
SECTION 8.01. Termination of the Company’s Obligations.  
   

(a)  The Company reserves the right to terminate all of its obligations under the Securities and this Indenture with respect to the Securities 
of any Series or any installment of principal of or interest on that Series if the Company irrevocably deposits in trust with the Trustee money or 
U.S. Government Obligations sufficient to pay, when due, principal, premium, if any, and interest on the Securities of that Series to maturity or 
redemption or such installment of principal or interest, as the case may be, and if all other conditions set forth in the Securities of that Series are 
met. The Company shall designate the installment or installments of principal or interest to be so satisfied.  

   
(b)  However, the Company’s obligations in Sections 2.04, 2.05, 2.06, 2.07, 2.08, 2.09, 4.01, 7.07, 7.08, 8.03 and 8.04 shall survive until 

the Securities are no longer outstanding. Thereafter, the Company’s obligations in Sections 7.07, 8.03 and 8.04 shall survive.  
   
(c)  Before or after a deposit, the Company may make arrangements satisfactory to the Trustee for the redemption of Securities at a future 

date in accordance with Article 3.  
   
(d)  After a deposit by the Company in accordance with this Section in respect of the Securities of a Series, the Trustee, upon request, shall 

acknowledge in writing the discharge of the Company’s obligations under the Securities of the Series in respect of which the deposit has been 
made and under this Indenture with respect to the Securities of that Series except for those surviving obligations specified above.  

   
(e)  In order to have money available on a payment date to pay principal of or interest on the Securities of any Series, the U.S. Government 

Obligations shall be payable as to principal of or interest on or before such payment date in such amounts as will provide the necessary money. 
U.S. Government Obligations shall not be callable at the issuer’s option.  

   
(f)  “U.S. Government Obligations” means:  
   

(i)  direct obligations of the United States of America for the payment of which the full faith and credit of the United States of 
America is pledged; or  

   
(ii)  obligations of a person controlled or supervised by and acting as an agency or instrumentality of the United States of America, the 

payment of which is unconditionally guaranteed as a full faith and credit obligation by the United States of America.  
   

SECTION 8.02. Application of Trust Money.  
   

The Trustee shall hold money or U.S. Government Obligations deposited with it pursuant to Section 8.01. It shall apply the deposited 
money and the money from U.S. Government Obligations through the Paying Agent and  
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in accordance with this Indenture to the payment of principal of and interest on the Securities of each Series in respect of which the deposit shall 
have been made.  
   
SECTION 8.03. Repayment to Company.  
   

(a)  The Trustee and the Paying Agent shall promptly pay to the Company, upon request, any excess money or securities held by them at 
any time.  

   
(b)  The Trustee and the Paying Agent shall pay to the Company, upon request, any money held by them for the payment of principal or 

interest that remains unclaimed for two years. After that, Securityholders entitled to the money must look to the Company for payment as general 
creditors unless an abandoned property law designates another person.  

   
SECTION 8.04. Indemnity for Government Obligations.  
   

The Company shall pay and shall indemnify the Trustee and each Securityholder of each Series in respect of which the deposit shall have 
been made against any tax, fee or other charge imposed on or assessed against deposited U.S. Government Obligations or the principal and 
interest received on such obligations.  

   
ARTICLE 9  

   
AMENDMENTS AND WAIVERS  

   
SECTION 9.01. Without Consent of Holders.  

   
The Company and the Trustee may enter into one or more supplemental indentures without the consent of any Securityholder for any of the 

following purposes:  
   

(1)  to cure any ambiguity, defect or inconsistency herein or in the Securities of any Series;  
   
(2)  to comply with Article 5;  
   
(3)  to provide for uncertificated Securities in addition to or in place of certificated Securities;  
   
(4)  to make any change that does not adversely affect the rights of any Securityholder;  
   
(5)  to provide for the issuance of and establish the form and terms and conditions of Securities of any Series as provided in 

Section 2.02, to establish the form of any certifications required to be furnished pursuant to the terms of this Indenture or any Series of 
Securities, or to add to the rights of the Holders of any Series of Securities; or  

   
(6)    to secure the Securities pursuant to Section 4.03.  
   

SECTION 9.02. With Consent of Holders.  
   

(a) With the written consent of the Holders of a majority in principal amount of the outstanding Securities of each Series affected by such 
supplemental indenture (with each Series voting as a class), the Company and the Trustee may enter into a supplemental indenture to add any 
provisions to or to change or eliminate any provisions of this Indenture or of any supplemental indenture or to modify, in each case in any 
manner not covered by Section 9.01, the rights of the Securityholders of each such Series. The Holders of a majority in principal amount of the 
outstanding Securities of each Series affected by such waiver (with each Series voting as a class), by notice to the Trustee, may waive 
compliance by the Company with any provision of this Indenture, any supplemental indenture or the Securities of any such Series, except a 
Default in the payment of the principal of or interest on any Security. However, without the consent of each Securityholder affected, an 
amendment or waiver may not:  

   
(1)  reduce the amount of Securities whose Holders must consent to an amendment or waiver;  
   
(2)  change the rate of or change the time for payment of interest on any Security;  
   
(3)  change the principal of or change the fixed maturity of any Security;  
   
(4)  waive a Default in the payment of the principal of or interest on any Security;  
   
(5)  make any Security payable in money other than that stated in the Security; or  
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(6)  make any change in Section 6.04, 6.07 or 9.02(a) (third sentence).  

   
The Company may set a record date for purposes of determining the identity of the Holders entitled to give a written consent or waive 

compliance by the Company as authorized or permitted by this section. Such record date shall not be more than 30 days prior to the first 
solicitation of such consent or waiver or the date of the most recent list of holders furnished to the Trustee pursuant to Section 312 of the TIA.  

   
(b)  It is not necessary under this Section 9.02 for the Securityholders to consent to the particular form of any proposed supplemental 

indenture, but it is sufficient if they consent to the substance thereof.  
   
(c)  Promptly after the execution by the Company and the Trustee of any supplemental indenture pursuant to the provisions of this 

Section 9.02 the Company shall transmit by mail a notice, setting forth in general terms the substance of such supplemental indenture, to all 
Holders of Registered Securities, as the names and addresses of such Holders appear on the register for each Series of Securities, and to such 
Holders of Unregistered Securities as are entitled to receive reports pursuant to Section 4.02(c). Any failure of the Company to mail such notice, 
or any defect therein, shall not, however, in any way impair or affect the validity of any such supplemental indenture.  

   
SECTION   9.03. Compliance with Trust Indenture Act.  
   

Every amendment to this Indenture or the Securities of one or more Series shall be set forth in a supplemental indenture that complies with 
the TIA as then in effect.  

   
SECTION   9.0.4. Revocation and Effect of Consents.  
   

Until an amendment or waiver becomes effective, a consent to it by a Holder of a Security is a continuing consent by the Holder and every 
subsequent Holder of a Security or portion of a Security that evidences the same debt as the consenting Holder’s Security even if a notation of 
the consent is not made on any Security. However, any such Holder or subsequent Holder may revoke the consent as to his Security or portion of 
his Security if the Trustee receives the notice of revocation before the date the amendment or waiver becomes effective. After an amendment or 
waiver becomes effective, it shall bind every Securityholder of each Series affected by such amendment or waiver.  

   
SECTION   9.05. Notation on or Exchange of Securities.  
   

The Trustee may place an appropriate notation about an amendment or waiver on any Security of any Series thereafter authenticated. The 
Company in exchange for Securities of that Series may issue and the Trustee shall authenticate new Securities of that Series that reflect the 
amendment or waiver.  

   
SECTION   9.06. Trustee Protected.  
   

The Trustee need not sign any supplemental indenture that adversely affects its rights.  
   

ARTICLE 10  
   

SINKING FUNDS  
   

SECTION 10.01. Applicability of Article.  
   

The provisions of this Article shall be applicable to any sinking fund for the retirement of Securities of a Series, except as otherwise 
permitted or required by any form of Security of such Series issued pursuant to this Indenture.  

   
The minimum amount of any sinking fund payment provided for by the terms of Securities of any Series is herein referred to as a 

“mandatory sinking fund payment,” and any payment in excess of such minimum amount provided for by the terms of Securities of such 
Series is herein referred to as an “optional sinking fund payment.” If provided for by the terms of Securities of any Series, the cash amount of 
any sinking fund payment may be subject to reduction as provided in Section 10.02. Each sinking fund payment shall be applied to the 
redemption of Securities of any Series as provided for by the terms of Securities of such Series.  

   
SECTION 10.02. Satisfaction of Sinking Fund Payments with Securities.  
   

The Company may, in satisfaction of all or any part of any sinking fund payment with respect to the Securities of such Series to be made 
pursuant to the terms of such Securities as provided for by the terms of such Series (1) deliver outstanding Securities of such Series (other than 
any of such Securities previously called for redemption or  
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any of such Securities in respect of which cash shall have been released to the Company), and (2) apply as a credit Securities of such 
Series which have been redeemed either at the election of the Company pursuant to the terms of such Series of Securities or through the 
application of permitted optional sinking fund payments pursuant to the terms of such Securities, provided that such Series of Securities have not 
been previously so credited. Such Securities shall be received and credited for such purpose by the Trustee at the Redemption Price specified in 
such Securities for redemption through operation of the sinking fund and the amount of such sinking fund payment shall be reduced accordingly. 
If as a result of the delivery or credit of Securities of any Series in lieu of cash payments pursuant to this Section 10.02, the principal amount of 
Securities of such Series to be redeemed in order to exhaust the aforesaid cash payment shall be less than $500,000, the Trustee shall not call 
Securities of such Series for redemption, except upon Company Order, and such cash payment shall be held by the Trustee or a Paying Agent 
and applied to the next succeeding sinking fund payment, provided, however, that the Trustee or such Paying Agent shall at the request of the 
Company from time to time pay over and deliver to the Company any cash payment so being held by the Trustee or such Paying Agent upon 
delivery by the Company to the Trustee of Securities of that Series purchased by the Company having an unpaid principal amount equal to the 
cash payment required to be released to the Company.  
   
SECTION 10.03. Redemption of Securities for Sinking Fund.  
   

Not less than 60 days prior to each sinking fund payment date for any Series of Securities, the Company will deliver to the Trustee an 
Officers’ Certificate specifying the amount of the next ensuing mandatory sinking fund payment for that Series pursuant to the terms of that 
Series, the portion thereof, if any, which is to be satisfied by payment of cash, and the portion thereof, if any, which is to be satisfied by 
delivering and crediting of Securities of that Series pursuant to Section 10.02, and the optional amount, if any, to be added in cash to the next 
ensuing mandatory sinking fund payment, and will also deliver to the Trustee any Securities to be so credited and not theretofore delivered. If 
such Officers’ Certificate shall specify an optional amount to be added in cash to the next ensuing mandatory sinking fund payment, the 
Company shall thereupon be obligated to pay the amount therein specified. Not less than 30 days before each such sinking fund payment date, 
the Trustee shall select the Securities to be redeemed upon such sinking fund payment date in the manner specified in Section 3.02 and cause 
notice of the redemption thereof to be given in the name of and at the expense of the Company in the manner provided in Section 3.03. Such 
notice having been duly given, the redemption of such Securities shall be made upon the terms and in the manner stated in Sections 3.04, 3.05, 
and 3.06.  

   
ARTICLE 11  

 
MISCELLANEOUS  

   
SECTION 11.01. Trust Indenture Act Controls.  
   

If any provision of this Indenture limits, qualifies or conflicts with a provision which is required to be included in this Indenture by the 
TIA, the required provision shall control.  

   
SECTION 11.02. Notices.  
   

(a) Any notice or communication by the Company or the Trustee to the other is duly given if in writing and delivered in person or mailed 
by first-class mail:  

   
if to the Company to:  
   

Northwestern Bell  
Telephone Company  

1314 Douglas-On-The-Mall  
Omaha, Nebraska 68102  
   
Attention: Treasurer  
   

if to the Trustee to:  
   

The First National Bank of Chicago  
One First National Plaza  
Chicago, Illinois 60670-0126  
   
Attention: Corporate Trust Department  
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(b)  The Company or the Trustee by notice to the other may designate additional or different addresses for subsequent notices or 

communications.  
   
(c)  Any notice or communication to Holders of Securities entitled to receive reports pursuant to Section 4.02(c) shall be mailed by first-

class mail to the addresses for Holders of Registered Securities shown on the register kept by the Registrar and to addresses filed with the 
Trustee for other Holders. Failure to so mail a notice or communication or any defect in such notice or communication shall not affect its 
sufficiency with respect to other Holders of Securities of that or any other Series entitled to receive notice.  

   
(d)  If a notice or communication is mailed in the manner provided above within the time prescribed, it is conclusively presumed to have 

been duly given, whether or not the addressee receives it.  
   
(e)  If the Company mails a notice or communication to Securityholders, it shall mail a copy to the Trustee and to each Agent at the same 

time.  
   
(f)  If it shall be impractical in the opinion of the Trustee or the Company to make any publication of any notice required hereby in an 

Authorized Newspaper, any publication or other notice in lieu thereof which is made or given with the approval of the Trustee shall constitute a 
sufficient publication of such notice.  

   
SECTION 11.03.      Communication by Holders with Other Holders.  
   

Securityholders of any Series may communicate a pursuant to TIA § 312(b) with other Securityholders of that Series or of all Series with 
respect to their rights under this Indenture or under the Securities of that Series or of all Series. The Company, the Trustee, the Registrar and 
anyone else shall have the protection of TIA § 312(c).  

   
SECTION  11.04.      Certificate and Opinion as to Conditions Precedent.  
   

Upon any request or application by the Company to the Trustee to take any action under this Indenture, the Company shall furnish to the 
Trustee.  

   
(1)  an Officers’ Certificate stating that, in the opinion of the signers, all conditions precedent, if any, provided for in this Indenture 

relating to the proposed action have been complied with; and  
   
(2)  an Opinion of Counsel stating that, in the opinion of such counsel, all such conditions precedent have been complied with.  
   

SECTION  11.05.    Statements Required in Certificate or Opinion.  
   

Each certificate or opinion with respect to compliance with a condition or covenant provided for in this Indenture shall include:  
   

(1)  a statement that the person making such certificate or opinion has read such covenant or condition;  
   
(2)  a brief statement as to the nature and scope of the examination or investigation upon which the statements or opinions contained 

in such certificate or opinion are based;  
   
(3)  a statement that, in the opinion of such person, he has made such examination or investigation as is necessary to enable him to 

express an informed opinion as to whether or not such covenant or condition has been complied with; and  
   
(4)  a statement as to whether or not, in the opinion of such person, such condition or covenant has been complied with.  
   

SECTION  11.06.   Rules  by Trustee and Agents.  
   

The Trustee may make reasonable rules for action by or at a meeting of Securityholders of one or more Series. The Paying Agent or 
Registrar may make reasonable rules and set reasonable requirements for its functions.  

   
SECTION 11.07.    Legal Holidays.  
   

A “Legal Holiday” is a Saturday, a Sunday, or a day on which banking institutions arc not required to be open. If a payment date is a Legal 
Holiday at a place of payment, payment may be made at such place on the next succeeding day that is not a Legal Holiday, and no interest shall 
accrue for the intervening period.  
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SECTION 11.08. Governing Law.  
   

The laws of the State of New York shall govern this Indenture, the Securities and any coupons appertaining thereto.  
   

SECTION 11.09. No Adverse Interpretation of Other Agreements.  
   

This Indenture may not be used to interpret another indenture, loan or debt agreement of the Company or an Affiliate. No such 
indenture, loan or debt agreement may be used to interpret this Indenture.  

   
SECTION 11.10. No Recourse Against Others.  
   

No director, officer, employee or stockholder, as such, of the Company shall have any liability for any obligations of the Company under the 
Securities or the Indenture or for any claim based on, in respect of or by reason of such obligations or their creation. Each Securityholder by 
accepting a Security waives and releases all such liability. The waiver and release are part of the consideration for the issue of the Securities.  

   
SECTION 11.11. Execution in Counterparts.  
   

This Indenture may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original, but such counterparts shall together 
constitute but one instrument.  

   
ARTICLE 12  

   
REPAYMENT AT THE OPTION OF HOLDERS  

   
SECTION  12.01. Applicability of Article.  
   

Securities of any Series which are repayable at the option of the Holders thereof before their stated maturity shall be repaid in accordance 
with the terms of the Securities of such Series.  
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NORTHWESTERN BELL TELEPHONE COMPANY  

      
   

By:  David R. Laube  
      

VP-Treasurer  
      
[SEAL]  

   

      
Attest:  

   

      
Michael J. Jensen  

   

Assistant Secretary  
   

      
      
   

THE FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF CHICAGO  
      
      
   

By:  Steven M. Wagner  
      

Vice President  
      
[SEAL]  

   

      
Attest:  

   

      
Sharon McGrath  

   

Trust Officer  
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Exhibit 31.1 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER  

I, Glen F. Post, III, Chief Executive Officer and President, certify that:  

1.  I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of CenturyLink, Inc.;  
 

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report;  
 

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  
 

4.  The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  
 
a)  designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to 
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  
 

b)  designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  
 

c)  evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about 
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and  
 

d)  disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's 
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and  
 

5.  The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's Board of Directors:  
 
a)  all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which 

are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 
 
 

b)  any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's 
internal control over financial reporting.  

 
Date: May 10, 2012  

 
  

 
/s/ Glen F. Post, III  

Glen F. Post, III  
Chief Executive Officer and President 
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Exhibit 31.2 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER  

I, R. Stewart Ewing, Jr., Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Assistant Secretary, certify that:  

1.  I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of CenturyLink, Inc.;  
 

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report;  
 

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  
 

4.  The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  
 
a)  designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to 
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  
 

b)  designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  
 

c)  evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about 
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and  
 

d)  disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's 
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and  
 

5.  The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's Board of Directors:  
 
a)  all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which 

are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 
 
 

b)  any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's 
internal control over financial reporting.  

 
Date: May 10, 2012  

 
  

 
/s/ R. Stewart Ewing, Jr.  

R. Stewart Ewing, Jr.  
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial  
    Officer and Assistant Secretary 
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Exhibit 32 

Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Certification Pursuant to  
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002  

        Each of the undersigned, acting in his capacity as the Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer of CenturyLink, Inc. 
("CenturyLink"), certifies that, to his knowledge, the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2012 of CenturyLink fully 
complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information contained in the Form 10-Q 
fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of CenturyLink as of the dates and for the periods 
covered by such report.  

        A signed original of this statement has been provided to CenturyLink and will be retained by CenturyLink and furnished to the Securities 
and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.  

Dated: May 10, 2012         
 
  

 
  
 
By: 

 
  
 
/s/ Glen F. Post, III  

Glen F. Post, III  
Chief Executive Officer and President 

 
Dated: May 10, 2012 

 
  
 
  

 
  
 
  

 
  

 
  
 
By: 

 
  
 
/s/ R. Stewart Ewing, Jr.  

R. Stewart Ewing, Jr.  
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial  
    Officer and Assistant Secretary 
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